
 

 

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall  

Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk 
 

 

www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy  

  
www.http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 
  

 

Meeting: Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
 

 

Date/Time: Tuesday, 4 June 2019 at 2.00 pm 

Location: Sparkenhoe Committee Room - County Hall 

Contact: Gemma Duckworth (0116 3052583) 

Email: gemma.duckworth@leics.gov.uk 

 
Membership 

 
Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 

Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 

Mrs. C. Lewis 
Mrs. R. Page CC 

 

Mr T. Parton CC 
Mrs B. Seaton CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
Mrs. A. Wright CC 
 

 
Please note: this meeting will be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the 

Council’s web site at http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk 
– Notices will be on display at the meeting explaining the arrangements. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Item   Report by   

 
1.  

  
Appointment of Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

2.  
  

Election of Deputy Chairman.  
 

 
 

 

3.  
  

Minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2019.  
 

 
 

(Pages 5 - 10) 

4.  
  

Question Time.  
 

 
 

 

5.  
  

Questions asked by members under Standing 
Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 

 
 

 

6.  
  

To advise of any other items which the 
Chairman has decided to take as urgent 
elsewhere on the agenda.  
 

 
 

 

7.  Declarations of interest in respect of items on   

mailto:democracy@leics.gov.uk
http://www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy
http://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/about-the-council/how-the-council-works/public-involvement/watch-council-meetings-online


 
 
 
 

 

  the agenda.  
 

 

8.  
  

Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance 
with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 

 
 

 

9.  
  

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 
36.  
 

 
 

 

10.  
  

Care Placement Strategy.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 11 - 34) 

11.  
  

Overview of Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) Developments.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 35 - 44) 

12.  
  

Progress Report: Ofsted Recommendations as 
Part of the Ofsted Continuous Improvement 
Action Plan 2017-2020 - The Road to 
Excellence.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 45 - 68) 

13.  
  

Pupils Missing Out on Education in 
Leicestershire.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 69 - 78) 

14.  
  

Leicestershire Children and Families 
Partnership Plan Update.  
 

Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 79 - 98) 

15.  
  

Scrutiny Review Panel - Corporate Parenting.  
 

Scrutiny Review 
Panel 
 

(Pages 99 - 114) 

16.  
  

Quarter 4 2018/19 Performance Report.  
 

Chief Executive 
and Director of 
Children and 
Family Services 
 

(Pages 115 - 
124) 

17.  
  

Dates of Future Meetings.  
 

 
 

 

 Future meetings of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee will be held at 2.00pm on the following dates: 
 
3 September 2019 
5 November 2019 
21 January 2020 
3 March 2020 
2 June 2020 
1 September 2020 
3 November 2020. 
 

 

18.  
  

Any other items which the Chairman has 
decided to take as urgent.  
 

 
 

 

 
 



 
 
 
 

 

 
 

QUESTIONING BY MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 
The ability to ask good, pertinent questions lies at the heart of successful and effective 
scrutiny.  To support members with this, a range of resources, including guides to 
questioning, are available via the Centre for Public Scrutiny website www.cfps.org.uk.  
 
The following questions have been agreed by Scrutiny members as a good starting point 
for developing questions:- 
 

 Who was consulted and what were they consulted on? What is the process for and 
quality of the consultation? 

 How have the voices of local people and frontline staff been heard? 

 What does success look like? 

 What is the history of the service and what will be different this time? 

 What happens once the money is spent? 

 If the service model is changing, has the previous service model been evaluated? 

 What evaluation arrangements are in place – will there be an annual review? 
 

http://www.cfps.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
at County Hall, Glenfield on Tuesday, 5 March 2019.  
 

PRESENT 
 

Mrs B. Seaton CC (in the Chair) 
 

Dr. R. K. A. Feltham CC 
Mrs. H. J. Fryer CC 
Mr. D. Harrison CC 
Mr. J. Kaufman CC 
 

Mrs. R. Page CC 
Mr. S. D. Sheahan CC 
Mr. G. Welsh CC 
 

In Attendance. 
 
Mr. I. D. Ould CC – Cabinet Lead Member for Children and Families 
Mrs. D. Taylor CC – Cabinet Support Member 
 

65. Minutes.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2019 were taken as read, confirmed and 
signed.  
 
At the last meeting, it had been agreed that a letter would be sent to the Department for 
Education (DfE) expressing the concerns of the County Council over the school 
admission criteria (Minute Number 62 refers).  Confirmation was given that this letter was 
in the process of being finalised and a copy would be circulated to members of the 
Committee once it had been sent to the DfE. 
 

66. Question Time.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
35. 
 

67. Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order 
7(3) and 7(5). 
 

68. Urgent Items.  
 
There were no urgent items for consideration. 
 

69. Declarations of interest.  
 
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of 
items on the agenda for the meeting. 
 
No declarations were made. 
 

5 Agenda Item 3



 
 

 

70. Declarations of the Party Whip in accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 
16.  
 
There were no declarations of the party whip. 
 

71. Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order 36.  
 
The Chief Executive reported that no petitions had been received under Standing Order 
36. 
 

72. Evaluation of Early Help Services.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an overview of the findings in relation to an evaluation of the Supporting 
Leicestershire Families (SLF) team, and highlighted a number of areas of current 
performance.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  The evaluation of the early help service had demonstrated where it worked well 
with families and also where there were areas for development.  It was the 
intention that the new service would build on earlier levels of intervention, for 
example guided self-help approaches such as online resources and 
opportunities for families to attend drop-in sessions, whilst maintaining a focus 
on the families with the most complex needs.  Work was taking place across 
the department, with children’s social care, to consider what training was 
required for staff to ensure there was early intervention. 

 
ii)  The budget for the SLF programme was a pooled budget, made up of money 

from a number of partners and the Troubled Families Programme.  More 
recently, the only contributions had been from the district councils and the 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC), and as of 1 April 2019 
the only partner contribution would be from the OPCC, along with the Troubled 
Families funding.  Concern was expressed that the district councils were no 
longer contributing to the pooled budget,  Although reassurance was given that 
the district councils remained very supportive of the programme, it was 
suggested that a discussion should take place around the possibility of them 
re-engaging financially. 

 
iii)  The national Troubled Families funding was due to end in November 2020, and 

concern was raised around the possibility of the national payment by results 
funding not being replaced.  As part of the review of services, £1.5m had been 
taken from the early help services through the closure of children’s centre 
buildings and the reorganisation of four services into one, which had reduced 
the number of managers and enabled the same level of front line staff to be 
maintained.  The Troubled Families Programme was due to end in March 2020 
but the funding currently in the pooled budget would be sufficient to fund the 
service until November 2020.  If no future funding was received, there would be 
a shortfall of £2.3m in the County Council’s early help services.  This equated 
to approximately 29% of the front line staff and would lead to a reduction in the 
workforce.  This would have a significant impact on the number of families who 
could be supported and the ability to deliver services.  There was currently no 
confirmation in relation to future funding from the Troubled Families 

6



 
 

 

programme.  Various lobbying was taking place nationally but no indication had 
yet been given to a time frame for a decision. 

 
iv)  Members noted with concern that a reduction in early help front line staff could 

ultimately create additional costs due to a greater number of families having 
more complex needs which required social care intervention.  The evaluation 
report on early help services had provided evidence that early intervention had 
a significant positive impact on families and reduced the pressure on social 
care. 

 
The Lead Member for Children and Family Services praised the staff within the early help 
service, in particular the range of challenging work that they were undertaking with 
families. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

73. Leicestershire's New Safeguarding Arrangements 2019.  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services 
setting out the proposals for the new multi-agency safeguarding arrangements to replace 
the current Leicestershire and Rutland Local Safeguarding Children Board by September 
2019.  The new arrangements were required by the Children and Social Work Act 2017 
and Working Together 2018.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’ is filed with 
these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  It was reported that the budget to support the arrangements for 2019/20 had 
now been agreed by partners. 

 
ii)  Some of the key principles for the new multi-agency safeguarding 

arrangements set out what success would look like, but ultimately this was that 
children were safeguarded and that partners were assured that organisations 
were effectively safeguarding children. 

 
iii)  Working Together 2018 clearly stipulated the need for independent scrutiny in 

order to ensure external challenge of the arrangements.  The new 
arrangements would be underpinned by the key principles and as part of the 
independent scrutiny, consideration would be given to how well this was being 
undertaken by the statutory partners.  The role of the Cabinet Lead Member 
and the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee  also formed 
part of the local arrangements for external challenge. 

 
iv)  Effective communication between partners was crucial.  A strategic approach 

around the work in relation to safeguarding was being taken and all partners 
would have a role to play.  Consideration was being given to how the priorities 
of the associated Partnership Boards linked together and made reference to 
the new arrangements.  It was suggested that a communications protocol 
should be developed; this would be considered, particularly where there were 
shared roles across the Boards. 

 

7



 
 

 

v)  Although the governance arrangements related to Leicestershire and Rutland, 
some of the statutory partners worked across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland.  As a result, work would take place with Leicester City where possible 
to ensure consistency with the arrangements. 

 
vi)  It was suggested that, although the safeguarding partners had a requirement to 

publish a report at least once every 12 months, the Committee should receive 
an update on progress with the new arrangements sooner than this.  The new 
arrangements had to be implemented by September 2019, and it was therefore 
agreed to provide the Committee with an update within the first year of 
operation.  

 
RESOLVED: 
 

a) That the report be noted; 
 

b) That an update on the progress of the new multi-agency safeguarding 
arrangements be presented to the Committee within the first year of operation. 

 
74. Update on Complaints Handling within Children and Family Services.  

 
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which 
provided an update on complaints received and responded to within the Children and 
Family Services department during 2018-19.  A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 
10’ is filed with these minutes. 
 
Arising from the discussion, the following comments were raised: 
 

i)  In response to a query, it was stated that any learning and key themes arising 
from complaints should be considered collaboratively.  Ultimately, it was the 
responsibility of the department to take forward any issues and to implement 
any learning and change.  A revised approach for dealing with the learning 
from complaints had been developed to ensure that this was shared with staff 
and to consider improvements.  It was noted that the department was now 
responding to complaints with more rigour, both in terms of timeliness and how 
it was learning from complaints. 

 
ii)  It was acknowledged that the number of complaints was increasing along with 

the time taken to deal with complaints.  An area of improvement, however, was 
that the department now resolved complaints at an earlier stage through better 
communication.  This was evident from the decrease of cases escalating from 
Stage 1 to Stage 2. 

 
iii)  A point was raised that, considering the amount of services delivered across 

the county, the number of complaints received was relatively low.  Assurance 
was given that the department took all complaints very seriously and would 
always respond to them, particularly where it was a complaint around 
something that the department had control over.  Following the last Ofsted 
inspection, lots of work had been undertaken that should contribute to reducing 
the number of complaints and this was still taking effect.  It was noted however 
that if there was a further significant increase in the number of complaints, the 
Committee would be very concerned.  The Director agreed with this, but felt 
that consideration needed to be given to the context in which the department 

8



 
 

 

now worked, for example changes in legislation, and how this had changed the 
context of complaints. 

 
iv)  Although the number of compliments had decreased, this was largely down to 

them not being formally recorded.  Staff were complimented regularly, and 
improvements were needed around ensuring that these were passed on to the 
appropriate department. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 

75. Date of next meeting.  
 
 
It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on 4 June 2019 at 
2.00pm. 
 
 

1.30 – 2.38pm CHAIRMAN 
05 March 2019 

 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE – 4 JUNE 2019 
 

PROGRESS MADE AGAINST THE CARE PLACEMENT STRATEGY 
2018-2021  

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 
 

Purpose of report 
  
1. The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an update around 

the work on the Care Placement Strategy 2018-2021. 
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Care Placement Strategy is an overarching document which brings 

together key departmental strategies within the overall pathway of edge of care 
through to leaving care. The Care Placement Strategy is overseen by the Care 
Placement Strategy Board which reports to the Children and Family Services 
Department Management Team.  

 
Background 
 
3. Leicestershire is ambitious for its children and aspires to provide high quality 

services which meet their needs. For children in care, Leicestershire aims to 
provide good quality placements to ensure stability and quality of care that 
enables children to thrive and meet their full potential. The Care Placement 
Strategy (attached as Appendix A to this report) outlines the County Council’s 
ambition for how it will design, develop, deliver and commission services of a 
high quality that place children and their needs at the centre. 

 
4. The Children and Family Services Continuous Improvement Plan (The Road to 

Excellence), arising from the OFSTED inspection 2016,  identified a number of 
areas for change. In addition to this, a number of key national and local drivers 
underpinned the need for local authorities to look innovatively at what is being 
delivered to children in care. 

 
5. In developing the Care Placement Strategy, the Children and Family Services 

Department worked with key corporate colleagues to review pathways of care 
to ensure that both internal and external services have a shared understanding 
of the needs of vulnerable children. This includes children with disabilities and 
complex needs and those with complex challenging behaviour.  

11 Agenda Item 10



 

 
6. The ambition is to offer flexible, responsive services that work towards 

improved outcomes for children and families in Leicestershire. The Care 
Placement Strategy sets out the Department’s vision, priorities and key 
principles that will inform and drive the strategy. The Strategy is made up of key 
components: Edge of Care, Care Placement Sufficiency (including fostering 
recruitment and retention, residential and permanence and adoption), 
Leicestershire’s offer to Care Leavers and commissioning arrangements. 

 
7. The Care Placement Strategy Board, chaired by the Director of Children and 

Family Services, was established in 2018 and meets monthly to receive and 
consider progress reports against the key components. 

 
Children’s Innovation Partnership 

 
8. In 2018, innovative work was undertaken by the County Council to explore 

establishing a partnership that would enable more creative working to design 
and develop services for children, young people and their families. A tendering 
process was undertaken and in December 2018, the County Council entered 
into an innovation partnership with Barnardo’s. This has resulted in the co-
location of a strategic lead from Barnardo’s with the Senior Management Team 
in Children and Family services.  

 
9. Joint working has taken place across the partnership, to review pathways and 

look at how the ambition of providing high quality services for children and their 
families can be achieved. This is the first such partnership of its kind.  

 
10. Although the Children’s Innovation Partnership (CIP) is very new, and data on 

its impact is not yet available, there have already been some developments that 
demonstrate how working in collaboration has made accessing support more 
agile and strengthened its ability to offer flexible and responsive services. 
Examples include: 

 Successful application to the Department for Education (DfE) - Grants 
to fund the local co-ordination of free holiday activities and healthy food 
for disadvantaged children. £798,000 has been awarded, and the 
scope is to help approximately 2,500 young people received four 
weeks of free activities and healthy food. 

 Engagement/Delivery of Barnardo’s Independent Child Trafficking 
Advocacy Training for Foster Carers to enhance Foster Care provision 
for the authority.  

 Barnardo’s sponsorship of £650 for a joint branding opportunity to 
demonstrate the partnership on the Leicestershire’s School Children’s 
Art Calendar 2020. 

 £500 contribution from Barnardo’s towards the Leicestershire Adverse 
Childhood Experiences conference.  

 
11. Leicestershire was nominated as a finalist for the GO Awards in the category of 

Innovation in Procurement and was highly commended at the awards 
ceremony on 30 April.   The UK National GO Awards represent those 

12



 

individuals, teams and organisations that have gone above and beyond normal 
standards to make real differences to the quality of public service in the UK. 

 
12. The Innovation Partnership is testament to the ambition within the County 

Council to provide high quality services. This work has been key to driving 
forward key elements of the Care Placement Strategy. 

 
Progress to date 
 
Edge of care 
 
13. The ambition is that wherever it is safe to do so, families should be supported 

to care for their children; and children should be afforded the chance to grow up 
with their family. Within Children and Family Services this ethos runs 
throughout the work and practice undertaken by Early Help and Children’s 
Social Care (CSC). Recent redesigns in Early Help (Family and Wellbeing 
Service) and in Social Care locality teams to strengthen practice, supports the 
work to build family resilience and to keep children safe within their family 
network.  

 
14. Work is underway to further develop the role of Family Intervention Workers in 

CSC locality teams to work intensively with families to improve children’s 
outcomes and build family resilience. The work will focus on children on the 
edge of care, to both prevent family breakdown and support rehabilitation back 
to the family of those young people in care who are able, with support, to return 
home.  

 
15. Whilst the number of Children in Care has grown, the growth is steadier than 

forecast and remains below that of Leicestershire’s statistical neighbours. Key 
decision-making panels, management oversight and quality assurance audits 
ensure that the right decision is being made for those children who need to 
come into care and those that can be supported within their family.  

 
16. The Short breaks offer to families has been improved and detailed work is 

underway to look at how the department works with vulnerable mothers who 
have had babies removed from their care and placed for adoption. A review of 
16/17 year olds who are homeless and the support to them is also part of this 
work. 

 
Care Placement Sufficiency 

 
17. The innovation partnership with Barnardo’s has helped in developing a design 

brief for what placement types are needed to support  children and young 
people in care.   

 
18. To date, three service design brief meetings have been held with senior staff 

across the service, and work to include stakeholders and the voice of young 
people has been undertaken. A small group of operational managers is now 
established and is meeting weekly to work on detailed proposals around how to 
deliver placements, and what the make-up of placement choice needs to be will 

13



 

be available by June 2019. This includes residential provision both delivered or 
commissioned by the County Council.  

 
Foster Carer Recruitment and Retention 

19. Over the last 12 months there has been increased and improved activity in the 
recruitment and retention of Foster Carers. Recruitment campaigns are being 
continually reviewed and refreshed, and the retention of carers continues to 
improve. In 2018/19, 25 new foster carer households were approved, and in the 
same period, eight specialist carers were approved. 
 

20. The Dedicated Placement Support Team continues to provide support, where 
possible, to young people and carers who are struggling to prevent placement 
breakdown. The team provides 24/7 support which has been both well received 
and successful in preventing a number of placement break downs.  

 
21. Last year the team worked with 74 young people; this included work to stabilise 

placements, support children to return home and moving young people on to 
either their own accommodation or to other placements.  

 
22. Two young people moved from residential placements to Supported Lodgings 

and six young people went to Supported Lodgings placements as an alternative 
to residential care. Three young people have moved into either One2one carers 
or pathway carers instead of moving into residential placements. Two young 
people have moved from residential care into One2one placements. The team 
also successfully returned a child home from a residential placement. 

 
23. The annual Foster Carer’s Survey confirmed that the improvements made to 

support training and the revised fee structure has been well received.  
 
Multi Intensive Systemic Team Leicestershire (MISTLE) 
 
24. In June 2018, as part of an invest to save initiative by the County Council, 

Action for Children won a tender to establish a MISTLE team to work with 
identified children in the care of the local authority. A multi-disciplinary 
therapeutic team has been established and to date is working closely with 10 
young people (in addition, it has provided consultation to workers on a number 
of other young people).  
 

25. The main focus of the work in this initial period has been to support identified 
young people to move successfully from residential care to family-based 
placements- either foster care, their family network or where appropriate, for 
older young people to live in supported independent accommodation. To date, 
one young person has successfully returned home, one has moved to a 
Supported Lodging, one has moved from residential to a foster placement and 
one is now ready to move to foster care with the process of identifying possible 
carers underway. 

 
26. Members of the MISTLE team have been involved in the recruitment and 

training of Foster Carers. An interim report on the progress of this model is 

14



 

currently being prepared and will be presented to Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny in the Autumn. 

 

Care Leavers 

27. Work has been successfully completed with children in care, care leavers and 
partners to revise the pledge in line with additional responsibilities for care 
leavers up to the age of 25. The Promise, which outlines what the County 
Council will provide children in care and care leavers with, was launched on 1 
April 2019 at an event attended by the Chairman, Lead member, Elected 
Members, officers, partner agencies and young people. The Promise is 
attached as Appendix B.  
 

28. Key areas have been mapped and priorities are identified as health and 
wellbeing, accommodation and support and Education, Employment and 
Training. Work is underway in all key areas and progress will be reported to the 
Children and Families Partnership and Corporate Parenting Board. A support 
visit from the Department for Education National Advisor for Care Leavers in 
February reported that the department is ambitious and aspirational for young 
people and that this is evident from Elected Members, leaders in the council, 
senior officers and throughout the workforce. The areas the department had 
identified for further work were confirmed by the visit and work in this area 
continues to progress at a good rate.  

 
29. Key areas of success to date is the agreement across the District Councils to 

exempt care leavers from Council tax until the age of 25, and to help support 
them  to establish themselves in the community. Further success has been the 
increased opportunities for young people in care/ care leavers to be supported 
on apprenticeships. 

 
Consultation 

 
30. Consultation with key stakeholders takes place throughout all key elements of 

work being undertaken to deliver The Care Placement Strategy. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
31. Resources have been identified to support the work to deliver key elements of 

The Care Placement Strategy. This will be kept under review as developments 
progress. 

 
Conclusions 
 
32. Progress is underway to deliver against the key elements of The Care 

Placement Strategy 2018- 2021. This report provides an overview on the 
progress made to date in the first 12 months of the strategy. 

 
Background Papers 
 

15



 

None 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
33. The Strategy aims to meet the needs of vulnerable children, young people and 

their families. It ensures equality of access to services and that services are 
designed to take into account race, language, cultural, religious, sexual 
orientation and disability needs. 

 
Appendices  
 
Appendix A: The Care Placement Strategy 2018-2021. 
Appendix B:  The Promise to children in care and care leavers. 
 
 
Officer(s) to Contact 
 
Jane Moore (Director- Children and Family Services). 
0116 305 2649 
Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Cooke (Assistant Director, Children’s Social Care). 
0116 305 5479 
Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 

16



Published August 2018

 
Children and Family Services  
Care Placement 
Strategy

2018 - 2021

17



2  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

Executive Summary
In Leicestershire we are ambitious for our children and want to do all we can to provide them with high quality 
services. For our children in care  we will provide good quality care and placements to help them reach their 
potential. The Care Placement Strategy outlines the county council’s ambition for how we will design, develop, 
deliver and commission services of a high quality that place children and their needs firmly at the centre.

The Children & Family Services Continuous Improvement Plan (The Road to Excellence 2017-2012) arising 
from the Ofsted SIF in 2016 has identified areas for changes and the need for key strategies to be developed in 
order to improve outcomes and impact for children and young people. 

There are a number of national and local drivers which underpin the need for Local Authorities to look 
innovatively at what is being delivered in relation to children in care. Some of the national drivers are embedded 
in the legislation, Working Together 2015, and a national focus on child deaths, a focus on adoption and 
permanence; all in the context of a national and local programme of austerity and funding reductions. 

Coupled with rising expectations and the need to do more for less and work better with partner agencies to 
deliver services, has led to the need for Local Authorities to focus on delivering through transformation and 
innovation

The majority of Local Authorities have seen an increasing number of care applications and children being 
accommodated. While the average looked after child rate in Leicestershire has continued to increase over the 
last four years it still remains significantly lower than those of statistical neighbours. Adoption rates are showing 
an improved picture however older children with complex behavioural needs continue to present challenges in 
relation to permanence but also are reflecting a significant increase in spend on external placements. 

In developing the Care Placement Strategy work it is necessary to determine what services may be necessary 
to meet the needs of children both on the edge of care and in care and how permanence for children and 
young people can be achieved at an earlier stage in the child’s journey. 

Leicestershire County Council’s Children and Family Services has reviewed pathways of care to ensure both 
internal and external services have a shared understanding of the needs of vulnerable children including 
children with disabilities and children with complex challenging behaviour and are able to offer flexible 
responsive services that work towards improved outcomes for children and families in Leicestershire. We 
are ambitious for our children and young people and are developing and leading services that will make a 
difference to their outcomes 

The Strategy acknowledges the need to co-invest, co-produce and co-deliver services with Partner 
organisations to optimise outcomes for young people and ensure where possible efficiencies in costs are 
achieved.

18



3  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

1. Introduction 
Leicestershire’s Children and Family Services (CFS), in line with many Children’s Services Departments, is 
facing unprecedented challenges in managing the increasing demand, lack of capacity in placement availability 
and choice, and rising costs alongside the need to respond to financial challenges. 

The Department of Education’s 2017 publication ‘Children looked after in England (including adoption)’, 
reports that at a national level the number of Looked After Children (LAC) continues to increase; and indeed 
has increased steadily over the last nine years. At 31 March 2017 there were 72,670 LAC in England, an 
increase of 3% on 2016.  

Over the past eight years in Leicestershire the rate of growth in LAC numbers has increased above the national 
trend lines. Leicestershire’s LAC population has increased significantly (by 48%) from 355 LAC on 31st March 
2010 to 553 on 31st March 2018. 

CFS estimates that Leicestershire’s LAC population will increase by a further 18% by 2021, bringing the total 
number of Children and Young People (C&YP) in its care to approximately 769 by the end of March 2021. The 
corresponding increase in placement spend has been estimated at £12million by 2021/22. 

Over the past two years there has been a particularly noticeable trend of older young people coming into care 
who often have existing behavioural, educational  and health needs.  

Residential placements make up a significant amount of the service’s placement spend. There were 59 
children in residential placements on the 31 March 2018 which are 10.6% of the total LAC population and the 
costs for the end of the 2017/18 financial year are projected as £10.8m, 42% of the total placement spends.

The average cost of residential placement is £3500 per week ( compared to £795 per week  on average for 
an Independent Fostering Agency placement)  with residential costs reflecting the complexity and level of 
support each child requires.

Leicestershire has prioritised investment in preventative services to help to avoid the need for children to 
become looked after. Children who are at risk of family breakdown receive timely and, if necessary, intensive 
support to help them to remain living with their families. 

The Care Placement Strategy offers an understanding of other CFS Strategies as outlined in section 7 and 
ensures a “golden thread” identifying the overall pathway of services that vulnerable young people may require 
and ensure that all services are focused on outcomes, prevention and permanence.

19



4  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

2. Improved Outcomes 
Research findings reflect that successful outcomes for children and young people are achieved when there is:

• Placement stability

• Timely permanence planning 

• Strong multi-agency working strategically and operationally

• Clear and honest approach and strong multi-agency SMART Plan

• Clear pathways to services

• Clear, consistent and timely decision making processes based on a thorough assessment of risk and 
strengths in family networks 

• Clear plan of work based on a thorough assessment and mutually agreed goals; regular reviews of progress 
and risk factors and for closure and sustainability

• Effective decision making panels and consistency 

• Engagement of young people in their plans 

Children who remain in care highlight the importance of their relationships with family and siblings. 
They also describe their relationships with their teachers, foster carers, social workers as central to 
their wellbeing

Central to the county council’s approach is the idea that children and young people are best 
brought up within their own families. The revised decision making panels will seek to ensure that 
children will receive an appropriate service as an alternative to becoming looked after, reduce the 
period of time of being looked after and ensure permanence at the earliest opportunity.

3. Interdependencies to this strategy 
• Children and Families Departmental Plan  2017 – 20

• Children & Families Partnership Plan 2018 – 21

• Care Planning and Decision Making Guidance 2018

• Recruitment and Retention Strategy 2017 – 2021

• Permanence and Adoption Strategy 2017 – 2021

• Commissioning Strategy  2018- 2021

• Increase in-house Foster Carers

• Multi-disciplinary  Intensive Support Team Leicestershire (MISTLE)

• Early Help Review

• Disabled Children’s Service Review

20



5  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

4. CFS Departmental Vision

“Leicestershire is the best place for all children,  
young people and their families” 

We will describe the outcomes we want to achieve for children, young people and their families and identify 
measures that can tell us how well we are achieving them in comparison with other English local authorities. 
We will aim to be the best performing local authority in the country against these measures, and where we are 
not yet there we will set stretching targets for annual improvement.

5. CFS Departmental Priorities 
• All children in Leicestershire are living in safe and  stable environments and have secure attachments 

• Every child gets the best possible start in life.

• Provide early intervention through working with families to build strength, resilience and confidence.

• Every child should have access to good quality education to ensure they achieve their potential.

• We focus on improving children’s emotional health and wellbeing.

• Excellent  provision and sufficiency to meet the diverse needs of our young people

21



6  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

6. Care Placement Strategy Key Principles
• Develop our local offer to enable children where it is safe to do so to live within their family  and reduce the 

necessity for reception into care.

• When children are unable to live within their family network we will provide them with high quality care and 
placements that enable them to form secure attachments and reach their full potential.

• To make sure that residential care is only used when it is positive to do so for a young person and this is a 
planned period towards a family /community based placement. This will  reduce our over dependency on 
long term residential care

• Develop new approaches for young people in residential care to where possible support them to live in 
family based placements

• Ensure more children and young people in care can continue to live in Leicestershire

• Develop intensive family-based services for the most challenging young people we work with

• Move from largely individualised commissioning to more strategic approaches operating over the longer term. 

• Create services which work across the agency boundaries – health, education, police, and social care 

• Explore innovative evidence-based commissioning opportunities to test new approaches

• Services need to become more performance focused with clear outcomes measure to evidence impact of 
intervention

22



7  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

7. Care Placement Strategy Approach
In order to address the challenges presented; the Care Placements Strategy (which is made up of a number of 
strategies) proposes a number of approaches:

7.1 Edge of Care Strategy
The following cohorts of children may be seen as ‘on the edge of care’ and are often those children and young 
people for whom outcomes are poorer and where there is increased uncertainty. 

• Repeat pregnancies where unborn babies need safeguarding due to factors associated with the trilogy of risk 
– alcohol, drugs and domestic abuse. 

• Children who experience neglect as the single most important factor leading to the development of 
behaviours and poor attachments who may experience one or more episodes of being looked after and a 
number of attempted reunifications with families

• Young people who have been known to services over a protracted period of time, whose behaviour is such 
that parent(s) no longer feel able to have them at home

• Adoption breakdowns due to the extent of the child’s needs and the inability of parents and services to meet 
those needs often identified as attachment behaviours

• Children with disabilities whose needs are so complex that as they grow and develop, families are unable to 
meet those needs

• Young homeless people aged 16/17 years for whom local authorities and housing departments have 
developed protocols in order to have shared accountabilities where it is acknowledged that housing may be 
one of a number of needs.

Each cohort of children and young people bring with them the need for services to develop specialist 
knowledge and skills in order to be able to respond appropriately to the complex needs of families. 

In addition there is a need to develop services that are flexible, responsive and are able to meet need either 
through looking after children, achieving permanence or ensuring reunification for those children and young 
people who have experienced an episode of being looked after. 

Research conducted by (Ward et al 2014) defines ‘those primarily at imminent risk of becoming looked after’; 
including  young people at risk of abuse or neglect; who are in high conflict with families and thought to be 
difficult to manage; whose parents have toxic trio issues; who are offenders; or who have previously been 
looked after. 

The Institute of Public Care suggest that additional groups of young people at risk of late entry into care may 
include: young people with a disability / learning disability previously cared for by their families; and young 
people at risk of sexual exploitation or sexual abuse.

 
We aim to: 
Work with children and their families to help support them to remain together when it is safe to do so 
Offer high quality evidence-based practice 
Ensure strong and effective management oversight 
Ensure consistently good services for children and their families 
Provide good quality care when children are looked after 
Act in a timely way to secure permanence for children who cannot  be kept safe within their own families 

23



8  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

7.2 Fostering Recruitment and Retention Strategy 2017 - 2021
The Fostering Recruitment and Retention Strategy sets out the objectives, targets for growth, and action plan in 
the context of an analysis of needs, of the Looked After population In Leicestershire County Council in 2017-
2021, and those on the edge of care. It is an ambitious strategy, setting out to increase the numbers of in house 
foster carers by 130 over the next three years.

At Leicestershire County Council in 2016-17, the service lost 24 foster carers, which equated to 14 % of the 
foster carer population. National benchmarking identifies an average 12% loss, and this recruitment plan has 
been set with a projected 13 % loss per annum, based on the age of the foster carer population in 2015-16. 

Research from the National Office for Statistics published in February 2017 revealed a 38% reduction 
countrywide in applications to become a foster carer which demonstrates the challenging environment in terms 
of in-house recruitment.

Inevitably, there is a natural turnover of foster carers and last year (2016/17) Leicestershire’s turnover stood at 
14% (against a national average of 12%) , reflecting that Leicestershire has a higher proportion of older carers 
who are approaching retirement and some foster carers becoming adopters.  Leicestershire predicts to lose a 
further 60 carers over the three year period to 2020/21. 

The Foster Carer Recruitment and Retention Strategy identifies the need to increase the numbers of in 
house foster carers by 130 over the next 3 years. The priorities for recruitment are focused most sharply on 
placements for older children, and those with complex emotional, behavioural and health needs.

The Strategy seeks to:

• Create sufficient placement options to enable choice of placement which will meet needs, and 
support good outcomes

• Meet the recruitment targets set, which are reflective of the needs analysis. 

• Contribute to Council savings of £2.9m in Children’s Services

• Ensure all Children’s Services employees to recognise their contribution to supporting the recruitment 
and retention of Foster Carers, and recognising their value as part of the professional service delivered 
to our children in care. 

24



9  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

Leicestershire currently has 124 in house foster carers. The Recruitment and Retention Plan looks to increase 
the number of in-house foster carers through:

• Improved marketing and recruitment of foster carers

• Reviewing and improving the customer journey from enquiry to recruitment to approved foster carer journey

• Increasing the numbers of mainstream and specialist carers 

• Review of fostering fees and revising payments policy and structure

• Providing better support for foster carers, including in developing the training offer

The Service is planning a step change in in house fostering recruitment to address expected growth in looked 
after children.

The Recruitment and Retention Plan describes the expansion of in house foster care to cater for the use of an 
intensive service to offer more complex need children and their carers the support they need, when they need it.

The Dedicated Placement Support Team focuses on preventing placement breakdown providing intensive 
support to children and young people at risk of going into residential care. The team provide support and 
improve stability for young people living in foster care that are experiencing difficulties and who present the most 
challenging behaviour, preventing them from needing to enter residential care.

25



10  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

7.3 Permanence and Adoption Strategy 2018 - 2021
The Permanence and Adoption Strategy sets out the objectives, targets for growth, and action plan in the 
context of an analysis of needs of the Looked After population In Leicestershire County Council, particularly 
those children awaiting permanence. It is an ambitious strategy, setting out priorities including permanence 
decision making, recruitment and permanence support.

Summary of adoption activity for 2017-18 (Quarter 1 and 2) is provided below: 

• 33 children in adoptive placement, of which 24 children placed in 2017-18

• 10 are interagency matches, of which 2 are sibling groups with older children

• 33 children awaiting adoption, and

• A further 61 Pack A requests (indicating that adoption is being considered)

• 4 adopters approved in this period

• Prospective adopters in stage 1: 11

• Prospective adopters in stage 2: 6

• 12 adoptive families awaiting a match. 

The objectives of the Permanence and Adoption plan are to:

• Make effective and timely permanency decisions for children and young people.

• Create sufficient placement options to enable choice of placement which will meet needs, and 
support good outcomes

• Meet the recruitment targets set out in this strategy, which are reflective of the needs analysis. 

• Ensure all Children’s Services employees recognise their contribution to supporting the recruitment 
and retention of connected carers and adopters, and recognising their value as part of the 
professional service delivered to our children in care. 

26



11  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

To achieve the ambitions set the service will:

• Review and revise the role of decision making panels to ensure that children will receive an appropriate 
service as an alternative to becoming looked after, reduce the period of time of being looked after and ensure 
permanence at the earliest opportunity.

• Ensure care planning decisions will be tracked and monitored earlier and more effectively through the Child 
Decision Making Panel to ensure early permanence decisions are made and progressed.

• Monitor and review permanence plans through the Permanence Panel to promote quality planning - 
focusing on both the child’s needs over time and the support the carer will need to meet these needs

• Introduce service standards to guide practice consistency and set aspirational standards

Specifically on increasing the number of adopters the service will:

• Develop a strong brand and reputation reflected in an improved marketing approach 

• Offer clear customer feedback and engagement through the early inquiry stages for prospective adopters

• Encourage adopters to work with more complex children

• Deliver continuous improvement and reflection to ensure that systemic strengths are used as platforms for 
change

• Increase support for adopters and connected carers to establish a positive pathways to emotional health and 
wellbeing, and better outcomes for the future of the children and young people they are caring for

• Provide improved and creative support post permanence including expanding the service offer for post 3 
years placement order.

27



12  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

7.4 Care Leavers
Following the publication of regulations and guidance for the Childrens and Social Work Act 2017 on the 28th 
Feb 2018, the Council has embraced new duties to care leavers. Under the new regulation, the local authority 
must provide support to all Care Leavers who request it, over the age of 21 up to the age of 25. The offer of 
support will be published to ensure young people who are leaving care or who have recently left care are aware 
of the support they are entitled too. The offer will represent multi-agency corporate parenting support with 
member champions addressing issues such as:

• Suitable and timely accommodation provision; challenging intentionality (seeing Districts using their 
discretionary powers)

• The delivery of ambitious education, employment and training 

• Emotional wellbeing through enduring relationship based services

• Financial stability.

We aim to:

• Be ambitious for our children and young people, including Care Leavers, striving for Care Plans 
Pathway Plans that reflect person centred aspirations, SMART objectives and the child or young 
person’s voice.

• Develop a multi-agency corporate parenting offer for all care leavers and embedding a panel for the 
most vulnerable care leavers.

28



13  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

In respect of Commissioning Services that support the care placement Strategy the following 
Commissioning Priorities have been identified:

• To review Early Help & Edge of Care Service to identify need and demand to identify priority 
commissioning opportunities in preventing young people coming into care as outlined in Section 1

• To increase local foster care /adoption sufficiency to prevent young people going into residential 
provision as outlined in section 2 & 3

• To review the current Residential Short Breaks provision available for Disabled Children and develop 
future Commissioning options to support family’s needs and prevent family breakdown

• To commission therapeutic support service to offer 24/7 support to Young People with a focus 
on step down from residential care to a family based placement. The MISTLE project is delivered 
by Action for Children and will work intensively with the child or young person and their support 
network to enable a return to family based care or independence when approaching adulthood

• To develop a Regional approach to SEN Independent Non Maintained (INM) Commissioning 

• To review the current supported accommodation contract for Young People at risk of homelessness.

• To review and develop an Inclusion pathways for all learners

• To develop a Childrens Service Partnership to explore opportunities to co-invest and co-design a 
flexible responsive service delivery model to support he delivery of services that address all aspects 
of the Care Placement Strategy. The partnership could involve the provision of, the management of 
or the sub-contracting of services. There would need to be sufficient flexibility to adjust the scope 
and nature of services to meet changing needs. 

7.5 Commissioning Strategy 2018 - 2020
The Commissioning Strategy sets out the vision and direction for commissioning activity across Leicestershire’s 
Children and Family Services and how this will be achieved over the next two years as well as establishing the 
principles and framework which will underpin all our commissioning decisions.

LCC currently source Independent Fostering Service and Residential Care through the East Midlands Regional 
Children’s Framework on a spot purchase basis. This offers some level of reassurance in relation to quality and 
price but due to the major lack of market sufficiency Placements are also frequently commissioned from Off 
Framework providers often at a higher cost. 

8. Governance and Oversight
The intent is to ensure consistency in decision making; robust management oversight and the development of plans that are 
SMART and that identify the need for services and ensure that these are implemented. 

The four panels/meetings for ensuring effective decision making are;-

• Early Help Transition, Oversight and Planning Meeting (threshold for statutory services)

• Family Care and Protect Meetings (strengthening CIN and avoiding family breakdown)

• Children’s Decision Meeting (decision to look after, initiate legal proceedings and/or PLO or return for more work)

• Permanence Panel (to ensure that adoption, long term fostering, Special Guardianship Orders, re-unification happens in a 
timely manner) 

29



14  Children and Family Services Care Placement Strategy 2018 - 2022

9. Success Criteria
Success will be measured in a number of ways:

• Significant proportion of children and young people will be supported to remain within their families, if not 
with a parent/carer(s) within the wider family

• Resilience will be built to enable this to happen without the need for ongoing services

• There will be a reduction in the number of children and young people admitted to care. When they do come 
into care we will work in a timely way to achieve permanence for them

• That where re-unification has happened that this is sustained and that the number of repeat admissions is 
reduced

• Improved assessments and SMART care planning subject to robust management oversight and challenge is 
evidenced  

• Well informed workforce with the skills and knowledge to be able to work with and support children 
and young people who have suffered profound neglect, physical, sexual and emotional harm, have poor 
attachments and whose needs have been unmet 

• For children who cannot return home that an alternative permanence option is established earlier and that 
uncertainty for children is reduced

• That in developing tracking mechanisms through the panels that we are able to form an understanding of 
what works and what other services need to be developed

• Children and families voice is heard and is evident in the design and delivery of services

• Children and young people will continue to give feedback on the services that they receive in order for us to 
do better

• Families continue to give feedback on the services that they receive in order for us to do better

OUTCOME MEASURES
• To maintain the number of children in care at  

42.5 per 10,000 in Leicestershire by reducing 
the rate of children entering care and supporting 
others to exit care as appropriate

• To decrease the use of Independent Fostering 
Agency carers and the private market by 
increasing Leicestershire’s mainstream provision 
by 65% by March 2021 

• To decrease the use of residential care from 10% 
to 8%  through the use of targeted intervention, 
market development, by increasing Supported 
Lodgings provision by 45% and specialist 
placement provision by 100% by March 2021

• All children in care  will have a permanence plan 
by the second statutory review 

30



“Leicestershire is the best 
place for all children,  
young people and their 
families”

31



S0
27

1

32



by Leicestershire County Council and Partners

to children in care and care leavers 

to children in care and care leavers 
• Provide emotional support

• Whatever you do we will 
be there

• Ensure all your needs are 
met

• Provide advice, 
information, practical and 
financial support

• We will make sure that 
you know what your rights 
are

• Will not judge you if things 
go wrong. We all make 
mistakes!

• We will value your 
strengths 
and talents

• Support you to overcome 
any stumbling blocks you 
face

• Support you to achieve 
your goals

• Embrace your individuality

• Encourage your aspirations

• Support you to succeed in 
life

• We will respect your 
unique identity

• Support you to develop 
your own personal beliefs 
and values

• Accept, respect and 
celebrate your identity, 
culture and heritage

• Value, respect and 
support important  
relationships

• Encourage you to express 
your identity positively

• We will listen and respect 
you

• Strive to understand your 
point of view

• Place you at the heart of 
all decisions

• Support you to talk about 
your worries and happy 
times

• Support you to seek 
independent advocacy

• We will do our best to 
find you a home near to 
people who are important 
to you

• Ensure you feel safe 
and secure 

• As you grow we will 
support you to learn new 
skills to support your 
independence 

• We are here to support if 
things go wrong

• Legal entitlements and 
services

• Up to date and accurate 
information

• Support you to access your 
care records

• Provide information 
throughout your journey

• We will support you if you 
need to make a complaint

• Support you break down 
barriers to other agencies

• Work together with other 
services to better meet 
your needs

• Encourage and support 
you to make positive life 
choices

• Will make sure you know 
how to get support when 
you need it 

• Trust and respect you

• Provide emotional support

• Whatever you do we will 
be there

• Ensure all your needs are 
met

• Provide advice, 
information, practical and 
financial support

• We will make sure that 
you know what your rights 
are

• Will not judge you if things 
go wrong. We all make 
mistakes!

• We will value your 
strengths 
and talents

• Support you to overcome 
any stumbling blocks you 
face

• Support you to achieve 
your goals

• Embrace your individuality

• Encourage your aspirations

• Support you to succeed in 
life

• We will respect your 
unique identity

• Support you to develop 
your own personal beliefs 
and values

• Accept, respect and 
celebrate your identity, 
culture and heritage

• Value, respect and 
support important  
relationships

• Encourage you to express 
your identity positively

• We will listen and respect 
you

• Strive to understand your 
point of view

• Place you at the heart of 
all decisions

• Support you to talk about 
your worries and happy 
times

• Support you to seek 
independent advocacy

• We will do our best to 
find you a home near to 
people who are important 
to you

• Ensure you feel safe 
and secure 

• As you grow we will 
support you to learn new 
skills to support your 
independence 

• We are here to support if 
things go wrong

• Legal entitlements and 
services

• Up to date and accurate 
information

• Support you to access your 
care records

• Provide information 
throughout your journey

• We will support you if you 
need to make a complaint

• Support you break down 
barriers to other agencies

• Work together with other 
services to better meet 
your needs

• Encourage and support 
you to make positive life 
choices

• Will make sure you know 
how to get support when 
you need it 

• Trust and respect you

We willWe willWe will
supportsupport

you

We

in you

We

in you
believe

We willWe willWe willWe willWe will
respectrespect

your identity

We willWe will
listen

to you

We will support

home
you to find a place 

home
you can call

We willWe willWe will
inform

you

We will be 

a lifelonga lifelong
champion

Produced by Leicestershire County Council as part of the Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership

33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE – 4 JUNE 2019 

 
OVERVIEW OF SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITIES 

(SEND) DEVELOPMENTS 
 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 
SERVICES  

 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the development of new 
 SEND provisions as part of the High Needs Block Development Plan and the 
 results of the associated recent public consultation.  The strategic direction for 
 SEN and Disability Services over the next three years is also set out, along 
 with an update on the provision of short break services to families where a 
 child has a disability. 
 
Policy Framework and Previous Decision(s) 
 
2. The Children and Families Act 2014 introduced a number of new duties for 
 local authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs).  The Council’s 
 SEND Strategy 2017-2020, agreed by the Cabinet on 10 April 2018, outlines 
 these responsibilities and sets out how the Council and its CCG partners will 
 work together to meet these. 

 
3. On 18 December 2018 the Cabinet noted the overspend and forecast deficit 
 for the High Needs Block budget and authorised the Director of Children and 
 Family Services to commence consultation on the development of SEND 
 provision. 
 
4. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has previously considered: 
 

 The proposals relating to SEND sufficiency, including the recent consultation 
to invest in excess of £30m capital to expand existing, and create new, 
specialist capacity. 

 The decision to bring short-breaks in-house to be provided by the Disabled 
Children’s Service and the SEN Early Help Service. 

 
Background 
  

35 Agenda Item 11



 

  

5. The Council’s proposal to invest £30m capital into new and expanded 
 specialist provision represents one of three key strands of the High Needs 
 Block Development strategy, the other two strands being; 
 

 a focus on effective systems and processes to support children with SEND 
(for example the Education, Health and Care (EHC) Plan process); 

 effective support services, aimed at enabling schools to support children with 
SEND to achieve within a mainstream school setting. 

 
6. Since the SEND Reforms of 2014 there has been a growth of approximately 
 33% in the demand for EHC Plans both nationally and locally.  It is therefore 
 important that practice within mainstream settings is as inclusive as possible 
 whilst ensuring that the capital developments for SEND Sufficiency reflect 
 projected demand that is established annually.  
 
7. SEN and Disability Services work closely with families and other services to 
 ensure that children with special needs get the support they need as early as 
 possible.  The ambition is that all families will have confidence that their 
 child’s needs can be met locally, wherever possible within a mainstream 
 school, and where appropriate without the need for an EHC Plan. This work is 
 important to ensure that the  capital investments provide a sustainable 
 supply of specialist provision for those children who need it.  
 
8. Each of the SEND Services work to an agreed Service Plan. There are close 
 links with the High Needs Block Operational Board so that activity is linked to 
 the SEND Sufficiency Strategy and other work to manage High Needs Block 
 funding. 
 
9. The service is working closely with the Parent  Carer Forum and Schools to 
 develop a model of working that, if successful,  will mean that only those 
 children with the most complex and severe special  needs will require an 
 EHC Plan.  The intention would be that most children  with SEN will have their 
 needs met within a mainstream school at ‘SEN  Support’, including a greater 
 use of monies delegated by the local authority  through ‘Top-up’ funding.   
 
10. In summary, SEND Services aim to encourage: 
 

 Early identification and assessment.  

 Timely engagement with families. 

 Provision of coordinated support against a plan with clear outcomes and 
commissioning of provision based on these outcomes. 

 Co-designed support. 

 Schools or other providers at the centre of service delivery, being the ‘default 
lead professional’ and equipped with the knowledge and skills to carry out the 
role. 

 

Results of the Consultation on SEND Sufficiency 

 

36



 

  

11. Consultation on the proposals for new a SEND provision took place 
 between 7 January  and  31 March 2019. The consultation has sought views 
 on how the new provisions should look, feel and operate alongside 
 mainstream and/or special schools to ensure a high quality and inclusive 
 education is provided to all pupils with SEND needs.  It has involved writing 
 to a wide group of individuals with an interest in the development of a 
 new SEND provision, including every Leicestershire school, parents/carers 
 of pupils with an EHCP, and associated parties, for example health, to 
 seek their views. A bespoke document setting out the proposals and a 
 questionnaire to enable consultees to provide feedback was made available 
 to each consultee, with a hard copy or easy read version made available on 
 request.  This information was also made available on the County Council’s 
 website for anyone else to submit comments. 

 
12. To support the consultation exercise, five open meetings were held at various 
 special school locations, which also provided an opportunity for parents to talk 
 on a one-to-one basis with officers.  The meetings were also open to 
 members of the public, school staff and other professionals and were 
 attended by approximately 143 people overall.  In addition, there have been 
 discussions with the Parent Carer Forum, the staff professional associations 
 and pupils.  
 
13. There have been 345 responses  to the consultation questionnaire, the 
 majority of which were provided online.  Respondents to the consultation 
 survey included 198 people who identified as a parent/carer of a child with 
 an EHCP, 68 members of school staff, and 79  others, largely members of the 
 general public.   

 
14. Analysis of the 345 responses to the questionnaire shows that there are very 
 high levels of support, with the majority of respondents (88%) indicating 
 strong agreement (54%), or tending to agree (34%) with the overall proposals. 
 In particular, those in favour of the proposals welcome; 
 

 The potential for shorter travel times to school. 

 The opportunity to be educated in a mainstream school setting. 

 The development of more local specialist places  

 That there is recognition of the need to give priority to the development of 

more SEND provision, and 

 The opportunities for SEND pupils to have improved engagement with their 
local communities, and longer-term benefits for their transition to adulthood. 

 
15. Relatively few adverse comments have been made.  Those less positive 
 responses tended to relate to the need to ensure that staff have sufficient 
 training skills and expertise, transport policy, and school organisation 
 matters, for example concern that larger class sizes should be avoided.  
 The results of the consultation were considered by the Cabinet on 24 May 
 2019.     
 

37



 

  

16. The list of new SEND provisions under development was agreed by the 
 Cabinet on 29 March 2019 and encompasses the development of new 
 units/resource bases in mainstream schools, the expansion of existing special 
 schools, and the longer-term development of new schools (specifically to 
 meet the increasing demand for pupils with Communication and Interaction 
 needs, and those with Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs). Generally, 
 this work is progressing well, with the first new  provisions opening from 
 September 2019 and the others to follow in September 2020. 
 
17. It should be noted in particular that there has been a good response to the call 
 for expressions of interest from suitable academy proposers (sponsors) to 
 operate the new 80-place Communication and Interaction School, to be 
 located in Barwell, and which is expected to open in September 2020. The 
 bids received are currently being assessed to enable a decision to be taken 
 by the Regional Schools Commissioner later in the summer on the preferred 
 Trust to run the new school. 
 
Progress to Date and Next Steps 
 
18. The SEN Assessment Service (SENA) is a well-managed service that is 
 stretched to capacity due to increased demand.  Officers are fully occupied on 
 the key statutory tasks associated with EHCP Needs Assessment (the 
 production of EHCPs within 20 weeks), annual reviews and related functions 
 such as Tribunal work.  Actions over the past 12 months to increase capacity 
 and focus upon quality, have had limited impact due to  increased demand 
 and unanticipated staffing issues.  
 

 Progress to date: 
 

 A revised staffing structure, with increased capacity agreed, has now largely 
appointed to.   

 The Social Worker role within SENA is now well embedded, supporting links 
with social care. 

 The Transformation Unit review of systems and processes is well underway 

 There is good dialogue with schools about processes and areas for further 
attention 

 The Post 16 Team has been established, with improved links with schools, FE 
Colleges and social care 

 There is regular communication with school SEND Coordinators and 
improvements to systems. 

 

 Strategic aims and next steps: 

 

 The service will work to ensure: 
 

 Effective, modern systems and effective use of technology 

 Continued improvement in the quality of EHCPs 

 An increase in opportunities for the co-design of Plans  

 A further move from the management of processes towards ‘casework’. 

38



 

  

 SEN Officers spending more time in schools and clusters of schools 
influencing effective early support. 

 Effective mediation work to reduce tribunals.  

 Strong systems for partnership decision making at key points to ensure health 
and care needs are properly represented.  

 A clear system of top up funding to incentivise early support without the need 
for an EHC Plan where this can achieve the required outcomes. 

 Revised processes embedded to ensure effective transition to adulthood and 
other key transitions. 

 Parent/Carer and child feedback at key points such as annual review and 
EHCP completion. 

 

19. The Leicestershire Educational Psychology Service (EPS) has completed a 
 full service review, whereby it has looked at best practice regionally and 
 nationally and engaged staff in a series of workshops  to reflect on how 
 services are delivered. At present non-statutory work is traded; this means 
 that not all schools buy in to the Leicestershire EPS offer.  Whilst schools can 
 buy in services from elsewhere,  children do not always benefit from early EP 
 input.  The ambition is for the Leicestershire service to offer a degree of ‘free’ 
 consultation to all schools in addition to the need to provide statutory work for 
 individual EHCP Needs Assessments. 

 
 Progress to date: 
 

 The comprehensive service review is now complete 

 Interim capacity is in place to undertake additional statutory work 

 There is a clear traded offer with schools 

 Good feedback from schools has been received on the value of traded work 

 There is strong Service management and an improved relationship with the 
national Association of Educational Psychologists 

 There is an improved quality assurance of statutory work 
 
 Strategic aims and Next Steps: 
 
 The service will now work to ensure: 
 

 Sufficient capacity to support whole-school approaches across all schools. 

 There is capacity for consultation rather than statutory report writing, for 
example, anti-bullying, wellbeing and a focus upon reducing the need for 
EHCPs.  

 The wider use of EP expertise to support organisational growth. 

 The service is modern and effective  and attracts and retains staff 

 There is sufficient capacity to support early years and early identification 

 There is a clearly defined funding model in place for the service 
 
20. The Specialist Teaching Service (STS) was subject to significant restructure 
 in 2018, leading to a leaner and more focussed management structure.  The 
 main pressure upon the service is around autism.  Currently, the Autism and 
 Learning Support Service has an ‘Autism Outreach’ (AO) team and an 

39



 

  

 ‘Intensive Support’ team.  Not all schools buy in to the AO service, and so it
  only works with children who have a diagnosis. The combined effect is that 
 many children do not have access to the early support that they need. To add 
 capacity to the service, external providers are commissioned to meet demand 
 for service.  
 
 Progress to date:  
 

 A Service review in 2018 has led to a streamlined, cost-effective management 
structure now being in place 

 There is a strong and stable staff team with expertise across a large range of 
specialist needs. 

 There is a more focussed role of services to meet statutory duties 

 The Traded Offer is highly regarded by schools who use it 

 The work to support schools on effective SEN Support is well underway 

 Training and whole school activity is available through the traded offer 
 
 Strategic Aims and Next Steps: 
 
 The service will work to ensure:  
 

 Schools have access to early, specialist, learning support advice as soon as 
possible. Wherever possible, this will be without the need for a medical 
diagnosis and without charge to the school. 

 Services work within pathways that are clear to parents so that they can see 
how health, education, social care and other services fit together into a clear 
offer.  

 This works in a way that provides the right incentives for schools to keep 
children on roll and support the family even if the child is unable to attend. 

 The use of technology is maximised to support inclusive learning in schools 

 There is clear advice and information available to schools, parents and all 
interested parties via the Local Offer, for example on reasonable adjustments 
and best endeavours. 

 
21. The Disabled Children’s Service (DCS) includes an Occupational Therapy 
 Team and two Social Work Teams.  It is a relatively stable service and staff 
 know the children well.  
 
  Progress to date: 
 

 There has been a recommissioning of overnight short breaks, scoping work 
done with partners and co-design with families 

 Work has been undertaken  to update short breaks offer, including extensive 
co-design work with the Parent Carer Forum 

 Effective arrangements are now in place to offer early help support to children 
with a disability 

 A Short Breaks panel has been established to provide consistency of decision 
making 

 

40



 

  

 Strategic Aims and Next Steps: 
 
 The service will work to ensure: 
 

 All service activity provides best quality and value to improve outcomes for 
children and families in Leicestershire. 

 That the voice of children, young people and their families/carers is included 
within all commissioning and planning for the Children and Families Service 

 There is sufficient support for the department to adhere to contract 
management and procurement rules  

 That  staff performance, through regular supervision and opportunities for 
professional development, is embedded into practice 

 Short breaks commissioning is reviewed. 
 
The provision of short break services to families where a child has a disability. 
 
22. The Disabled Children’s Team and Children and Family Wellbeing Service are 

now working together to provide access to support to families through the 
Short Breaks Scheme.  This service was previously provided by Menphys and 
the decision was taken by the Cabinet in December 2017 that the service 
should be delivered in-house.  These changes have been achieved without 
any loss of capacity or reduction in uptake of services.  

 
23. Approximately 150 families have been transferred from the Disabled 
 Children’s Team to the Children and Family Wellbeing Service for ongoing 
 monitoring of packages of support.   Work continues to promote inclusive 
 community provision for disabled children, and with the support of the Early 
 Learning and Childcare Service, additional funds have been provided to some 
 schemes to pay for ‘additional adults’ to enable a disabled child to attend.     
 Wherever possible, families are supported to consider universal provision first 
 so that children can attend schemes and clubs in their local communities 
 alongside their friends and siblings.   
 
24. Work is underway with the Leicestershire Parent and Carer Forum to develop 
 a criteria for short breaks, as well as to consider new and different ways of 
 organising and delivering short breaks in the future. This co-production 
 work will continue and is a very valuable element of ensuring the services 
 provided meet the needs of local families and make the best use of the 
 available resources. 
 

Resource Implications 
 
25. The purpose of this work is to ensure that the needs of children with SEND 
 are identified and met early.  This will ensure that resources are targeted at 
 early support and prevention.  The intention is that this will maximise 
 efficiency by reducing the spend upon high need complex support and 
 reliance upon specialist provision.  
 
Conclusions 
 

41



 

  

26. Since the 2014 SEND Reforms the demand for EHCP Needs Assessment 
 and for specialist provision has grown significantly.  Leicestershire County 

Council has previously approved capital plans to invest in excess of £30m for 
new and expanded specialist provision.  

 
27. There has been an excellent response received from parents/carers, schools 
 and the public regarding the establishment of new units/resource bases, to 
 expand existing special schools, and in the longer term to build new schools. 

This is encouraging and demonstrates a real commitment to make the new 
 provisions a success.   

 
28. The expressions of interest received to operate the new Communication and 
 Interaction school, based on the assessments so far, demonstrate a high 
 quality of expertise, knowledge and capacity relative to the provision for SEND 
 pupils. This will clearly be of assistance to enable a successful start for the 
 new school and delivery of actions set out in the High Needs Block 

Development Plan.    
 

29. Alongside these plans, the proposals set out how the Council intends to 
 work with schools, families and other partners to encourage and support as 
 many families as possible to succeed within the context of a mainstream 
 school, wherever possible without the need for an EHC Plan. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Report to the Cabinet on 24 May 2019 – SEND Provision – Results of Consultation 
on the Development of New Proposals (High Needs Block Development Plan) - 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5603&Ver=4  
 
Circulation Under Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
30. A copy of the Cabinet report – SEND Provision – Results of Consultation on 
 the Development of New Proposals (High Needs Block Development Plan) - 
 has been circulated to all members of the County Council via the Members 
 Digest on 17 May 2019. 

 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
31. The purpose of the SEND development proposals outlined within this report is 
 to ensure equality and equity of opportunity for all Leicestershire children and 
 young people irrespective of their need or locality. 
 
32. In keeping with the Public Sector Equality Duty, to have due regard to the 
 need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and 
 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
 and those who do not, an Equality and Human Rights Impact Assessment 
 (EHRIA) for the proposed change has been completed to help address 
 any necessary adaptation to the proposals. As  reported to the Cabinet on 24 
 May, at this stage no immediate matters of concern have emerged.  However 
 the proposed consultation will help identify where revision to the Plan might 

42

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=5603&Ver=4


 

  

 be needed to take account of the impact to individual families/pupils, and to 
 ensure continued equality of opportunity for those affected.  
 
33. The EHRIA screening document has been completed and showed that a full 
 EHRIA was not required. This will be kept under review as the SEND 
 proposals move through the planning and development stages, and any 
 adjustments will be made accordingly. 
 
Environmental Impact  
 
34. The planned investment in local provision for children with SEND will reduce 
 the need for travel to specialist provisions further afield.   
 
Partnership Working and Associated Issues 
 
35. The developments reflect the priorities within the SEND Strategy, which has 

been developed in partnership with other agencies through the SEND Board. 
 
Risk Assessment 
 
36. Risks associated with SEND Sufficiency and confidence in mainstream 
 provision are included within the Corporate Risk Register.  
 
List of Appendices (if appropriate) 
 
None 
 
Officers to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services 
Tel:  0116 305 6300 
email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Tom Common 
Head Of Service: SEND 
Children and Family Services 
Leicestershire County Council 
Tel: 0116 3057813 
Email: Tom.common@leics.gov.uk 
 
David Atterbury 
Head of Service - Education Sufficiency 
Children and Family Services 
Tel: 0116 305 7729  
email: david.atterbury@leics.gov.uk  
 
 

43

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:david.atterbury@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



   

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE –  4 JUNE 2019 

 

PROGRESS REPORT: OFSTED RECOMMENDATIONS AS PART OF 

THE OFSTED CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT ACTION PLAN 2017 - 

2020 - THE ROAD TO EXCELLENCE 

 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 

 
Purpose of report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Committee of progress made 

against the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan (OCIAP) in 
responding to the Single Inspection of Children’s Social Care in November 
2016. 
 

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee has previously 

received a copy of the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan, 
developed following the Ofsted inspection. A progress report was presented 
at its meeting on 5 November 2018 

 
3. At that time, the Committee had requested that an update on the progress 

made against the remaining ‘Amber’ areas be presented in June 2019, and 
that the report should focus on the area of challenge identified to the 
Committee in November 2018 that impacts on progress of the OCIAP. The 
underpinning action plan has been used to summarise the evidence made 
against the Ofsted recommendations and is attached as Appendix A to the 
report. 
 

Background 
 
4. The report is based on work undertaken through “The Road to Excellence”, 

which is Children’s Social Care’s (CSC) Continuous Improvement Action Plan 
for 2017 to 2020.   

 
5. The OCIAP addresses the Ofsted findings by providing a strategic vision for 

improvement that is founded on four aims: 

i. Being a Learning Organisation 

ii. Embedding Excellent Practice 

iii. Taking the Right Action at the Right Time 

iv. Developing Policy and Performance  

45 Agenda Item 12



 
6. The action plan at Appendix A uses a RAG rating to indicate progress.  Green 

is showing good progress and moving towards completion, amber is on track 
to deliver in a longer agreed timescale and red signifies areas requiring further 
focused work. The ratings provide a judgement of what evidence exists to 
demonstrate the departmental response to a recommendation.  This evidence 
is largely taken from performance, business intelligence data and findings 
from quality assurance audits that are used together to monitor the progress 
of the OCIAP alongside staff input. 

 

7. The recommendations vary in scale and scope and therefore some areas, 
especially those that started at a lower baseline, require longer timescales to 
produce demonstrable evidence of improvement. This was the reason for a 
four-year plan to drive improvement. Progress is monitored via a weekly 
senior managers meeting and a monthly meeting of senior and middle 
managers that is chaired by the Assistant Director (Children’s Social Care). 

 

8. The summary of ratings is:  

- 15 recommendations are rated Green 

- 2 recommendations are rated Amber. Work to progress these 

recommendations is detailed later in the report. 

- 0 recommendations are rated Red  

 

9. Progress is being made against all recommendations. Most significant 
progress is against the 15 recommendations that are now green. In summary 
progress is showing that: 

 The department has had success over the last six months in the 
recruitment and retention of permanent members of staff 

 Performance data and reports continue to be actively used by managers 
across the service to drive service improvements.  

 First Response was subject to an Ofsted Focused Visit in October 2018. 

Ofsted reflected on the changes made within the service and identified 

good progress.  Inspectors noted how a learning environment had been 

successfully introduced and the workforce had stabilised resulting in 

improved services for children and families. 

 

10. Some examples to support this (as seen in the draft outturn 2018/19 results) 

are: 

 

 Repeat Child Protection Plans (CPP) for 2018/19 are 15.2% of plans (76 

of 499), compared to 24% for 2017/18 (129 of 538).  Leicestershire’s rate 

is significantly better than statistical neighbours (21.8%) and the England 

average for 2018 (20.2%) 

 

46



 In March 97.3% (251 of 258) of child protection cases were reviewed 

within timescales; this remains above the performance of statistical 

neighbours (89.1%). 

 

 Children in care with three or more placement moves is 7.7% (45 of 585) 

at March 2019, and places Leicestershire in the top quartile for placement 

stability. This demonstrates that more children are living in stable 

placements. 

 

 At the end of March 2019, Leicestershire was in touch with 96.1% (219 of 

228) of its care leavers, compared to 93.4% (57 of 61) at the end of July 

2018.  

 

 The percentage of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training is 

61% (139 of 228) in March 2019 compared with 55.7% reported in 

November 2018; this is an improving picture (the rate was 45% at 

beginning of Q2) and places Leicestershire into the second quartile in 

comparison with other local authorities. (The statistical neighbour 

percentage is 53.2%). 

 

Amber Actions 

 

11. Two of the actions remain an amber RAG rating.   

a. Ensure that management oversight of practice fully complies with 

supervision policy requirements and supports effective case 

progression and case decision making. 

b. Ensure consistency in social work assessment, so that they are 

sufficiently in depth, are informed by good-quality chronologies, reflect 

the needs and identities of individual children, are updated regularly to 

take account of children’s needs and circumstances and lead to 

outcome focuses plans. 

 

12. Due to the fact that the recommendations vary in scale and scope, some 

areas require longer timescales to produce demonstrable evidence of 

improvement.   

 

13. Full detail of the work being undertaken on the amber areas is contained in 

Appendix A but is summarised as follows: 

 

 Full embedding of supervision policy (launched January 2019) and 

consistency in meeting standards for supervision requirements to assure 

that supervisions are reflective and of good quality. 

 Develop methodology to evaluate the impact of supervision policy, and 

specifically the extent to which supervision is reflective and of high quality. 

 The need to understand how to support managers to be more consistent in 

the quality of their oversight. 

47



 Work to improve the consistency in quality of assessments and plans 

 Focus on quality and performance through  campaign work 

 

Summary of work and progress towards actions 

 

14. At the last update, it was reported that whilst progress on the action plan is 

good, recruitment and retention of social workers remained a key area of 

challenge. Staff turnover, delays in getting permanent staff into post and over 

reliance on agency staff was putting additional pressures on service areas. 

For this reason, the Recruitment and Retention strategy has been a key focus 

over the last six months. 

 

15. Over this period, the department has had success  in the recruitment and 

retention of permanent members of staff and as a result has seen stabilised 

and improved practice.  As of March 2019, the vacancy rate is 4.6% (11.5 of 

247) which is a significant reduction since December 2018, where it was 9%. 

 

16. The recruitment and retention strategy for social workers is helping to develop 

a strong employment offer for social workers in Leicestershire.  A refreshed 

version of the strategy with additional proposals to consolidate and amplify 

gains will be considered by DMT in Q1 2019/20 

 

17. An apprenticeship scheme has been agreed with Warwick University and six 

members of staff are due to start ‘grow your own’ social worker courses from  

March 2019. There is now a well-established partnership with Frontline, with 

three participants in the  scheme who will qualify in August 2019, and a 

second Frontline unit is due to commence in September 2019. 

 

18. 27 ASYE (newly qualified social workers) will progress to Level 2 in 

September 2019.  The department has supported many ASYE’s over the past 

year which has meant that  additional agency workers have had to be 

recruited to cover the ASYE reduced caseloads in teams. 

 

19. There has been an improved response to advertisements for Team Manager 

and Senior Practitioner posts.  

 

20. The department has been successful in  in reducing caseload pressures in 

some teams, however this remains an issue, particularly in the Locality teams 

where sickness & absence rates have had an impact.  Agency staff are being 

used to support the work in these areas as well as work taking place to 

reduce the levels of sickness and absence. 

 

Consultations 
 

21. The Road to Excellence is a departmental continuous improvement plan so 

has naturally included a wide range of Children and Family Services staff in its 

48



development. Engagement with partner agencies has primarily been through 

the Local Safeguarding Children Board where partners have fed in their views 

of the Plan. 

 
Resource Implications 
 
22. Resource implications of responding to the Ofsted inspection have already 

been agreed through the growth bid.   

 

Timetable for decisions 

 
23. Not applicable. 

 

Conclusion 

 

24. The progress made against the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan 

is presented to the Committee. The Department is confident that the 

remaining amber actions will be completed in the timescales set in the Road 

to Excellence. 

 

Background Papers 

 

The Ofsted report: Leicestershire Inspection of services for children in need of help 

and protection, children looked after and care leavers. November to December 2016 

http://ow.ly/16uB30gfp7d 

 

The Road to Excellence (Plan on a Page) 

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131465/Ofsted%20funding%20Appx%20A%20-
%20Plan%20on%20a%20Page%20CIP.pdf 
 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

None 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 

Responding to the findings of the Ofsted inspection will improve services for all 

groups of children and families. 

 

List of Appendices 

 

Appendix A – Progress against the Ofsted recommendations as part of the Ofsted 

Continuous Improvement Action Plan 2017-2020 – The Road to Excellence 

 

Officer(s) to Contact 

 

Jane Moore, Director Children and Family Services 

Tel:   0116 3057441  Email Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk  

49

http://ow.ly/16uB30gfp7d
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131465/Ofsted%20funding%20Appx%20A%20-%20Plan%20on%20a%20Page%20CIP.pdf
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/documents/s131465/Ofsted%20funding%20Appx%20A%20-%20Plan%20on%20a%20Page%20CIP.pdf
mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk


Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director Children’s Social Care  

Tel:  0116 30 3055479 Email: Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk 

 

50

mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk


    
 

 

 

     

Progress against Ofsted recommendations as part of the continuous improvement action plan 2017-2020- The Road to Excellence. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee November 2018 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

1.  Ensure that performance 
management information 
is based on accurate data, 
so that all areas requiring 
improvement can be 
identified and progressed 
in a timely way. 

G 

The service has a suite of 
performance reports that are 
accurate, up-to-date and enabling 
managers to evidence progress 
against key performance indicators.  
This will show good performance 
against statutory indicators enabling 
managers to see and immediately 
address any arising concerns. 

 

Measure 

All daily, weekly and monthly reports 
are in place by June 2017 for First 
Response, Child Protection and 
Children in Care. 

 

By December 2018, reports for 
Fostering & Adoption are developed 
in Tableau (currently manual). 

 

Annual returns for the Department 
of Education show LCC to be 
performing well against Statistical 
Neighbours and National Indicators. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

System 
generated 

 

 

 

Manual 

 

 

 

 

System/ma
nual 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In place 

 

 

 

 

 System 
generat
ed  

 

 

System 
generat
ed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In place 

 

 

 

 

In place 

 

 

 

 

Reports (daily, weekly and monthly) available for First 
Response, Disabled Children Team, Child Protection, 
Child Sexual Exploitation team and Children in Care. 

Group established, initially chaired by AD (CSC) and 
now by the Head of Children in Care is progressing 
system generated reporting for Fostering & Adoption. 
Although progress is being made not all reports are 
yet system generated. 

Evidence from BI that Children & Family Services is the 
top users of Tableau software. Tableau is well 
established and regularly used in PODs / team 
meetings. 

Service delivery plans – new format that uses 
performance management information, tableau 
supports this.  All are driving improvement against the 
Continuous improvement plan (CIP) 

Data quality Meetings between Head of Service 
Children in Care, responsible data leads and Business 
Intelligence are continuing.   Data quality is improving 
and evidenced in weekly data quality updates.  

Tableau reporting is enabling information on data 
quality to be used within teams to identify areas for 
improvement.  Reports are now being used to 
improve individual and team’s performance. Data 
KLoE meetings are being used to tailor these reports 
so teams increase usage and data quality improves 

Data strategy is well supported and key forums for 
resolutions established e.g. IMS user group, Mosaic 
Project Group, Data Quality Group, Data KLoE 
Meetings. 

Work is in progress to develop 
Tableau reporting for Fostering 
and Adoption. Proposed date 
for development to be 
completed by September 2019  

2018/19 annual stat return 
currently being drafted. 

 

Business 
Intelligence 
Performance 
Manager – 
Emma Jones  
& 
Nicci Collins 
Head of Service 
CIC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix A 

51



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

2.  Ensure that management 
oversight of practice fully 
complies with supervision 
policy requirements and 
supports effective case 
progression and decision-
making. 

A 

Case decision processes consistently 
demonstrates robust management 
oversight.  Evidence of good clear 
plans for children. 

 

Measure 

Weekly and monthly performance 
reports show good performance in 
timeliness of supervisions.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outcome of case file audits are 
graded good or outstanding for 
management decision and oversight. 

 

 

 

 

 

2018 - 
75% 
meeting 
standard 
(10 out of 
12 SV in 
year) 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

88% 
monthly 
(Sept 18) 
 

 

 

 

 

 

69% (88% 
in First 
Response) 

 

 

 

 

 

Dec18 
83% 

 

Dec18 
100% 

 

 

 

 

90% 

 

 

 

 

 

83% 

 

 

100% 

The frequency of supervision has been monitored 
monthly and during 2018 supervision compliance has 
been within acceptable tolerances with manager’s 
chasing up individual outliers. SV compliance will be 
audited in 2019 starting April 2019. 

Refreshed Supervision policy has been launched 
January 2019.  

Learning programme for Senior Practitioners and 
Team Managers to develop supervisory skills and 
competence has been delivered by Research in 
Practice in December 2018. 

Fidelity to SoS have targeted workshops on key 
elements of SoS, the team provide case consultations 
and support the running of PODs, with a focus on First 
Response. 

Key Decision Discussions implemented and embedded 
across localities to improve management oversight of 
complex cases.  

Aspiring Managers Programme launched January 2019 

Management oversight remains a key part of all 
auditing activity  

Child Sexual Abuse in Family Environment and 
Moderation Learning audit findings there is strong 
management oversight of cases with timely decision 
making and oversight of key documents. However, the 
quality of supervision records has been inconsistent. 
Supervision records have not always been reflective 
and analytical or limited evidence of professional 
challenge where necessary. For the management 
oversight section 67% of cases were graded meets 
good or above. 

Leadership & Management questions in annual health 
check 2018 (PET Team) 
 
Ofsted focused visit feedback managers in FRCD ‘know 
the service well and staff understand the journey and 
ambition for children’. 

Reviewed and refreshed model 
for case auditing agreed and 
launched based on ‘what good 
looks like’, measuring against 
practice standards and aims to 
builds manager’s confidence in 
identifying good practice. This 
will commence in May 2019.  

 

 

During 2019 we will develop a 
methodology for evaluating the 
impact of the supervision policy 
and the extent to which the 
quality of supervision is 
reflective.  

Need to understand how we can 
support managers to be more 
consistent in the quality of their 
oversight. 

 

Head of Service 
Safeguarding 
and 
Performance – 
Kay Fletcher 

 

 

 

 

Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Moira O’Hagan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

3.  Ensure that when a child 
is allocated to a social 
worker this is reflected in 
the social worker’s 
caseload and that 
caseload size and 
management capacity 
across the service 
facilitate good-quality 
social work. 

G 

 

Social Work caseloads are within 
agreed numbers: 

 Assessed & Supported Year in 
Employment 12 – 15 

 

 Senior Practitioner 12 – 15 

 

 Social Worker (full time) 18 - 20 

So, ensuring capacity for social 
workers to complete well evidenced 
assessment and intervention in a 
timely way, showing that plans are 
progressed in a child’s timeframe. 

Increase Social work and 
management capacity. 

 

Measure 

Monthly performance returns show 
that caseloads are within the 
numbers above. 

 Assessed & Supported Year in 
Employment 12 – 15 

 

 Senior Practitioner 12 – 15 

 

 Social Worker (full time) 18 - 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Avg 

Sept18 – 

March19 

16 

 

18 

 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March19 
16 

 

 
17 
 
 
 
20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

15 

 
 

15 

 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

13 

 
 

13 

 

19 

Specific issues arise when agency staff leave creating 
significant capacity issues within teams and localities 
and at those times caseloads can rise significantly but 
this is kept under senior manager scrutiny and 
remedial action taken where necessary 

Child Protection and Strengthening Families include 
some teams / individuals experiencing caseloads in the 
20’s.  This is being addressed by additional capacity 
and there are some variations in localities.  

Between November 2018 & March 2019, caseload 
averages for social workers have remained within the 
acceptable threshold of 20 cases and under. There is 
still progress to be made in reducing outliers within 
the child protection and first response teams and 
caseloads for ASYEs & Senior Practitioners.  

Success of recruitment and retention of permanent 
members of staff– less reliance on agency workers.  
Additional capacity is in place in FRCD, Child 
Protection, DCS, Fostering and IRO teams 

The newly enhanced ASYE programme is in place, 27 
AYSEs will progress to level 2 by September 2019.  

Social Worker Career Progression Handbook agreed, 
and new panels being set up to address staff moving 
from Level 2 – Level 3. 

31.5 new social workers have been recruited and will 
be supported through induction and learning hub 
together with Practice Excellence Team. 

Monthly reporting to senior management team on 
caseloads will continue to ensure robust oversight and 
resolution (business as usual)  

 

There are still a higher than 
anticipated number of agency 
staff – retention remains a key 
priority and a key challenge to 
the improvement challenge. 

To develop tableau to provide a 
more detailed overview of 
caseloads (e.g. incorporate 
Oracle data re: FTE and role to 
provide caseload averages on an 
individual, team and service 
level) 

 

Assistant 
Director 
Children’s Social 
Care – Sharon 
Cooke 
& 
Business 
Intelligence 
Performance 
Manager – 
Emma Jones 

53



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

4.  Review processes 
operating in the First 
Response Service to 
ensure the accurate 
recording of contacts, 
referrals, assessments 
and their timeliness. 

G 

First Response demonstrates 
consistently a timely and 
proportionate response to children 
in line with the LSCB threshold 
document and Working Together to 
Safeguarding Children 2018. 

 

Measure 

Weekly and monthly performance 
reports show progress in line with 
Statistical Neighbours and national 
average. 

Targets are: 

 Referrals – manager 24-hour 
decision – 100% 

 

 Re-referral rate  

 

 

 

 

 Assessments completed in 
45 days  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

n/a 

 

 

2018/19 
24.6% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
2018/19 
66.3% 

 

 

 

 

 
Report 
Developed 
manager’s 
decision on 
contacts 
was at 
90.2% 
week 
01/04/19 
 
 
 
 
23% 
March19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March19 
62.3% 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

22% 

 

 

 

 

80% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

22% 

 

 

 

 

85% 

All processes within First Response reviewed following 
inspection. Revised and refreshed operating model in 
place to ensure:  

 the accurate recording of contacts and referrals 

 good quality assessments delivered in timely 
manner.  

New Quality Assurance Framework for First Response 
and auditing of Contacts and Referrals in order to 
gauge decision making; latter in place since January 
2018. 

Ofsted completed dip sampling during the Focus Visit 
in October 2018 which showed compliance with 
24hour referral decision making 

The review of the ‘Out of Hours’ (OOH) component 
has been completed with the new functional model in 
place. The consistency of the OOH service is 
improving, and a dedicated team manager is in place 
working on shift with staff to oversee consistency and 
quality.  The Out of Hours Handbook is currently in 
draft and being updated. 

Agreed prioritisation and grading framework with the 
police focusing on proportionate and appropriate 
responses to domestic abuse notifications and 
referrals. This new operating model is in place   

Impact Boards in teams with learning and quality 
messages in place since February 2018 and managers 
are positively encouraged to reflect on the impact of 
practice.  

Staff from Practice Excellence team have spent regular 
time (weekly since Dec18) in First Response 
supporting staff to embed SOS as an approach to 
analysing children’s needs and building safety in the 
child’s network. 

Multi-agency referral form (MARF) relaunched with 
guidance following feedback from Ofsted Focused 
visit. Re: consent. Service is anticipating better quality 
of referrals with consent given. 

There is an immediate screening action plan in place 
(from Apr19) to manage delays in progressing 
incoming contacts and referrals 

 

Action plan is in place resulting 
from Oct18 focused visit.  New 
actions added to CIP from 2019 
to help track progress / impact 

  

Head of Service 
Field Social 
Work – Anita 
Gurry 

 

54



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

5.  Ensure that practitioners 
and managers understand 
and apply thresholds 
appropriately at every 
stage of the child’s 
journey. 

G 

All cases show the threshold in line 
with the LSCB threshold document 
has been consistently applied and 
children have received a timely and 
proportionate response in line with 
their assessed needs.   

 

 

 

 

Measure 

Performance shows a low number 
of: 

  Re-referrals  

 

 

 

 Repeat CP plans  

 

 

 

 

 Permanence plan in place / CIC 
by the second review – 100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As above 
(Ref 4.) 

 
 

18/19 
15.2% 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As above 
(Ref 4.) 

 

 

Mar19 
10.9 
 

 

 
 

 

Recent 
audits 
show 
compliance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As 
above 

 

 

 
18% 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

As 
above 

 

 
 

18% 

 

 

 

 

100% 

The application of appropriate thresholds is generally 
monitored through repeated social care involvement 
and case file audits. 

Transition Oversight and Planning Meeting – Early 
Help to Social Care looking particularly at threshold 
issue and resolution of the right plan for the child – 
has supported securing consistently and thresholds 
which has resulted in a decrease of referrals to EH and 
an increase to Strengthening Families 

Case Decision Meeting for decisions around Public Law 
Outline, Care Proceedings and revised Permanence 
Panel all implemented January 2018 

Independent Review of First Response May 2018 
showed that threshold decisions are appropriate 

The proportion of repeat child protection plans to 
date is 15.2% year to date. 

Use of Peer Supervision to enable discussion to take 
place on thresholds and resolution of cases between 
Early Help and Social Care 

During 2018 - 40 new permanence decisions made, 
with 70 resource decisions (packages of support such 
for emotional wellbeing) agreed.  

Implementation of Child’s journey panels in January 
2018 

Introduced new procedures and guidance for panels 
and achieving permanency 

Development of performance report in relation to 
permanence. 

Practice Summit completed with Managers promoting 
understanding of emotional permanence. 

Review of Threshold Document – September 2018 and 
partners through the LSCB are engaged (ongoing piece 
of work partners)  

 

Continue work with partners to 
help them develop a more 
realistic understanding of 
thresholds and to continue to 
push for high quality referrals 
and earlier identification of risk. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agree Service Improvement 
actions arising from Agency 
Decision Maker’s permanence 
report (April 2019) 

 

Head of Service 
for Quality 
Assurance, 
Safeguarding 
and 
Improvement – 
Kay Fletcher 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Heads of 
Service – Chris 
Thomas, Anita 
Gurry and Nicci 
Collins 

55



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

6.  Ensure consistency in 
social work assessments, 
so that they are 
sufficiently in depth, are 
informed by good-quality 
chronologies, reflect the 
needs and identities of 
individual children, are 
updated regularly to take 
account of children’s 
changing needs and 
circumstances and lead to 
outcome-focused plans. 

A 

 

Performance reports evidence 
consistent use of: 

 chronologies, 

 assessment,  

 outcomes focused plans 

Measure 
Quality audit demonstrates that all 
cases have an up-to-date 
chronology, assessment and 
outcome-focused plan. 

Chronology  

Good quality plans 

 

Single Assessment Framework are 
completed in a timely way and are of 
a good standard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 

As above 
(ref.4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

* 

* 

 

As above 
(ref.4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

80% 

80% 

 

80% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

100% 

 

 

100% 

EIP2 funding for SOS awarded to LCC in Sept 2017 and 
since that time real focus on role out and 
implementation of SOS. 

A recent audit in First Response demonstrated that 
progress is being made in the number of cases having 
assessments graded good overall.  

Chronologies and quality of plans are being audited 
currently as part of the themed audits running from 
May to June and all teams were given a deadline by 
which to complete chronologies. The impact of 
chronologies has been seen in relation to the uplift of 
care plans and subsequent decision making 

Following the independent review of First Response, 
workshops have taken place in relation to the need to 
complete quality assessments which inform SMART 
Planning – June 2018 and work will be continued by 
Practice Excellence Team 

New assessment and SMART Child’s Plan format 
developed and launched  

Social Work Conference took place in June 2018 with a 
focus on improving practice; getting it right for 
children and a review of components of good practice 

Implementation of SOS forms in mosaic are 
progressing with aim to complete by September 2019.  

Learning sets in Manager’s meetings will focus on SOS 
to support implementation of new forms between 
April – Sept 2019 

Campaign style approach to practice improvement 
launched with first theme around assessments 
(Mar19) 

SOS in Mosaic has been 
purchased and forms will be 
implemented in a staggered 
approach starting from April 
2019 aiming to complete 
September 2019 

Undertake quality assurance to 
ensure that the Practice 
standards are supporting 
improved quality of 
assessments across the service. 

Work to improve the depth of 
practice is ongoing and will be 
supported by Practice 
Excellence Team  

In the next 12 months the focus 
on practice will extend beyond 
the improvement plan – with 
the delivery of a ‘campaign’ 
approach to key areas of 
practice improvement: 
assessment, planning, 
management oversight and 
voice of child. 

Review and refresh social work 
learning offer to ensure new 
areas are incorporated e.g. 
motivational interviewing, 
understanding parents with 
personality disorder 

Work is ongoing through the 
Data KLoE meeting and team 
action plans (FRCD) to improve 
timeliness of assessments. 

 

Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Moira O’Hagan 

 
Head of Service 
Fieldwork – 
Anita Gurry 

 
Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Moira O’Hagan 

 

56



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

7.  Strengthen arrangements 
for permanence planning 
to enable all children 
looked after to be 
provided with a 
permanent home and 
family without undue 
delay, wherever this is 
possible. 

G 

Permanence plan for children 
evidenced on all cases.  The plan will 
have been agreed and children will 
be living in secure and stable 
placements where their long-term 
needs are met. 

 

Measure 

Permanence plan in place for 
Children in Care by second review. 

 

 

Up to date Pathway plan in place for 
all young people in Care or Care 
Leavers aged 15 plus. 
 

Number of Children in care with 
three or more placement moves 
reduces. 

The proportion of children in 
placements for 2 or more years or 
adopted increases.  

Published adoption scorecard 
measures on timeliness: 

o Average days from 
entering care to adoption 
being less than the 
statistical neighbour 

o Average of days from 
court authority to place a 
child and the decision to 
match being less than the 
statistical neighbour 

 

 

 

 

*Target for placement stability – 2+years 
was previously higher for March 2019 
than March 2020 target (which is at stat 
neighbour level) this has likely been 
accidently changed in previous report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recent 
audits 
show 
compliance  

 

TBC 

 

 
TBC 

 
 

TBC 

 

 

 2018/19 
Q1 – Q3 
draft 
467 

 

118 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recent 
audits show 
compliance 

  

Apr19 
87.3% 

 

7.7% (Mar 
19) 
 

65.7% 
(Mar 19) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 
 

95% 

 

 

7.5% 

 

67%* 
 
 
 
 
 
 
515 

 

 

193 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 
 

100% 

 

 

7% 

 

68.5% 

 

 

 

514 

 

 

192 

A revised Permanence Panel has improved rigor and 
oversight to permanency planning. All groups have 
been reviewing processes, guidance, communications 
to improve the quality and timeliness of permanency 
planning.  

Permanence Audit took place in November 2017 and 
showed improved practice permanency planning. 
Learning from the audit has been shared across the 
service. 

Good progress has been made in the following areas: 

- Refreshed CiN guidance has been published.  A 
process to alert of drift and delay on Child 
Protection cases has been established 

- Child’s Journey Guidance and Panels 
implemented January 2018 to ensure earlier 
planning and permanence and the avoidance of 
drift   

A rolling programme of case reviews is underway.  
Performance indicators for permanence show 
improved performance: 

Permanency is a part of the service training and 
support offer to all social workers. 

Permanence Planning Guidance updated January 2018  

Practice Summits held with a focus on child 
permanence reports as well as the implementation of 
a pilot permanence team to focus on adopters/carers 
which recruitment has started.  

The Permanence team pilot launched at the beginning 
of September18. As the pilot was successful, the 
Permanence Team’s remit will be expanded to cover 
permanence reports for all children.  

Transfer of post 3yr adoption support to the Adoption 
Team (agreed by DMT) 

 Nicci Collins 
Head of Service 
Children in 
Care, Fostering 
& Adoption & 
Virtual School 

57



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

8.  Ensure that children 
looked after are able to 
access timely and 
appropriate support to 
meet their therapeutic 
needs. 

G 

That children, who are assessed as 
requiring additional support to 
address emotional wellbeing 
/mental health, have their needs 
identified and a plan put in place to 
meet their needs results in 
placement stability. 

 

Measure 

Average Strengths and Difficulties 
Questionnaire measure is in line with 
the national average – 16 

 

Completion rate of SDQ’s 

 

 

 

Quality assurance audits evidence 
that a young person’s emotional 
health and well-being is assessed 
and resources to address are in 
place. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 
N/A 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March19 

67% 
children 
within 
‘normal 
range’ 

15.6% 
average 
score 

 

Audit 
completed 
Apr19 by 
HoS 
confirming 
emotional 
supp. Serv. 
In place for 
children 
with high 
scores. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16 

 

 
75% 

 

85% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

16 

 

 
100% 

 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

The Dedicated Placements Support Team (DPST) has 
been instrumental in ensuring that the therapeutic needs 
of children in care are met. This is evident in improved 
placement stability performance measure (top quartile).   
This has been alongside establishing CDM/Permanence 
Panel & Additional Resource Panel and Complex Care 
Panel with Health and Education services, where 
decisions are reached about placement requirements 
and the additional therapeutic services children need. 

A number of Children in Care not meeting threshold for 
CAMHS received counselling sessions. Introduced 
CAMHS consultation sessions for carers. Introduced 
information/training and support at foster carer support 
groups (hubs) - address emotional health. Reduced 
supervising social worker caseloads to improve 
accessibility and support. 

Revised CAMHS Offer to be in place by April 2018. This is 
completed 
 
Mistle project implemented as part of Care Placement 
Strategy to support most challenging young people in 
care to successfully experience family-based placements. 
Mistle is now working with children to prepare them for 
move on placements 

Permanence Passport introduced (sets out emotional 
wellbeing offer); continued high use of externally 
commissioned therapeutic support through PEP’s and 
through Care Plans 

Social Work Co-ordinators responsible for sending out 
SDQ questionnaires.  Different approaches taken to non-
returns, therefore lower non-return rate. Head of service 
annual oversight of all SDQs over 17 to ensure 
appropriate action is taken. 

Progressing the incorporation of SOS into support plans, 
with support from PSW – PODs have now been held 
consistently across the service. 

In addition, an improved offer for post Adoption and SGO 
support has been implemented and the qualitative data 
on feedback from SGO and Adoptive carers is very 
positive 

Therapeutic Policy has been written and implemented 
which means more support for birth families – Agency 
Decision Maker sends out information when each 
decision is made. 

Improved offer for therapeutic support for families as 
well as care leavers to ensure needs are met and stability 
achieved   

Monthly Operational Group in place with Health and LLR; 
Business Support to ensure improved performance is 
paying dividends and making a difference 

Work is underway in relation to 
emotional well-being and joint 
working with health; young 
people to be included 

 

Head of Service 
Children in Care 
– Nicci Collins 

 

58



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

9.  Ensure that all children 
looked after who go 
missing are offered a 
return home interview 
and that information 
gained from all such 
interviews is used to 
inform risk management 
and shared intelligence. 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance shows reducing 
number of young people who 
repeatedly go missing.  High 
completion of return interviews and 
evidence of these informing plans 
leads to a reduction in missing 
episodes, so helping to keep young 
people safe. 

 

Measure 

The number of young people going 
missing reduces. 

 

 

Take up of young people 
undertaking a return home interview 
(all young people and Children in 
Care.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TBC 
 

 

 

TBC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

23% 
reduction 
comparing 
Q3 with Q2 

 

Q3 
Comple-
tion rate of 
97% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

90% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95% 

Service Manager has been appointed to lead the 
response to CSE, CCE & Missing Children and First 
Response Screening. This gives the opportunity to 
identify emerging risk and signposting for early 
intervention. 

All children looked after who go missing are offered a 
return home interview.   Current take up is 77% (Sept 
18).  The remaining percentage is made up of young 
people who refuse the interview and interviews with 
some children placed in LCC by other LA’s.  This latter 
area remains problematic.  The following seeks to 
address this: 

 Weekly data is sent to AD/HoS advising which children 
have been missing. Patterns/ 
trends/hotspots/associations are made.  Children 
refusing or not receiving a return home interview is 
scrutinised to understand the reason and impact of 
that. 

 a standard letter from the Director has been devised, 
sent by the AD to any LA not meeting notification and 
information sharing responsibilities. 

 Improved protocols for children that go missing +3 
times in 90day period  

 Monitoring of children who go missing has been 
refreshed to better inform risk management and 
shared intelligence. 

 The Missing protocol and procedures have been 
updated on the LSCB website and promoted at several 
large events. 

 Monthly reports provided for Lead Member who 
provide challenge to work completed 

 Audit & dip sample schedule for Return Interviews. 

 LSCB multi agency audit – February 2019. 

 Q3 validation exercise in relation to data collection 
with Tableau. 

 Programme oversight by the CSE and Trafficking 
Operation Group 

 Monthly meetings between LSS & CSE TM to identify 
themes/trends. 

 
Regional work has been completed agreeing child 
criminal exploitation standards & a pathway is being 
adopted 
 
Timely return home interviews and scrutiny of the data 
returned enables staff to understand the motivation and 
risks that missing episodes pose to individuals. 
Tracking/mapping of risk locations/associations is 
paramount to support risk management. 

Understanding this enables support plans and early 
interventions to assist young people and families during 
this time and reduce the likelihood of continued missing 
episodes. Where this is not effective appropriate triggers 
are in place to agree an alternative multi agency 
strategy. 

 

Continue work to address 
completion of return interviews 
with children placed in LCC by 
another LA’s (ongoing). 

There is more detailed analysis 
of trends and patterns for 
children missing under 
development to support 
intelligence around other forms 
of child exploitation e.g. gangs, 
county lines.  

Further work is needed around 
integration with community 
safety and introduction of 
monthly complex MARAC 
meetings (child criminal 
exploitation) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Head of Service 
Field Social 
Work – Anita 
Gurry 

 

Service 
Manager CCE & 
First Response – 
Donna Smalley 

 

59



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

10.  Ensure that, when a child 
in need plan relating to a 
child who has disabilities 
is reviewed, it reflects an 
up-to-date assessment, 
informed by the voice of 
the child and undertaken 
by a qualified and 
registered social worker. 

G 

Disabled children who require a child 
in need assessment to support their 
plan have these undertaken, 
updated and reviewed by a qualified 
social worker. 

 

Measure 

Audit of CIN cases in the Disabled 
Children’s Service demonstrate that 
assessments and reviews are 
completed by a qualified social 
worker, there is a current good 
quality assessment and the 
assessment is informed by the voice 
of the child. 

 

Overall good or outstanding 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33% (Mar 
17) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TBC (Audit 
Q4 18/19) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

*A review of the 200 cases that were within the CIN 
Review cohort was undertaken in October 2017. 

Cases that were assessed as needing social work 
support were allocated within the DCS by January 
2018. 

The remaining cases (less than 100) met the threshold 
for early help support.  The plan was for these to all be 
stepped down at the point of their next CIN review.  

The remaining cases still have open CIN Plans and are 
being managed by Child Care Workers with 
supervision by Senior Practitioners and Team 
Managers. They will be stepped down at their next 
review (unless at that time the assessed needs have 
changed).  This has been delayed by recruitment of 
social work staff - this is now complete  

All Cases held within DCS are allocated to a SW and 
reviewed within agreed timescales   

All cases meeting the threshold for Early Help have 
been stepped down to Early Help.  Learning from 
audits is implemented as well as learning from peer 
reviews. 

 

The remaining cases identified as meeting the 
threshold for Early Help have been stepped down to 
Early Help as of July 2018. 

 

When cases are allocated to a Social Worker the time-
scales for work are reviewed in supervision with Team 
Managers. 

 

DCS work to the Practice Standards used across C&F 
and have had the opportunity to shadow colleagues in 
First Response. DCS SW work to the Practice Standards 
used within Children’s Teams 

 

A new Service Manager has been appointed (April 
2018) and in post to oversee the work of the children 
with disabilities service and ensure that learning from 
audit and peer review is implemented 

The DCS Service Manager is 
leading key work around 
auditing and learning from the 
reviews will be incorporated 
into the DCS service plan and 
implemented through the cycle 
of service and team meetings, 
individual supervision, CPD and 
other workshops. 

 

Head of Service 
SEND and 
Children with 
Disabilities – 
Tom Common 

60



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

11.  Ensure that support plans 
for special guardians and 
adopters are informed by 
a clear assessment of 
children’s and 
carers’/parents’ long-term 
needs and that good-
quality specialist post-
order support is made 
available to those 
affected by adoption and 
special guardianship 
when, and for however 
long, it is needed. 

G 

Evidence of a support plan on all 
cases that is informed by a clear 
assessment, outlining support to 
help the young person achieve good 
outcomes and minimising placement 
breakdown / disruption. 

 

Measure 

Quality of support plans for SGO and 
adoption orders have improved. 

 

Quality assurance by the Agency 
Decision Maker, evidences quality 
support plans to address long term 
needs so reducing the risk of 
placement breakdown. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regular 
auditing 
shows 
support 
plans in 
place and 
of good 
quality 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Regular 
auditing 
shows 
support 
plans in 
place and 
of good 
quality 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

A refreshed SGO process is now in place. 

Feedback has been sought from adopters and SGO 
carers in receipt of services from the Permanence 
Team to evaluate the impact of the first 6 months of 
implementation of the new offer. The carer voice has 
been overwhelmingly positive. 

Post-adoption and SGO support offer has been 
refreshed alongside a range of accessible resources 
developed for carers. Increased capacity has been put 
in place with the establishment of a permanent post. 

In addition, a pamphlet for independent advice to 
birth parents is now in place, a dedicated post-
adoption support worker has been employed and our 
first adoption newsletter published 2017 

All SGO places have support plans in place, this has 
been evidenced through management oversight and 
manual audit completed by Team Manager which 
shows plans in place.  Further audits required to 
ensure consistently good quality. Permanence Panel 
has provided oversight of SGO support plans where 
there have been complicating factors. 

A policy on post-adoption support is included as part 
of our local procedures and this will be used to 
develop further staff guidance. 

A micro-site to support SGO’s has been commissioned 
from Family Action and has been implemented. 

Recruitment to Special Guardianship Order Social 
Worker and Support Worker has been successfully 
completed. Improved offer through SGO support 
worker has commenced and the SGO support worker 
seeks feedback from carers which is used to improve 
the offer 

ADM and HoS CiC meeting minimum of monthly to 
consider Permanence Improvement Activity, including 
quality of support plans. This has taken place and 
resulted in key priority actions which were completed 
during 2018.  The ADM will provide a full report which 
will identify new priorities for 2019-20. 

Audit of the Connected Team (Kinship) was completed 
and presented to SMT in Nov 18 with actions to 
improve the service.  A new audit is due by the end of 
May 19 to confirm impact of this activity. 

The Adoption website has been updated with 
information on the offer, and support information.  
The Virtual School have also launched a new website 
which includes information for previously LAC. 

Further work is required on the 
recruitment of foster carers. 

 

 Head of Service 
Children in Care 
– Nicci Collins 

 

61



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

12.  Improve the quality and 
management oversight of 
pathway planning and 
ensure consistency in the 
quality of advice and 
support provided by 
personal advisers to care 
leavers. This should 
include information about 
entitlements and 
provision of health 
histories. 

    G  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All young people in care 16 plus have 
a pathway plan in place that is based 
on assessment of need. Thus, 
ensuring a young person is  

supported in education, 
employment and training and in 
suitable accommodation. 

 

Measure 

Up-to-date pathway plan in place. 

Independent Reviewing Officers to 
quality assure plans. 

 

Care leavers in suitable 
accommodation. 

 

‘In contact figure’ (relevant and 
former relevant). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TBC 

 

 

 

TBC 

 

TBC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Mar19 
82.5% 

 

 

89.5% 
(Mar19)  

 

96.1% 
(Mar19)  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

95% 

 

 

 

92% 

 

90% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

 

 

 

95% 

 

90% 

Care Leavers in Education, Employment and Training 
data shows 61% in March19 and those in Suitable 
Accommodation (89.5% Mar19) have sustained 
performance and are higher than statistical 
neighbours. 

More care leavers are supported and receive the 
financial support and opportunities to move into 
education, employment or training. 

16+ team now well established, + additional posts. 

Resulting in more focused, strategy work to improve 

outcomes for care leavers and meet new care leaver 

duties. 

Further improved performance in data (EET, in contact 

and suitable accommodation) 

Tableau reports on pathway plans available. 

Sampling of cases by SM evidencing improved 

consistency in quality of plan, young people involved 

in creating the plan, aspirational and improve 

outcomes for care leavers. 

Agreement from 5 member panel to put forward a 

member champion model for care leavers.  

New duties for the care leavers teams are well 

integrated into the team and care leavers are now 

exempt from Council Tax. 

 

further work required to ensure 
consistency in completion of 
pathway plans outside of CiC 
Service 

Head of Service 
Children in Care 
– Nicci Collins 

 

62



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

13.  Ensure that practice for 
children who are subject 
to private fostering 
arrangements meets 
statutory requirements 
and that all staff and 
partners know how to 
recognise and notify a 
private fostering 
arrangement. 

G 

Young people under 16 years who 
are living outside of immediate 
family, in the line with legislation, 
are identified and have appropriate 
plans in place. 

 

Measure 

Increased identification of Private 
Fostering arrangements 

 

 

Assessments completed in timescale. 

 

 

 

 

 

YTD 2019: 

5 PF 

assess. 

underway

/complete 

 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

  Activity to improve the awareness of private Fostering 
includes:  

 Leaflet drop included schools and GP surgeries. 

 Private fostering focused on LCC website and 
dedicated section with information 

 Quarterly meetings take place with 
Strengthening Families, First Response and the 
Assessment Team to ensure regular and robust 
tracking is taking place.  

Strengthening Families have identified a lead for 
Private Fostering 

Young people under 16 years who are living outside of 
immediate family, in the line with legislation, are 
identified and have appropriate plans in place.  

The service has sent leaflets to all schools and GP 
practices in the county and all private schools in the 
City. By Sept 18 despite the distribution of over 7000 
leaflets and the use of professional networks the PF 
numbers remain low. 

Work completed to look to other authorities to see if 
there was anything else we could do but did not 
identify anything else we could do that other 
authorities had found successful. 

Next scheduled meeting re Private fostering is 
scheduled for May2019. Report will be brought to 
SMT following meeting – actions will be determined 
and signed off. 

Legal advice has been sought regarding children 
approaching 16yrs in PF arrangements (previously we 
would not assess).  We will now assess all children 
ensuring a Private Fostering assessment is completed, 
even if shorter. 

Number of private fostering arrangements still low but 
an increase on previous year 
 
Current 5 
2018 - 3 in total 
 

It is noted that the low numbers 
of private fostering 
arrangements is a national 
issue. 

There is a Planned programme 
of awareness rising with Six 
monthly progress reports 
presented to SMT (business as 
usual) 

Head of Service 
Children in Care 
– Nicci Collins & 
Service 
Manager 
Michelle 
Williams 

 

63



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

14.  Improve assessment and 
care planning for children 
on the edge of care or 
returning home, or with 
complex needs requiring a 
period of intensive 
intervention (which may 
include Residential 
Care)so that it is clear 
how positive change is to 
be achieved and 
sustained. 

G 

All children on edge of care have a 
clear plan of action for supporting 
them at home / in placement. 

Measure 

 

Placement stability rate (3+ 
placements in the last year) 

 

Long term stability - same placement 
>2 yrs.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

*Target for placement stability – 2+years 
was previously higher in March 2019 
than March 2020 target (which is at stat 
neighbour level) this has likely been 
accidently changed in previous report. 

 

 

 

 

TBC 

 

 

TBC 

 

 

 

 

 

7.7% 
(Mar19) 

 

65.7% 
(Mar19) 

 

 

 

 

 

7.5%  

 

 

67%* 

 

 

 

 

7% 

 

 

68.5% 

 

As part of our Permanency Campaign we have 
focussed on strengthening Edge of Care arrangements 
and helping returns to birth families.  A new proposed 
model for Edge of care services is in place with 4 new 
strands for edge of care services. 

Permanence panel consistently considers birth family 
engagement and voice as well as ensure identity is 
appropriately covered in care planning 

Permanency audit in 2018 showing good progress 

Post Adoption/SGO support in place to reduce the 
number of family breakdowns leading to re-admission 
to care; to form part of the Care Placement Strategy  

Re-design complete. Strengthening Families and CP 
services have been re-designed and now form 
Children and family services rather than separate child 
protection and children need.  This is to deliver a 
whole-service approach and to have a strong skill mix 
to ensure improved assessment and care planning for 
children.  With dedicated staff to support children on 
the edge of care. 

Social workers showing greater insight into emotional 
needs, trigger points and support (practice summits) – 
CPR reports evidence this. 

Sept18 – Permanence team pilot launched 
(completion of CPRs) positive feedback and aim to roll 
out to all teams from June 2019. 

Mistle project implemented as part of Care Placement 
strategy to support most challenging young people in 
care to successfully experience family-based 
placements. 

Specialist foster carer provision successfully enabling 
children to return home through solo placements and 
intensive support. 

SDQ scores evidencing children in care better 
emotional wellbeing 

 

 Head of Service 
Field Social 
Work – Anita 
Gurry 

 

64



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

15.  Comprehensively review 
the current strategic plan 
for those young people 
not in education, 
employment or training 
(NEET), to ensure that a 
higher proportion of care 
leavers move to sustained 
education, employment 
or training. 

G 

 

Care Leavers are supported in 
education, employment or Training. 

 

Measure 

Percentage of care leavers in 
education, employment and training 
increases 

 

 

 

 

59.3% 

 

 

 

 

61% 

(Mar19) 

 

 

 

 

52% 

 

 

 

 

55% 

The review of the NEET Strategy has been completed 
and now includes a focus on care leavers. 
Underpinning actions like the restructuring of the 
Children in Care Service, access to Information, Advice 
and Guidance and collaborative work between the 
Virtual School (Fox Academy) and Leaving Care Team 
has progressed, and the latest Care Leavers in 
Education, Employment and Training data shows our 
figure of 61% to be higher than statistical neighbours 
on the back of 3 years of continuously improving 
rates.  

Apprenticeship Offer was submitted to the People’s 
Strategy Board May 2018 and was agreed. There are 
now 6 Care Leavers who have successfully secured 
apprenticeships. (Increase of 4 since November 18) 

Information, Advice and Guidance Service will not be 
commissioned externally, but will be managed in-
house, enabling greater flexibility of role, providing 
support for workers who have face to face contact 
with young people. 

Education Employment and Training (EET) panels to 
identify those most at risk of NEET are in place and will 
apportion appropriate support to improve 
engagement in EET. PAs are better informed and now 
have access to a wide range of resources, leading to 
them being better able to support client care leavers 
to be EET. 

EET Strategy has been launched and EET panels are 
calendared which is showing improved performance 

Action plan re: vulnerable learners launched. 

The Leaving Care Team with additional Personal 
Adviser support is embedded and demonstrates 
improved pathway planning with young people. 

Agreement from 5-member panel to put forward a 
member champion model for care leavers. Being 
presented to SGE in June19. 

 Head of Service 
Children in Care 
– Nicci Collins 

 

65



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

16.  Ensure that when 
homeless young people 
aged 16 and 17 need to 
be accommodated under 
section 20 of the Children 
Act 1989 that this is 
effected without delay. 

G 

Homeless young people have their 
needs assessed and if they require 
section 20 accommodation, plans 
and support are immediately in 
place. 

 

Measure 

Regular audits demonstrate 
compliance. 

o Homeless young people 16-17 
have appropriate assessments 
of need. 

o Young people deemed to be 
section 20 are provided with 
support in a timely manner. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QA audit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

QA audit 

 

 

 

 

 

System 
generat
ed 
reports 
show  

100% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

100% 

The protocol to accommodate young people aged 16 
and 17 under section 20 is in place and is reviewed 
regularly. 

Homeless 16 and 17-year olds are recognised as 
children in need and plans are prepared to consider 
their accommodation and importantly their networks 
and needs regarding moving into semi independence 
and adulthood. 

Housing protocol has been reviewed and is in final 
draft and has been signed off with new duties. 

Reviewed and refreshed direction to staff with regards 
to the need for single assessments undertaken and 
where appropriate s20 accommodation offered to 
those meeting criteria.  

New yearly audit for 2019 has been completed 

(Apr 2019) LCC has gone out to tender to look at 
different commissioning options for housing services 
to ensure mixed needs lead accommodation and 
support is in place. 

 

Yearly audit to be undertaken to 
ensure good practice (Business 
as usual) 

Nicci Collins 
Head of Service 
Children in Care 

 

Anita Gurry 
Head of 
Fieldwork 
Service  

 

66



    
 

Ref. Ofsted Recommendation 
Progress 
RAG  

 

Targets 

Outturn 
Performance 
2018/19 *not 

in position yet 
to update all 

Performance 
Q4 18/19 or 
by month 

Target 
March 
19 

Target 
March 
2020 

Evidence of Completion or Evidence of Progress by 
September 2018 

Further Actions in progress Lead Officer for 
further actions 

17.  Ensure that appropriate 
developmental 
programmes are in place 
for experienced and 
qualified staff, particularly 
for senior practitioners 
and first-line managers, 
and that the assessed and 
supported year in 
employment (ASYE) 
programme is 
appropriately overseen. 

G 

The development and embedding of 
an accredited programme to support 
social workers at all levels from ASYE 
through to Senior Practitioners and 
Team Managers in place.  Evidence a 
strong, stable and well informed 
professional workforce. 

 

Measure 

Stability of workforce: 
o Turnover rate of staff (FTE) 

o Number of qualified social 
workers 

o Vacancy rate 

o Number of agency staff (FTE) 

 

 

 

 

 

2018 Stat 
return 
(data 
released 
Feb19) 
13.7% 

228.1 

 
14% 

48.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Latest 
vacancy rate 
of 4.6% 
(Mar19) 
better 
performing 
than 
previous. 

248 
Qualified 
Social 
workers 
 

Turnover: 
13.3% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A refreshed ASYE programme is in place, with a 
handbook for workers and managers developed.   

Career progression pathway launched for social 
workers at Level 2.  
 
New programme for aspiring managers developed and 
will run from January 2019. 

Department continues to grow its good relationship 
with learning and development service ensuring 
robust programme of learning in place for all staff. 

Development of a robust professional gateway via a 
progression process and panel arrangement is in place 
(September 2018) 

Learning sessions take place monthly with managers 
across children’s social care providing tools and 
resources for them to take back to their teams on 
specific subjects e.g. neglect county lines, planning 
etc. 

3 annual conferences per year now established aimed 
at developing services for children and young people 
across the department and celebrating and sharing 
good practice.  

Recruiting aspiring managers and new first-time 
managers for the aspire course starting in January 
2019 

New routes into social work developed – 6 social work 
apprenticeships have been offered to non-SW staff  

4 Participants in the Front-Line scheme will qualify in 
August 2019 

Develop a more robust 
approach to induction so that 
there is consistency of messages 
and key documents are readily 
available electronically. 

Second Frontline unit to 
commence in September 2019  

Head of Service 
Practice 
Excellence – 
Moira O’Hagan 

 

 

 

67



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 4 JUNE 

2019 

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

PUPILS MISSING OUT ON EDCUATION IN LEICESTERSHIRE 

 
Purpose of the report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of Leicestershire children 

who are missing from education and the work taking place across the county to 
support them. 

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 

2. This report was requested by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 

November 2018, in response to the review of the ‘Forgotten Children: 

Alternative Provision and the Scandal of Ever Increasing Exclusions’ that was 

presented to the Committee.   The report highlighted the national concern 

around the rise in exclusions and referred to alternative provisions as the 

forgotten part of the education system.  Leicestershire’s position in relation to 

the concerns raised in the report were also presented.    

Background 

3. In November 2013 Ofsted published a report entitled ‘Pupils Missing out on 

Education’ which detailed how local authorities are required to fulfil their 

statutory duties regarding educational provision and safeguarding for those 

children who do not, or cannot, attend full-time education. The report defined 

Pupils Missing out on Education (PME) as children of compulsory school age 

who are not accessing full-time education (either in school or in alternative 

provision). In its guidance to schools and local authorities, Ofsted advised that 

all schools (including academies, free, independent, private and non-

maintained schools), must monitor pupils’ attendance through their daily 

register and must inform local authorities of pupils who are regularly absent 

from school or have missed 15 days or more (whether consecutive or 

cumulative) without permission. 

4. Further reports such as ‘Forgotten Children’ (July 2018) and ‘Skipping School: 

Invisible Children’ (2019) have highlighted concerns around the children who 

are missing out on educational opportunities due to a rise in exclusions; an 

69 Agenda Item 13

https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18825/1/Pupils%20missing%20out%20on%20education.pdf
https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18825/1/Pupils%20missing%20out%20on%20education.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdfhttps:/publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/cco-skipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/cco-skipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf


increase in the numbers of children having poor quality outcomes when 

accessing alternative provisions; families opting to home educate due to unmet 

SEN needs in mainstream settings; and children who are ‘off rolled’ when their 

needs are not being met within a mainstream setting.    

5. These reports concluded that if children are potentially ‘invisible’ they are at risk 

of not receiving an adequate education or at risk of harm. 

Statutory Duties of the Local Authority 

6. Schools must monitor pupils who are missing out on education and in most 

cases, they will remain the responsibility of the school where they are on roll. 

However, in some cases the statutory duty for a child’s education becomes the 

responsibility of the local authority, for example: - 

a. Children with Medical Needs: local authorities must arrange suitable full-

time education (or as much education as the child’s health condition 

allows) for children of compulsory school age who, because of illness, 

would otherwise not receive suitable education;  

b. Excluded Pupils: The Education (Provision of Full-Time Education for 

Excluded Pupils) (England) Regulation 2007 - the duty of a local 

education authority under section 19(1) and (3A) of the Education 1996 

Act(1) to make arrangements for the provision of suitable full-time 

education for a pupil of compulsory school age who is permanently 

excluded from a relevant school or pupil referral unit, or excluded from a 

pupil referral unit for a fixed period, on disciplinary grounds, the day from 

which the education must be provided is the relevant day. 

c. Children Missing Education (CME)-  Children missing education are 

children of compulsory school age who are not registered pupils at a 

school and are not receiving suitable education otherwise than at a 

school.  Local authorities have a duty under section 436A of the Education 

Act 1996 to make arrangements to establish the identities of children in 

their area who are not registered pupils at a school and are not receiving 

suitable education otherwise.  

d. Elective Home Education - Since April 2019 the Local Authorities duties 

have been further clarified by the DfE as there are no direct legal 

requirement for the authority regarding Home Education.  However the 

local authority does have powers at its disposal if it appears that a child is 

not receiving an adequate, safe or appropriate education:   

 Section s.13A of the Education Act 1996 - A local authority in England 

must ensure that its relevant education functions and training functions 

are (so far as they are capable of being so exercised) exercised by the 

authority with a view to—  

70

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550416/Children_Missing_Education_-_statutory_guidance.pdf


(a) promoting high standards,  

(b) ensuring fair access to opportunity for education and training, and  

(c) promoting the fulfilment of learning potential by every person to   

whom this subsection applies 

 

 Section 7 of the 1996 Act - requires parents to provide an efficient, full 

time education suitable to the age, ability and aptitude of the child and 

any special educational needs which the child may have. 

 Section s.437(1) of the Education Act 1996 in that the Local Authority 

must act if it appears that parents are not providing a suitable 

education.  

 Section 175 of the Education Act 2002 requires authorities to make 

arrangements for ensuring that their education functions are exercised 

with a view to safeguarding and promoting children’s welfare. 

Within Leicestershire, DfE guidance is followed in that informal enquiries 

will be made that include a request to see the child, either in the home or 

in another location which is offered by the Inclusion Team, but the parent 

is under no legal obligation to agree to this simply in order to satisfy the 

local authority as to the suitability of home education, although a refusal to 

allow a visit can in some circumstances justify service of a notice or if 

safeguarding concerns exist, report to social care.  

Summary of the Findings for Leicestershire – at 31 March 2019  
 
7. During April 2018-March 2019, 901 children were reported as pupils missing 

out on education from Leicestershire Schools.  These include children who 

remain under the responsibility of schools and those under the statutory 

arrangements of the local authority. Within the 2013 Ofsted guidance, the 

identification of vulnerable groups who are missing out on education are 

categorised as follows: - 

 Accessing alternative provision via Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

 Are carers 

 Children Missing Education (CME)  

 Circus and Showman families and alternative provision has been made 

 Complex needs and no suitable school place is available 

 Electively home educated (EHE) and the education has been deemed 
unsuitable 

 Gypsy Roma or Traveller background and alternative provision has been 
made 

 Have been permanently excluded 

 Have mental health needs and access CAMHS either as an in-patient or 
through services in the community 

 Medical needs other than mental health needs 

71



 Moved from another area and a school place has not been secured; this 
may include children who are looked after 

 Pupils who go missing during the school day 

 Rarely attend school and have personalised learning plans as part of 
attempts to reintegrate them into full time education 

 Social and behavioural needs and have personalised learning plans (and 
by arrangement do not attend their usual school full time). 

 
8. The following table indicates those being monitored and supported by schools 

and those who come under the local authority’s arrangements: 
 

Children Missing Out on Education by 
Category 

1/3/19 
Number 

LA 
Responsible 

& Team 
School 

Responsible 

Accessing alternative provision via Youth 
Offending Service (YOS) 63 60 - YOS 3 

Are carers 1 0 1 

Children Missing Education (CME)  
 34 

98* 
 Over 15 

days 

119* 
Under 15 
days or 

pursuing 
court 

proceedings 

Circus and Showman families & alternative 
provision has been made 39 0 39 

Complex needs and no suitable school place is 
available 13 2 - SENA 11 

Electively home educated (EHE) & the 
education has been deemed unsuitable 119 

119 –  
Inclusion 

Team 0 

Gypsy Roma or Traveller background & 
alternative provision has been made 23 0 23 

Have been permanently excluded 
 
 8 

3 - Oakfield 
5 - SEIPs 

21 – moved 
to another 

school 
following 
exclusion 

Have mental health needs and access CAMHS 
either as an in-patient or through services in 
the community 171 

78 –  
Inclusion 

Team 93 

Medical needs other than mental health needs 143 

26 – 
Inclusion 

Team 117 

Moved from another area and a school place 
has not been secured; this may include 
children who are looked after 12 

12 –  
Admissions/ 

Virtual 
School 0 

Pupils who go missing during the school day 28 0 28 

72



Rarely attend school & have personalised 
learning plans as part of attempts to 
reintegrate them into full time education 77 

4 – Inclusion 
Team 73 

Social & behavioural needs & have 
personalised learning plans (& by arrangement 
do not attend their usual school full time) 170 24 – Oakfield 146 

 
 
9. Analysis of the five-year trend in PME data shows an annual increase in the 

number of students missing education by the end of each academic year.   

 
 

10. Contributing factors to the increase includes: 

 increased pupil population between 2014-18;  

 an increase of Children with Medial Need who have Social Emotional 
Mental Health needs; 

 an increase in home educating where children’s education is deemed 
unsuitable, or parents have opted not to provide evidence that 
education is suitable;  

 schools utilising alternative provision to support students back in to 
education rather than permanently excluding;  

 improved reporting by schools and agencies of children who are not 
accessing education, through the development of a more robust 
process data collection systems.   

 
11. In comparison to 2017/18, 2018/19 has started to show a reduction in the 

number children being reported as missing education.  The reduction may be 

attributed to the High Needs Development work that is being developed across 

Children and Young People’s Services, where a range of activities are 

developing the infrastructure and building capacity within schools to ensure that 

the most vulnerable learners are able to access support early and prevent 

escalation of need.  

Exclusions 

 

12.  In 2018 there were 28 permanent exclusions. Most of these children received 
support through the Secondary Education and Inclusion Partnerships (SEIPs) 
or from Primary Graduated Response Practitioners from Oakfield Short Stay 
School prior to starting at a new school.   

 

73



13. The SEIPs and Oakfield Short Stay provide support to all publicly funded 

schools in Leicestershire for children and young people who have been 

permanently excluded from school or are at risk of permanent exclusion; 

Oakfield to Primary aged children and the SEIPs to secondary age groups.  

Both offer the following responses: 

 School to school support – this enables schools to access advice and 

strategies through educational panels and surgeries to help schools to 

retain the child in their existing setting.   

 Graduated response – this offers direct staff support within schools to 

enable the child/young person to remain in mainstream education in 

either their existing school or in supporting managed move transitions 

within new schools.  

 Educational Placements -  This may include a mixture of having some 

time on programme managed timetables out of school (at Oakfield or 

within the SEIPs local provision placements) to help manage the 

support needs of the child but to enable links within their existing 

school so they are able to return full time where appropriate. 

 Educational placements -  Where a child has been permanently 

excluded and an alternative school place cannot be identified.     

14. In 2018 there were 2996 fixed term exclusions 
 

15. Comparative data provided by the Department for Education (2018) shows that 
Leicestershire is below the regional and national rate for both permanent and 
fixed term exclusions. 

 

Regional Exclusion 
Rate 
2018 

Number of 
permanent 
exclusions  

Permanent 
exclusion 

rate  

Number of 
fixed period 
exclusions 

Fixed period 
exclusion 

rate  

ENGLAND  7,720 0.10 381,865 4.76 
          
EAST MIDLANDS  595 0.09 31,710 4.61 
Derby 38 0.09 2,102 5.00 
Derbyshire 126 0.12 4,752 4.46 
Leicester 14 0.03 1,899 3.47 
Leicestershire 28 0.03 2,996 3.10 
Lincolnshire 116 0.11 4,956 4.72 
Northamptonshire 122 0.11 5,277 4.62 
Nottingham 90 0.20 3,058 6.81 
Nottinghamshire 53 0.04 6,550 5.50 
Rutland 8 0.14 121 2.17 

 

 

 

 

74

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/permanent-and-fixed-period-exclusions-in-england-2016-to-2017


Developments within Leicestershire   

 

16. The following information provides an overview of the developments that have 
taken place over the last year to increase the capacity in the department to 
support vulnerable learners in Leicestershire. It is too early at present to set out 
any outcomes for the work.  

 
17. Work is currently underway in the department with partners to develop an 

Inclusion Pathway to build on and strengthen the support available for children 
at risk of missing out on education and to ensure that young people can access 
the correct support at the earliest opportunity.  The pathway will enable access 
to services at the earliest opportunity and build the capacity around vulnerable 
learners in main stream settings.  

 
18. During 2017/18 the department reviewed all service areas linked to school 

improvement and inclusion. Inclusion functions in the department are now 
managed by an Inclusion Manager who reports to the Head of Service for 
Education Quality and Inclusion. The inclusion functions bring together primary 
and secondary exclusions, children with medical needs, careers information 
advice and guidance and pupil’s services for children missing education, pupils 
missing education and elective home education.  

 
19. Since 1 September 2018 the Education Effectiveness team has been in place. 

This team reports to the Head of Service for Education Quality and Inclusion 
and has four officers aligned to a geographical cluster of schools in 
Leicestershire. A key focus of the team is to discuss school data linked to all 
aspects of pupil inclusion, permanent exclusion, fixed term exclusion, children 
missing education, pupils missing out on exclusion, pupils moving in, and out of 
school during mid-term periods, pupils leaving to access elective home 
education, and data linked to referrals to the medical needs team. This will 
allow the department to identify trends in exclusion and deploy support 
accordingly from the department.  

 
20. Over the last academic year, the SEIPs have reduced the use of Alternative 

Provision (AP) due to a combination of factors including increasing costs and 
quality of academic offers for young people. Since September 2018 a pilot 
bespoke ‘in house’ AP offer is taking place in the Loughborough SEIP meaning 
that fewer young people are attending education away from the local 
community. The pilot is also working with young people who are presenting with 
low level anxiety-based needs, to provide the most appropriate education to 
meet their needs. This pilot will be reviewed at the end of the 2018/19 
academic year.  

 
21. The Oakfield outreach offer is currently being developed in order to increase 

the number of skilled practitioners available to directly support children in their 
mainstream school when presenting with complex behaviour needs. This will 
offer an alternative to exclusion or a placement at the Oakfield Short Stay 
School which can be away from the child’s local community. 

 

75



22. In August-September 2018 the department’s Careers, Information and Advisory 
team and Pupil Services team were combined. This allowed the department to 
provide more targeted support to vulnerable young people who are not in 
education, employment or training, children with medical needs, children 
receiving Home Education, and children missing from education.   

 
23. The functions of Home Education were brought ‘in house’ from October 2018 to 

increase the capacity of staff being able to complete education quality 
assessments and respond to the needs of children and young people who were 
not receiving effective home tuition in a more effective way.    

 
Resource Implications 

 

24. There are currently no resource implications arising from the report. 

 

Conclusion 

 

25. The report identifies that there are a number of children in Leicestershire 

missing education for various reasons. Due to the significant changes being 

made across Education Services and the wider developments across Children 

and Young People’s Services, work has begun to develop services that identify 

children and young people who are vulnerable with an aim to build the capacity 

and capability of staff to respond to the needs of vulnerable children at an 

earlier stage. 

  

26. Whilst the work is in various stages of development, there has been a positive 

shift in the number of young people who are missing education both identified 

within school and who are being supported by the local authority.  

 

Background Papers 

Pupils Missing out on Education, Ofsted 2016 - 

https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18825/1/Pupils%20missing%20out%20on%20education.pdf  

 

Forgotten Children, July 2018 Forgotten Children, July 2018 - 

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdf  

 

Skipping School: Invisible Children, 2019 - 

https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/cco-

skipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf  

 

DfE Statutory Guidance: Alternative Provision - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/268940/alternative_provision_statutory_guidance_pdf_version.pdf  

76

https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18825/1/Pupils%20missing%20out%20on%20education.pdf
https://dera.ioe.ac.uk/18825/1/Pupils%20missing%20out%20on%20education.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdfhttps:/publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmeduc/342/342.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/cco-skipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/cco-skipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf
https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/cco-skipping-school-invisible-children-feb-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/268940/alternative_provision_statutory_guidance_pdf_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/268940/alternative_provision_statutory_guidance_pdf_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/268940/alternative_provision_statutory_guidance_pdf_version.pdf


DfE Statutory Guidance: Ensuring a good education for children who cannot attend 

school because of health needs - 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made  

 

Education Act 1996: The Education (Provision of Full-Time Education for Excluded 

Pupils) (England) Regulation 2007 - 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made  

 

Education Act 1996: Children Missing Education - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/550416/Children_Missing_Education_-_statutory_guidance.pdf  

 

Government statistics: Permanent and fixed period exclusions in England 2016 to 

2017 - www.gov.uk/government/statistics/permanent-and-fixed-period-exclusions-in-

england-2016-to-2017 

 

DfE Departmental Guidance for Local Authorities: Elective Home Education - 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach

ment_data/file/791527/Elective_home_education_gudiance_for_LAv2.0.pdf  

 

Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 

 

27. None. 

 

Equality and Human Rights Implications 

 

28. There are no equality or human rights implications arising from this report. 

 

Officers to Contact  

Paula Sumner 

Assistant Director – Early Help and Inclusion 

0116 3050546 

Paula.sumner@leics.gov.uk 

 

Alison Bradley,  

Head of Service - Education Quality and Inclusion 

0116 3058825 

Alison.Bradley@leics.gov.uk 

 

 

77

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/269469/health_needs_guidance__-_revised_may_2013_final.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/269469/health_needs_guidance__-_revised_may_2013_final.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2007/1870/regulation/4/made
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550416/Children_Missing_Education_-_statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550416/Children_Missing_Education_-_statutory_guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/550416/Children_Missing_Education_-_statutory_guidance.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/permanent-and-fixed-period-exclusions-in-england-2016-to-2017
http://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/permanent-and-fixed-period-exclusions-in-england-2016-to-2017
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/791527/Elective_home_education_gudiance_for_LAv2.0.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/791527/Elective_home_education_gudiance_for_LAv2.0.pdf
mailto:Paula.sumner@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Bradley@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE: 4 
JUNE 2019  

 
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY 

SERVICES 
 

LEICESTERSHIRE CHILDREN AND FAMILIES PARTNERSHIP 
PLAN 2018 – 2021 PROGRESS UPDATE 

 
Purpose of the report 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to present a progress update on the Children and 
Families Partnership Plan 2018-21. 
  

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 

2. The Children and Families Partnership Plan is aligned to the Leicestershire County 
Council Strategic Plan and focuses on the added value of approaching strategic 
priorities across the partnership to ensure consistent communication and service 
delivery to children and families. 
 

3. In November 2016 the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the terms of reference 
for a Children and Families Partnership to replace the Supporting Leicestershire 
Families Executive as a subgroup of the Health and Wellbeing Board. The expanded 
remit included oversight of how the priorities for children and families as set out in the 
draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, are delivered.  

 
4. In May 2018, the Health and Wellbeing Board approved the Children and Families 

Partnership Plan for 2018-21.  In June 2018, the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee considered the Plan prior to it being approved by the Cabinet on 
12 June 2018.  It was agreed that progress on the delivery of the Plan would be 
received regularly. 

 
Background 
 

5. The Children and Families Partnership Plan is a strategic document which sets out 
the shared vision for children, young people and their families and the priority 
outcomes that need to be improved. The Plan is not intended to be a detailed 
description of the individual work of each partner, but rather a summary of key areas 
of work that are best delivered together to have the biggest impact on the lives of 
children and young people. 

 
6. The Partnership has adopted the five supporting outcomes of the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy relating to children and young people as the priority areas 
for the Plan: 
 

 

79 Agenda Item 14



 

i. Ensure the best start in life– by developing an integrated early years pathway which 
ensures needs are assessed to enable appropriate interventions are offered and the 
development of a communication strategy to promote the 1001 critical days; 
 

ii. Keep children safe and free from harm – by developing and embedding an integrated 
model of services to prevent harm to children and young people and make children 
safe by raising awareness of universal safety messages; 

 
iii. Support children and families to be resilient - by developing an integrated approach 

to family resilience and self-sufficiency, provide joined up information and guidance 
to enable families to be self-sufficient and navigate services and support families to 
progress towards work; 

 
iv. Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support – by 

providing integrated, outcome-based, high quality, cost-effective provision and 
developing a post-16 multi-agency delivery model; 

 
v. Enable children to have good physical and mental health - by developing a whole 

system approach based on ‘Making obesity everyone’s business’ and developing a 
partnership approach to emotional and mental wellbeing; 

 
Progress to date 
 

7. The Plan was officially launched on 20 September 2018, with representatives from 
local councils, the police, schools, NHS, the voluntary sector and other agencies 
attending a special event at County Hall. 

8. Priority leads are working with partners and other key stakeholders to deliver the 
action plans agreed against each outcome. The full action plan, including progress 
against each outcome at the end of year one of the plan (2018 – 19) is detailed at 
Appendix A.  Key progress highlights are as follows; 

 
Priority 1 - Ensure the best start in life 
 

 Work has started on an e-learning module for the 0 - 5 sector for a graduated 4 step 
approach (Advice line, Drop-ins, Area SENCO support and Specialist Teaching input 
via panel); 
 

 The training of Improvement Advisors to take on an Area SENCO role to provide 
support to early years providers; 

 

 The release of the next stages of communications on school readiness, aimed at 
educating parents, which resulted in:  

 
i. September 2018 to April 2019 - a total of 1,440 views resulting in 416 requests 

for more information via Facebook and 17 via Twitter (mobile 56%, desktop 
37%, tablet 7%).  

 
ii. 16 January to 28 February 2019 spring campaign – a total of 2,840 views via 

Facebook and 19,317 Twitter impressions (representing the number of times 
the post showed up on a person’s device, including mobile and tablet). 

 

80



 

 
Priority 2 - Keep children safe and free from harm 
 

 The Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Operations Group has met to agree plans for 
expanding the CSE hub remit to include Child Criminal Exploitation (CCE); 

 

 The Vulnerabilities Executive has agreed that the CSE Operations Group be re-
formed into a Vulnerabilities Operations Group, following wide recognition across the 
partnership that there is a need to develop and align operational responses to CCE; 

 

 Funding has been secured for a partnership position of Strategic Lead for CCE which 
will work to develop the operational responses and make sure these are aligned 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland. 

 
Priority 3 - Support children and families to be resilient 
 

 Workshops led by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) are taking place in 
the Hinckley and Bosworth area to understand the barriers to work for people living in 
the district. If this approach proves successful it will be rolled out across the County. 

 
Priority 4 - Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support 
 

 A new ‘Promise’ to children in care and care leavers has been launched by 
Leicestershire County Council and its partners. The development of the promise, 
which has involved considerable input from young people from within the care 
system, accompanies a series of measures agreed by partners, including the 
county’s seven district councils, the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner and 
the Combined Fire Authority to support young people in, or who have left, the care 
system. 

 
Priority 5 - Enable children to have good physical and mental health 
 

 Public Health England has published a suite of Maternal Health resources which are 
being adapted for use at a local level (from pre-conception to post-natal);  

 

 A Maternal Obesity stakeholder event held on 31 October 2018 has informed actions 
concerning how to raise the issue before, during and after pregnancy; 

 

 Meetings have been held with Nottinghamshire and Lincolnshire County Councils to 
learn from how they have developed an Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) 
trauma informed approach across their counties. A stakeholder event took place on 
21 May 2019 to agree the first steps for developing a Leicestershire approach to 
ACEs. 
 

Future Developments 
 

9.  Action Plans for 2019 – 20 are being developed for the five priority areas and it is             
expected that by June 2019 progress will include:- 

 

 The launch of a leaflet to promote ‘1001 Critical Days’ key messages to parents; 

 The launch of a new school readiness social media campaign and “toolkit” for 
professionals; 

81



 

 The remodelling of the LCC Inclusion Service and the Inclusion Pathway; 

 The agreement of a new Housing Protocol to enable housing applications from 17.5 
year olds 

 
10.   A communications plan for 2019 – 20 is also being developed to improve cross-

 partnership and wider communication on progress against the partnership plan and 
 to share other relevant information and updates, clearly and consistently across the 
 partnership. A partnership logo is being developed for use on partnership related 
 resources and communications and will be made available for use by partners. 
 

11.  The partnership’s webpage will also be refreshed. The current partnership page is 
 hosted on the Leicestershire County Council website: 
 (https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/leicestershire-children-and-families-partnership)  

 The page incorporates the partnership’s branding and makes reference to the wide 
 membership of the Board; however it has been acknowledged that it has the County 
 Council’s corporate look. The ‘Better Care Together’ microsite has been identified by 
 partners as a good example of a partnership approach. The Council expects the 
 creation of a similar microsite would cost in the region of £10,000. Other options 
 being considered are for a partner to develop and administer a microsite or for the 
 Council to re-develop the current partnership page so that the look and feel is less 
 corporate, as has already been done for the special needs and disability page: 
 (https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-and-disability) 

 It is expected that a decision concerning the refresh of the partnership’s webpage will 
 be made following further discussion at the Children and Families Partnership Board 
 meeting on 26 June 2019.  

 
Background papers 
 
Report to the Health and Wellbeing Board – May 2018 - Leicestershire Children and 
Families Partnership Plan 2018/2021. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=5298&Ver=4 
 
Report to the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee – June 2018 – 
Draft Children and Families Partnership Plan 2018-21. 
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=5323&Ver=4  
 
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure 
 
None. 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
12. The Partnership has an interest in ensuring that there are effective arrangements in 
 place so that the services provided meet the identified needs of local people. An 
 EHIRA assessment has been carried out in relation to the impacts of the Plan. 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Children and Families Partnership Plan Annual Progress Update (2018 -
2019) 
 
Appendix B – Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership plan on a page 
 

82

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/leicestershire-children-and-families-partnership
https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/education-and-children/special-educational-needs-and-disability
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=5298&Ver=4
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1043&MId=5323&Ver=4


 

 
Officer to Contact 
 
Jane Moore 
Director of Children and Family Services  
Tel: 0116 305 2649 
Email: jane.moore@leics.gov.uk  
 
Liz Perfect 
Head of Service - Commissioning & Planning 
Tel: 0116 305 4814 
Email: liz.perfect@leics.gov.uk 
 
Mala Razak 
Children and Families Partnership Manager 
Tel: 0116 305 8055 
Email: mala.razak@leics.gov.uk  
  
 

 

83

mailto:jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:liz.perfect@leics.gov.uk
mailto:mala.razak@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A – Children and Families Partnership Plan Annual Progress Update (2018 -2019) 

Annual Summary (2018 - 19) Priority 1:  Ensure the best start in life.    
Priority Lead: Jane Moore, Director Children and Family Services    

Focus areas Actions End of year 1 – Where are we 
now?  

What’s working well? What are we worried 
about? 

Year 2 - What needs to happen?  

1.1  
To develop an 
integrated Early 
Years Pathway to 
ensure the needs of 
vulnerable children 
are identified 

Development of a 
partnership 
pathway to 
ensure children 
are assessed and 
appropriate, 
proportionate 
interventions are 
offered 

Draft pathway materials have 
been developed jointly (early 
help, health and education). 
Consultation to take place 
with parent/carers.  
Draft will then be shared with 
CFP Board for agreement. 
Work has begun on e-learning 
module on Quality First 
Teaching graduated 4 step 
approach for 0 -5 sector  
(Advice line, Drop-ins, Area 
SENCO support, Specialist 
Teaching input via panel) 
Currently training 
Improvement Advisors to 
take on Area SENCO role. 

The journey within LCC and 
with partners is progressing 
well and together we have 
been able to achieve a 
significant culture change:   
- beginning to consider new 
approaches 
- panel forms reviewed with 
stakeholder input 
- moving to working all year 
round to support children in 
provision 

Currently an over 
reliance on specialist 
teacher support because 
of the dominance of the 
PVI sector (no QTS and 
SENCO support in 
Leicestershire). 
 
Some services/ 
practitioners have a 
historical perception of 
ways of working with 
children (diagnosed 
children rather than early 
identification) 

By June 19 -  70 providers to be 
accessing drop-ins (representing a 
5% increase)  
By Sept 19 – All providers will 
have named Area SENCO with 
expectation of minimum 2 visits 
per term 
By Dec 19 –  30 children (10% of 
cohort) to be receiving specialist 
teacher support receive intensive 
support then moved to 
monitoring 
By March 20 – to see a 10% 
reduction in children coming to 
early years panel (baseline Aug ’18 
of 300 cases)  

1.2 

To develop a shared 
understanding of 
the importance of 
the first 1001 
Critical Days and 
school readiness 

Develop a 
communication 
strategy to deliver 
a campaign to 
share key 
messages from 
1001 Critical Days 
with professionals 
and parents 

Consultation undertaken with 
professionals to ascertain 
current understanding of the 
1001 Critical Days which will 
inform the communication 
strategy  

Training and information 
sessions being delivered to on 
the importance of 1001 
Critical Days. 

Work started on leaflet for 
parents to share key 

4 sessions delivered to LCC 
early years, SEND, portage 
and further sessions planned 
to foster fostering team, 
foster carers, adoption team, 
ICPC conference chairs) 

20 minute presentation 
resources ready to be rolled 
out.  

2 working group meetings 
held to progress the parent 

Experiencing challenges 
with engaging wider 
partners in the working 
groups  

 

By June 19 - to launch parent 
leaflet   
- to establish quarterly steering 
group and 6 weekly working group 
meetings and to achieve buy-in 
and stable attendance from all 
partners in order to give the work 
momentum. 
 
By Sept 19 – LCC to re-commission 
Baby Beginnings programme (or 
similar if sent out to tender) and 
ensure 1001 days key messages 

85



messages  leaflet   are strongly embedded. 

By Dec 19 – Training sessions to 
be delivered to staff across CFS 
and partners.  
-Pool of staff able to deliver 
training sessions to be identified 
across partners  
 
By March 20 – 1001 days key 
messages to be included across 
CFWS and midwifery/health clinics 
and interventions such as bumps 
to babies  
-Sessions to be delivered to 
schools/early years settings 

Develop a shared 
definition of 
school readiness 
and the support 
required for 
children and 
families in order 
for them to be 
school ready 

School Readiness definition 
leaflets for professionals and 
parents launched in Sept 18, 
materials shared across 
partnership and live on 
dedicated webpage 
7000 leaflets distributed by 
health to parents with 
children due to start school in 
Sept 2019  
 

Good engagement from 
health, social care and 
education. 
Media coverage - well 
received (feedback is it covers 
all children, including SEND) 

Children from FSM 
cohorts are not achieving 
as well as their peers 

By June 19 – to hold school 
readiness conference to launch 
toolkit for professionals 

By Sept 19 – portal to be put in 
place for parents to access 
eligibility for FSM which will 
increase pupil premium and 
support for foundation stage 
children and to contribute to 
improved EYFSP results (48% 
currently) 

By Dec 20 – 30 practitioners from 
schools and PVI to be trained to 
support children at risk of delay 
with early language skills 

By March 20 -  Youtube video for 
parents to be launched - to help 
access activities to try at home to 
support school readiness 

86



Annual Summary (2018 - 19) Priority 2: Safe and free from harm 
Priority Lead: Detective Superintendent Matt Ditcher, Public Protection Lead, Leicestershire Police 

Focus areas Actions End of year 1 – Where are we 
now?  

What’s working well? What are we worried about? Year 2 - What needs to 
happen?  

2.1 
To develop and 
embed an 
integrated 
model of 
services to 
prevent harm to 
children and 
young people 

2.1.1 
Explore 
opportunities for a 
Multi- Agency 
Safeguarding Hub 
(MASH) model to 
support the 
application of 
thresholds and 
accessibility to 
shared information.  

 

Work undertaken to better integrate 
services and strengthen one front 
door approach.  
Steering group met in Sept to consider 
integrated front door approach. 
Partner briefing session held on police 
process mapping to identify any 
duplications and overlaps and agree 
pathway for DA. 
LCC and Police have reviewed 
effectiveness and efficiency of own 
internal processes in order to be a 
better position to align with partners. 
Police review will include designing 
improved pathways into health. 

Have now embedded practice 
of joint reviewing and screening 
at front door (especially around 
DV and child concerns) that 
enable us to review concerns in 
a timely and effective way by of 
being co-located at Wigston 
Police Station  
 
 

The integrated model between 
Police and LCC has been 
developed as far as practicable 
within current resources.  
Embedding other colleagues into 
the co-located arrangement 
would enhance the model, 
however we recognise that 
budget constraints are a barrier 
to this. 
 

Action now closed work will be 
progressed under new action: 
 
2.1.6  
Identify, implement and align 
operational responses to Child 
Criminal Exploitation (CCE) 
across LLR -which will include 
the analysis, collection, sharing 
of intelligence 
 
Strategic Lead to be appointed 
(April/May ‘19).  
Strategic Lead to work with 
partners to develop operational 
responses to prevent, detect 
and deter CCE. Actions to be 
developed once Strategic Lead is 
in post. 

2.1.2 
To develop a multi-
agency pathway for 
the review and 
analysis of domestic 
abuse incidents 
affecting children.  

Pilot has been implemented and is 
now being embedded within Police 
and CSE hub.  
A review will be undertaken by Police 
and LCC (Sept 2019) to assess how 
well this has been embedded. 

  Action now closed. Work will be 
progressed under new action 
2.1.6  

2.1.3 
Implement daily 
MARAC meetings (to 
align with S47)  

Daily MARAC implemented on 21
st

 
January 2019. 
  

  Action completed and closed  

2.1.4 
Agree the future 
partnership plan for 
child criminal and 
sexual exploitation 
and missing from 

Key members of CSE Ops group have 
met to agree future plans for 
expanding CSE hub remit to include 
CCE (Child Criminal Exploitation). 
Vulnerabilities Executive met on 1

st
 

Feb 2019. Agreement for CSE Ops 

Really positive that partners are 
coming together to discuss 
ways of working together and 
moving this agenda forward.  
There is agreement and 
recognition and all partners are 

 Action now closed. Work will be 
progressed under new action 
2.1.6  
 

87



home  
 
 

Group to be formed into 
Vulnerabilities Ops group. 
Wide recognition across partnership 
that we need to develop and align our 
own operational responses to CCE. 
Funding has been secured for a 
partnership position of Strategic Lead 
for CCE which will work to develop the 
operational responses and make sure 
these are aligned across LLR. 

on board and driving this 
through at pace. 

2.1.5 
Analysis of 
intelligence in 
relation to all forms 
of child criminal 
exploitation to 
identify “threat and 
risk” to inform our 
preventative 
strategy and drive 
operational activity.  
 
 

Work is underway across LCC and 
Police to develop a pathway and tool 
for identifying and mapping children 
and young people involved in criminal 
exploitation (links to work being led 
by Anita Gurry/ Donna Smalley in the 
region).  
Tool is still being developed and paper 
will go to LSCB Board in March to 
inform/update partners on progress 

Dissemination of gang 
association tool across SC 
workforce. 
Pathway into prevention 
services that dovetails into 
existing safeguarding processes. 

Sharing of concerns around 
County Lines and exploitation has 
increased – need to develop 
operational responses to tackle 
this. 

Action now closed. Work will be 
progressed under new action 
2.1.6  
 
Timeframe for the development 
and launch of Child Criminal 
Exploitation tool and associated 
resources will be agreed by June 
‘19.  
Roll-out will be managed 
through the Vulnerabilities Ops 
group and signed off by the 
Vulnerabilities Executive. 

2.2 
To make 
children safe by 
raising 
awareness of 
universal safety 
messages  

2.2.1 
Map gaps and 
duplication in 
universal activity 
delivered across the 
partnership and 
identify key learning 
to be delivered / 
priority cohorts. 

Serious harm reduction unit in police 
have been promoting county lines and 
exploitation of children (internally and 
across partners and public)  

 

 Knife crime has been identified 
by young people across 
Leicestershire as a key area of 
concern.  

All partners have a role to play in 
addressing knife carrying and 
related crime. Are agencies taking 
appropriate actions and making 
appropriate referrals when they 
identify children and young 
people carrying knives?   

Concerns around funding across 
the partnership for comms 
activity around universal safety 
messages.  

Have been able to cover CSE and 
CCE through existing resources 

Action now closed. Work will be 
progressed under new action in 
recognition of knife crime as an 
emerging issue and the risk of 
harm to children and young 
people). Actions to be 
developed once Strategic Lead is 
in post. 

2.1.7 
To develop and integrate a 
model across the partnership to 
recognise, respond to and 
prevent knife crime 
 

 

 

88



but if we are wanting to widen 
out we will need additional 
resources. 

 

2.2.2 
Develop a comms 
strategy, training 
plan and resources 
to support 
professionals in the 
delivery of safety 
messages (real and 
virtual world). 

CSE communications strategy in place 
and will be expanded to encompass 
wider risk areas. (action aligned to 
existing CSE comms strategy). 
 
Police CSE comms lead is working on a 
directory of local and universal 
campaign materials. 
 
Have introduced an electronic, 
partnership CSE/CE newsletter. The 
bulletin will be issued every four 
months and include information about 
new initiatives, campaigns and 
projects, details of new legislation, a 
round-up of recent, successful 
investigations and convictions, 
national issues and details of good 
work and awards. The aim is to ensure 
all practitioners across the county are 
up-to-date with the work being 
undertaken by police and partners to 
raise greater awareness of CCE.   

Breck’s Last Game, the major new film 
aimed at protecting children from 
online grooming, along with a 
comprehensive resource pack, is 
currently being rolled out to schools 
across Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland following its launch in 
September 2018. 
 
CSE briefings are being delivered to 
partners (including GPs) and preferred 
resources (posters etc) are being 
shared. 

The feedback from schools on 
Breck’s Last Game is 
overwhelmingly positive. One 
teacher said she found it 
“interesting and vital to teach, 
especially from the angle that 
we were not trying to scare the 
pupils but instead empower 
them to understand how to use 
the internet safely and also, 
seek assistance, and know 
where to obtain help from, if 
required.” 

Have developed closer links 
with licensing by setting up a 
task and finish group to agree a 
new suite of CSE training 
materials for the night time 
economy including taxis and 
licensing which have been 
ratified by the CSE, Missing and 
Trafficked Ops group. They 
have now been distributed 
across LLR via the CSPs. 

Held a very successful 
partnership CSE/ CCE gangs and 
county lines training day on 
January 21st for professionals 
across LLR which was fully 
booked and received extremely 
well.     

 

Some issues communicating with 
secondary schools regarding the 
Breck’s Last Game offer. There 
are several channels for doing 
this but despite utilising all of 
these there are still some schools 
to claiming to know nothing 
about the film or resource pack 

By June 19 - Refresh CSE/CCE 
comms plan   

89



Annual Summary (2018 - 19) Outcome 3: Support Families to be Self Sufficient and Resilient              
Outcome Lead: Jane Toman, Chief Executive, Blaby District Council   

Focus areas Actions End of year 1 – Where are we now?  What’s working well? What are we worried 
about? 

Year 2 - What 
needs to happen?  

3.1  
To develop an 
integrated 
approach to 
family resilience 
and self-
sufficiency 

Work with partners to understand 
needs, identify gaps and explore 
opportunities for integration and 
integrated commissioning 

A collective mapping process will be 
undertaken to understand partners' 
involvement. Future identified actions will 
follow once this work has been completed 

Work is underway  Identify gaps and 
opportunities from 
the mapping exercise 

3.2 
To enable 
families to 
navigate 
services  

Provide joined up information and 
guidance to enable children, 
young people and families to be 
self-sufficient and navigate 
services 
 

Named “champions” have been identified 
from partner organisations to ensure 
regular updating of re-vamped Directory. 
The new Leicestershire Information & 
Support Directory (LISD) is now live and 
going through a soft launch for testing 
prior to a formal re-launch.  

Complete Some concerns that this is 
an LCC owned and that 
other information and 
guidance is being developed 
by other partners  

Complete 

3.3 
To support 
families to 
progress 
towards work  
 

Enterprise advisers linked to every 
secondary school / academy 

Mapping of schools/academies linked to 
Enterprise Advisors complete and gaps 
identified. Numbers of EA's are increasing. 
Some schools are participating as national 
pilots of the Careers Hub. 

Regular updates on number of 
EA is provided by the LEP and 
numbers are increasing across 
the County 

Nothing, progressing well Every school has an 
EA 

Engage with businesses locally to 
build resilience and offer 
supported opportunities available 
for SEND children 

Not started This has been a difficult 
priority to progress as funding 
picture is unclear  

  

Raise profile and awareness of 
DWP work coaches to help 
overcome barriers to work 

Workshops taking place to understand 
barriers to work for people in HBBC, being 
led by DWP. If successful, this will be 
rolled out across the County area 

Working well 

 

Limited number of work 
coaches within the DWP 

Rollout of DWP work 
coaching sessions 

Encourage people to become part 
of their communities 
(volunteering) 

Will ensure community and volunteering 
opportunities are link into the LSID when 
launched to ensure promotion 

Not yet started  Promote LSID and 
include volunteering 
opportunities 

90



Annual Summary (2018 - 19) Outcome 4: Ensure vulnerable families receive personalised, integrated care and support 
Outcome Lead: Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director of Children and Family Services  

Focus areas Actions End of year 1 – Where are we 
now?  

What’s working well? What are we worried about? Year 2 - What needs to 
happen?  

4.1  
To provide 
integrated, 
outcome-based, 
high quality, 
cost effective 
provision    

4.1.1 
Identify 
opportunities for 
integrated 
commissioning of 
direct payments, 
short breaks, play 
and leisure. 
 

LCC CFS, CCG and LCC A&C are 
working together to consider 
commissioning opportunities for 
Short Break residential provision 
that will ensure a joint pathway of 
care for Children/Young Adults 
with Disabilities 
 

Joint Priorities have been agreed 
for the SEN Strategy and a meeting 
with the CCG has been arranged to 
consider the development of a 
Joint Strategic Commissioning 
Board and a review of the 
Complex Care Panel. 

The Complex Care Panel is very 
health focused and is currently not 
considering all Integrated 
Commissioning.  

Terms of reference for the CCP 
appear to be about determining 
eligibility to Continuing Care.  
These need to be reviewed. 

 

Amend wording of action 4.1.1 to 
reflect new focus: 
4.1.1a Identify opportunities for 
integrated assessment and 
commissioning of appropriate 
resources (direct payments or 
complex care packages)   
4.1.1b Review the current 
Complex Care Panel pathway/ 
protocol and develop an approach 
that considers complex needs and 
solution focused responses 

4.1.2 
Develop an 
Inclusion strategy 
to ensure a 
partnership 
approach in 
meeting the 
needs of 
vulnerable 
children and 
young people in 
inclusive settings. 
 
 

LCC Inclusion Manager appointed 
on a 2 year fixed term contract 
from July 2018. The Inclusion 
Manager has direct reports from 
Elective Home Education (EHE), 
Children with Medical Needs, 
CME, Pupils Missing Education and 
Advice, Information and Guidance 
teams, and oversight of the 
primary and secondary behaviour 
partnerships.  
These service areas offer support 
back to schools, including the 
writing of inclusion pathways and 
inclusion strategy.  

From September 2019 the work of 
the inclusion manager area has 
formed part of the High Needs 
Development plan, with updates 
being reported to the High Needs 
Board as appropriate.  
The pathway group have been 
meeting at regular points, and 
their work is being incorporated in 
the High Needs Development Plan 
work strands.  
Direct work and co-ordination 
where permanent exclusions have 
occurred to consider if needs have 
been met by the school prior to 
exclusions- enabling accountability 
around exclusions  

The increase in number of young 
people in EHE with unmet SEN 
needs. 
 
Exclusions of vulnerable students 
with unmet SEN needs. 
 
Gaps in services around non-
attendance for young people with 
SEMH 
 
There are times when it is difficult 
to get a LAC including UASC into a 
school provision (to include in 
inclusion pathway) 

By June 2019 
Remodelling of Inclusion Service  
Development of pathway 
structures (strategy, gather 
information for pathway design, 
identify gaps in services) 
Data development of identified 
needs of cohorts linking this to 
other services 
Development of Surgeries at 
secondary level 
Recruitment to Inclusion Co-
ordinator 
Review of SEIPS agreement 
 
By Sept 2019 
Process development for inclusion 
team following recruitment to new 
rolls 
Consultation and Website 
development for pathway 
 
By Dec 2019 
Promotions of Inclusion Pathway  
Extension of locality model for 

91



surgeries at Primary/Early Years 
level  
 
By March 2020 
Review tracking data sets to 
ensure they meet requirements 

4.1.3 
Develop a 
wraparound 
therapeutic 
services model to 
support step-
downs from 
residential care 
 

MISTLE contract awarded to 
Action for Children.  
Operational meetings have been 
set up to identify targeted young 
people and actively recruiting 
specialist carers.  
Continuing to publicise the 
pathway.  
Contract and referral panels in 
place and targeted young people 
being worked with. 

Action for Children involved in the 
training and recruitment of foster 
carers. 
 
 

Still early in the process to 
measure achievement/impact for 
young people. 
 
Challenge in recruiting level 6 
carers. Continuing to work on this. 

MISTLE contract includes 
performance targets against which 
performance will be monitored 
quarterly.  
 

4.2 
To develop a 
post 16 multi-
agency delivery 
model 

4.2.1a 
Development of 
post 16 strategy 
/delivery model 
 

16+ model: 
Working group for design of 16+ 
model (including housing reps) 
meeting on a regular basis.  
Further review, visits and 
children’s voice work undertaken.  
Option paper prepared for 
consideration at LCC SMT in Dec 
’18 (agreed to extend Adullam 
contract for further 12 months).  
 
The review of the housing protocol 
is in draft waiting for sign off by 
LCC SMT/DMT and will need to be 
presented to Cabinet. 

Monthly meetings are held with a 
representative from the district 
councils to aid designing a new 
service specification. 

Looking at tying in the 
accommodation for young people 
at risk of homelessness with the 
accommodation that is currently 
provided by our 16+ providers. 
This will be achieved by including 
the requirements in the current 
framework that we have for 
providing accommodation for LAC 
aged 16/17. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Amend wording of action 4.2.1a to 

reflect new focus: “Development 

of multi-agency protocol for 16 
and 17 year olds at risk of 
homelessness” 
 
By Sept 2019 
To continue with the joining up of 
the two contracts which support 
16/17 year olds with a view to this 
being finalised and launched from 
August 2019 
 
By Dec 2019- To have protocol and 
plan signed off by August 2019, 
with commissioning to follow  

4.2.1b 
Development of 
Care Leaver Offer 
 

Care Leavers: 
The Care Leaver Offer based on 
the extended duty was sent to 
Care Leavers aged 21-25.  
The LCC team was enhanced, 
through growth of personal 
advisors, with a clear drive for 
purposeful and ambitious 
relationships with our young 

Multi-agency High Risk Panel is 
now well embedded with clear 
evidence of impact on specific 
young people; 

EET has improved across all age 
groups  

Suitable accommodation has 

DWP engagement in High Risk 
Panel and C&F Partnership. 

Health Services commitment to 
Care Leavers and their offer. 

Mental Health responses to young 
people aged 17+ and the ‘cliff 
edge’ with adult mental health 

by May 2019 – LCC 6 
apprenticeships are used  

by June 2019 – Housing protocol 
agreed, including accepting 
housing applications at age 17.5 
years 

by March 2020 -  DWP is an active 

92



people. 
 
 

improved across all age groups 

Care Leaver ring-fenced 
apprenticeships is up and running 

SYPAC remains strong with 
increased attendance at the end of 
last year. 

services 

Pushing for the Housing Protocol 
to be empathetic 

NEET and Suitable 
Accommodation is less effective 
for young people aged 21+ 

Ensuring that SYPAC is accessible 
for the most vulnerable of our 
Care Leavers. 

 

member of Partnership  

DWP is a member of Corporate 
Parenting Board   

Agreed protocol with CAMHS and 
health about continuity of 
provision for older young people 

Employment, training and 
sponsorship is created through 
LLEP  

Mentoring scheme is established 

4.2.2 
Review integrated 
pathways to 
adulthood for 
children with SEN 
and disabilities 
 

LCC Pathway to Adulthood 
Protocol now developed by 
Children and Families and Adults 
and Communities.  
Transitions event held on 27th 
June to develop the pathway. 
Launched September 2018. 
 
As yet there is no systematic 
evidence of impact of the new 
pathway. However, there are 
emerging examples of good 
practice, including complex cases 
where there has been improved 
planning between children’s and 
adult services. 
 
An additional Service Manager is 
now being appointed within the 
Transitions Team (together with 6 
additional Transitions Workers).  
The SM will have a 0.5fte 
responsibility to coordinate and 
drive this work forward. 

The Pathway document is 
available on the Local Offer 
website and has been publicised 
through the schools newsletter, 
SENDC Net meetings and other 
Forums.  Training has been 
provided to SENCOs and other 
practitioners on how to write good 
quality outcome focussed plans.  

Dialogue has taken place with FE 
providers about the post 19 offer 
and there is a shared vision about 
how to move forward. 

Early discussions with Adult 
Services about accommodation 
needs into the future, including a 
commitment to explore provision 
that could support young people 
into adulthood with greater 
continuity pre and post 18yrs. 

A governance structure is now in 
place, including a Transitions 
Board with LCC CFS, LCC A&C, 
Parent Carer Forum and Health 
representation.   

The governance structure beneath 
the Transitions Board includes five 
sub groups.   There has been a lack 
of capacity to drive the work of 
these groups forward.  

Adult Transition Team have 
started to work with some young 
people prior to 17yrs and priority 
cohorts are being identified. 

SENA now have an established 
‘post 16’ Team (SENO and 2 
casework officers) to prioritise 
transitions work 

Each of the 5 work streams 
reporting to the Transitions Board 
to have an identified lead and 
pattern of meetings established by 
30 April 2019. 

Paper to DMT to agree revised 
funding arrangements for FE 
Colleges by end of June 2019 

Adult’s Transitions Team to be 
fully staffed by end of June 2019, 
including SM Lead for Transitions 
Pathway (by end of April 2019) 

Systematic process for evaluating 
service user views on 
EHCP/Annual Review process to be 
in place from September 2019 

93



Annual Summary (2018 - 19) Outcome 5: Ensure good physical and mental health 
Outcome Leads: Mel Thwaites, Assistant Director, Leicester City CCG and Jane Roberts, Strategic Commissioner Public Health 

Focus areas Actions End of year 1 – Where are we now?  What’s working well? What are we worried 
about? 

Year 2 - What needs to 
happen?  

5.1  
To make 
obesity 
everyone’s 
business 

Develop a whole 
system approach 
to obesity based 
on “Making 
obesity 
everyone’s 
business” 

Maternal Healthy Weight Actions are being 
implemented:   
-Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust has agreed to 
embed Maternal Obesity as part of the Making Every 
Contact Count (MECC) conversation 
-The STP has agreed to include Maternal Obesity in the 
‘MECC Workforce Capability Toolkit’ which is under 
development  
-A maternal obesity module is being developed for LPTs 
online MECC training offer –this can be used by other 
partners (eg UHL, LCC) 
-Public Health England have published a suite of 
Maternal Health resources which are being adapted for 
use at a local level  
-Maternal Obesity stakeholder event (31 October 2018) 
has informed actions going forward (how to raise the 
issue before, during and after pregnancy) 
-Literature Review of the evidence of what works 
completed Feb 19 and key messages will be summarised 
and disseminated through via a maternal obesity 
comms strategy. 

Embedding maternal 
obesity into MECC 
 
Looking at health needs 
assessment and evidence  

Getting whole system buy-
in (a bit piecemeal 
currently) 

Sept 19 - MECC training 
module completed 
 
Dec 19 – roll out of 
implementation across 
stakeholders (including 
protected learning time to 
GPs and UHL) 
 
March 20 – begin monitoring 
on maternal obesity being 
raised as part of MECC 
conversations  
 
 
 
 
 

Develop a 
Schools Active 
Travel Action 
Plan 

A mapping exercise / audit is underway  
7 Primary schools have been identified to receive 
‘intensive support’ from the Active Travel Team to pilot 
different activities and interventions to identify what 
works- this will help to inform recommendations for 
District Councils etc 
Information on adopting a whole-school approach to 
active travel that has been developed and uploaded 
onto the updated healthy schools website in Dec 18 
Article on whole-school approach to active travel 
provided for School Governor  Newsletter (Jan 19 
edition) - 
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-
travel   
Article on whole-school approach to active travel 
provided for Headteacher briefing – (Jan 19 briefing) - 
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-

Current actions going well. 
Need to wait until end of 
academic year for lessons 
learned 
Use the 7 schools as 
beacons of good practice to 
influence other heads and 
get buy-in 

Influencing parents – need 
to engage with children 
and young people more 
and devise a campaign to 
help influence them  

June 19 – collating feedback 
for the lessons learned from 
the 7 pilot schools 
 
Sept 19 – showcasing the 
lessons learned to other 
schools (feeding into head-
teacher meetings and 
briefings) 
 
Dec 19 - prep work and 
planning to engage with 
children and young people in 
pilot schools 
 
 

94

https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-travel
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-travel
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-travel


travel   
Information linking active travel to improved air quality 
information uploaded onto healthy schools website in 
Dec 18 - 
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-
travel  

Partnership 
delivery of 
"Active Families" 
4 year project 
funded by Sport 
England 

Year 1 pilot delivered in Harborough and NW Leics 
as the implementation phase  

Good partnership working 
between Districts, Physical 
Activity Development 
Officers, Home Start 
volunteers and SLF workers  

Difficulties in recruiting 
families who meet the 
criteria  

April 19 - roll out of 
implementation across the 
County  
September 19 – monitoring 
& County wide review of first 
6 months. 
Update report to come to 
Partnership Board. 

5.2 
To develop a 
partnership 
approach to 
emotional 
health and 
wellbeing 

Develop a 
partnership wide 
approach to 
emotional and 
mental wellbeing 
using Future in 
Mind as a 
framework Mind 
as a framework 
and focussing on 
the Adverse 
Childhood 
Experience base  

Currently meeting with partners to ‘map’ what is 
currently being delivered with a view to developing a 
County wide, multi -agency approach . A consensus 
needs to be reached re trauma informed care to 
address and prioritise ACEs 

Meetings with Nottinghamshire and Lincolnshire County 
Councils held in January to learn from how they have 
developed a trauma informed approach across their 
counties. 

Stakeholder event planned for 21
st

 May on ACEs  

 

Starting to get buy-in and 
recognition from partners  

It is a slow process and 
buy-in takes time. 

Austerity and cuts 
impacting on services that 
will be needed to address 
ACEs 

 

May 19 – stakeholder event 
held to kick off a partnership 
wide conversation on the 
ACE approach  
Sept 19 – identify funding to 
deliver training and shared 
approach 
Complete training needs 
analysis to identify in 
relation to ACE awareness 
Dec 19 - comms plan 
developed 

 

95

https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-travel
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-travel
https://www.leicestershirehealthyschools.org.uk/active-travel


T
his page is intentionally left blank



S0
11

0

Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership  
Priorities 2018-2021 

Our shared vision 
Children & young people in Leicestershire are safe and living in families  

where they can achieve their full potential.

2 CROSS-CUTTING THEMES: COMMUNICATIONS STRATEGY,  WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT

• To develop an integrated 
Early Years Pathway 
to ensure the needs of 
vulnerable children are 
identified

• To develop a shared 
understanding of the 
importance of the First 
1001 Critical Days and 
school readiness

1. 
Ensure the  

best start in life

• To develop and embed 
an integrated model of 
services to prevent harm 
to children and young 
people

• To make children safe 
by raising awareness of 
universal safety messages

2.
Keep children safe  
and free from harm

• To develop an integrated 
approach to family resilience 
and self-sufficiency

• Provide joined up information 
and guidance to enable 
families to be self-sufficient 
and navigate services

• To support families to 
progress towards work 

3.
Support children and 
families to be resilient

• To provide integrated, 
outcome-based, high 
quality, cost-effective 
provision       

• To develop a post-16 
multi-agency delivery 
model

4.
Ensure vulnerable families 

receive personalised,  
integrated care and support

• To develop a whole 
system approach based 
on ‘Making obesity 
everyone’s business’

• To develop a partnership 
approach to emotional 
and mental wellbeing

5.
Enable children to 

have good physical and 
mental health

|   VOICE OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE   |  OUTCOME-BASED PLANNING   |  INTEGRATED COMMISSIONING   |
ENABLERS

97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 4 JUNE 
2019 

FINAL REPORT OF THE SCRUTINY REVIEW PANEL ON CORPORATE 
PARENTING 

Introduction 

1. This report sets out the conclusions and recommendations arising from the 
Scrutiny Review Panel investigation into corporate parenting. 

Scope of the Review 

2. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 defines in law the responsibilities of 
corporate parents to ensure, as far as possible, secure, nurturing and positive 
experiences for Children in Care and Care Leavers.  All elected members 
and officers share corporate parenting responsibility. 

3. The Scrutiny Commissioners on 18th July 2018 appointed a Scrutiny Review 
Panel to consider the strengths and weaknesses of the County Council’s 
current approach to corporate parenting, in particular the role of elected 
members as corporate parents, to ensure that this duty is discharged in the 
most effective and appropriate way. 

4. The following outcomes for the Review were identified by the Scrutiny 
Commissioners:- 

(a) To consider the strengths and weaknesses of the County Council’s current 
approach to Corporate Parenting; 

(b)  To consider best practice from other local authorities, including centres of 
excellence; 

(c) To inform the refresh of the Corporate Parenting Strategy and 
implementation plan; 

(d) To develop the role of elected members as Children in Care Champions; 

(e) To ensure that the Council’s approach to Corporate Parenting reflects the 
different age groups of children in care; 

(f) To consider the effectiveness of the Corporate Parenting Board. 

Membership of the Panel 

5. The following members were appointed to serve on the Panel. 

Mrs H Fryer CC 

99 Agenda Item 15



Mrs B Seaton CC 

Mr S Sheahan CC 

Mrs M Wright CC 

Mr G Welsh CCC 

(Mrs Seaton was appointed Chairman of the Panel) 

Conduct of the Review 

6. The Panel met on six occasions between 3 October and 22 May. 

The Panel, during the course of the review: 

(i) Received detailed information on the Council’s offer for Children in 
Care and Care leavers and the current and future national regulatory 
and statutory context. 

(ii) Met with officers from the Children and Families department, including 
the Head of the Virtual School to obtain first hand perspective of their 
direct dealings with children. 

(iii) Heard the views of the Lead Member for Children and Families on 
Corporate Parenting and Members’ role. 

(iv) Attended a meeting of the Supporting Young People After Care to learn 
about their experiences and view of the Council’s Corporate Parenting 
offer. 

7. The Panel was supported in its review by the following persons and is 
indebted to them for their contributions :- 

Sharon Cooke Assistant Director Children’s Social 
Care 

Nicci Collins Head of Service Children in Care 

Mr I. Ould CC Lead Member Children and  
Families 

Tony Barnard Head of Virtual Schools 

Catriona Candler Children’s Rights Officer 

Stuart Jones Safeguarding and Improvement 
Manager 

Ben Marchant Team Manager Children and Families 
Services 

100



Kelda Claire Service Manager Safeguarding 

8. The Panel is also grateful to witnesses it spoke to at the Supporting Young 
People After Care (SYPAC) group and the Corporate Parenting Board. 

Background Information 

9. Every Council has a legal duty to act as a ‘corporate parent’ for looked after 
children. This was set out in the Children Act 1989 which put forward the 
basic framework and defined local authorities’ responsibilities towards the 
care of children. 

 
10. The law does not expect local authorities to work alone; housing, education 

services, the Police and the NHS are all required to assist children’s social 
care services in carrying out their functions under the Act. This was 
augmented by the Children Act 2004, with a focus on achieving good 
outcomes for children and young people. 

 
11. These principles were further built upon by the Children and Social Work Act 

2017 which provided a framework to support and enhance the existing duties 
in respect of looked after children in care, and care leavers up to the age of 
25. This means that they should:- 

 

 act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and 
wellbeing of those children and young people;  

 encourage them to express their views, wishes and feelings; 

 take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 
young people 

 help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best 
use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners; 

 promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 
children and young people; 

 ensure those children and young people are safe and have stability in their 
home lives, relationships and education or work; 

 prepare those children for adulthood and independent living. 

12. The principles were designed to embed a positive culture towards Children in 
Care and Care Leavers, entrenching the fact that success was dependent on 
the extent to which directors, elected members, heads of service and front-
line managers champion and promote understanding of them. 
 

13. Edward Timpson MP, Children’s Minister (2017), in defining Corporate 
Parenting, said “Looking after and protecting children and young people is 
one of the most important jobs that councils do and when a child, for 
whatever reason, cannot safely stay at home, it is up to us as the local 
authority to step in and give them the care, support and stability that they 
deserve.” 

101



 

 

 

Overview of the County Council’s Current Offer 

14. Leicestershire County Council is the corporate parent of around 580 children 
and young people and 280 Care Leavers1.  As a corporate parent the County 
Council has collective responsibility to be a good parent to the children and 
young people in care, so that they grow up happy, achieve well and are able 
to make a success of their lives. This means the Council, officers and elected 
members are expected to do what any reasonable parent would do for their 
child.  
 

15. On the 1st April 2019 the Council launched ‘Our Promise to Children in Care 
and Care Leavers’ where County Council officers, representatives of other 
relevant agencies and members of the Panel came together to sign the 
charter showing commitment to developing a positive outcome for Children in 
Care and Care Leavers, recognising that the County Council now has a 
statutory responsibility for Care Leavers up to the age of 25. The charter has 
been drawn up in close consultation with Children in Care and Care Leavers 
and sets out seven key promises: 

 

 We will support you; 

 We will respect your identity; 

 We will listen to you; 

 We believe in you; 

 We will support you to find a place you can call home; 

 We will inform you; 

 We will be a lifelong Champion. 
 

16. To achieve this, the Council has a dedicated Corporate Parenting Team 
which focuses on the support and advocacy of Children in Care and Care 
Leavers. The Team ensures that the voice of the child is central to all 
decision making in regards to both individual care plans and wider strategic 
decisions.  
 

17. The County Council also has a Virtual School focused on improving 
educational outcomes for children in care (from Early Years upwards), care 
leavers to age 21 years (or 25 if requested) and previously looked after 
children up to the age of 16.  The Virtual School works to support children 
and young people in care and care leavers regardless of where they are 
living in the country.  It does not teach the children in care, as responsibility 
and accountability for this rests with their schools and settings.  However, it is 
an essential advocate for the importance of education for all children and 
young people in care and care leavers.  It is concerned with raising self-
esteem, expectations and aspirations, removing barriers to learning and 

                                                           
1
 Figures as of 27 September 2018. 

102



working with schools, colleges and settings to enable children and young 
people to improve their educational outcomes and life chances. Members 
welcomed the role of the Virtual School and the activities that it was 
undertaking. 

18. The voices of Children in Care and Care Leavers are heard through a 
number of avenues, both formal and informal.   

 The Children in Care Council is a group of Leicestershire children and 
young people who are in care and have left care. They meet together 
as a younger group of children, an older group as well as the 
Supporting Young People After Care (SYPAC) group. The meetings 
include activities and an opportunity to talk to senior managers and 
members about issues that matter to them such as how services are 
run, and hold them to account for what they are doing to make it 
better. It is a forum where they can make a difference for all Children 
in Care and influence this locally as well as nationally through the All 
Party Parliamentary Group for Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers.  
 

 The Corporate Parenting Board is another formal way where Children 
in Care and Care Leavers can have their voices heard in ensuring that 
the whole Council and partner agencies have a joint commitment to 
Corporate Parenting.  It is jointly chaired by the Lead Member for 
Children and Families and a Child in Care. The aim of the Corporate 
Parenting Board is to achieve continuing improvements in the lives 
and outcomes for looked after children and young people with the 
agenda being set by the Children in Care Council and Board 
Members.  

19. Children in Care and Care Leavers also take part in decision making on 
matters that impact them and sit on interview panels for senior members of 
staff and are involved with the training of Foster Carers and Social Workers. 
 

20. The Panel felt that detailed consideration had been given and was ongoing to 
involve harder to reach Children in Care and Children with Disabilities in 
engagement.  While not all Children in Care and Care Leavers may want to 
be involved in meetings and events their voices would still be heard through 
the officers and workers who supported them, such as Participation Officers 
whose purpose is to raise aspirations, develop, promote and deliver 
opportunities to widen experience and improve the life chances of children 
and young people in care and care leavers. 

 
21. Children’s Rights Officers also played an important role in helping children 

and young people understand their rights and to ensure they are being 
treated fairly and listened to by their carers among other roles. They also 
represent the voice of Children in Care across departmental meetings, 
highlighting any issues in service delivery. Members were particularly 
pleased to hear from an officer and hear about the real impact they were 
having on children and young people’s lives by being able to represent them 

103



where the child may feel unable to do so, providing representation rather than 
an interpretation of the child’s needs. 
 

22. Children in Care and Care Leavers will also be supported in their everyday 
life by officers and workers they come into contact with such as Social 
Workers, Personal Assistants and carers and would be encouraged to talk to 
whomever they felt most comfortable with to express any concerns they may 
have to enable them to be addressed. 

23. The Children and Social Work Act 2017 gave local authorities a statutory 
responsibility for Children in Care up to the age of 25. As young people reach 
the age of 18 they are supported as Care Leavers. The Panel recognised that 
this can be one of the most challenging times for young people as they enter 
adulthood. Care Leavers could choose to disengage, but those who want 
continued support have a plan and know who to go to in a time of crisis. 

 
24. During the course of the Panel’s investigation, members heard about the 

achievements of Children in Care and Care Leavers which are celebrated at 
a special event in the autumn and is attended by the Director of Children and 
Family Services, the Lead Member, children and young people, and other 
senior managers, as parents would. 

 
Visit from the Department For Education 
 

25. The Children and Families Department had invited the Government’s 
Department for Education’s (DfE) National Implementation Advisor for Care 
Leavers to review the Care Leaver offer. The DfE used two days to meet with 
senior officers, workers and young people to discuss the offer to Care 
Leavers and Leicestershire’s approach and understanding of the services 
needed for Care Leavers as part of the corporate family. The Panel felt that 
their findings were consistent with that of the DfE which had found that the 
Department had a good leadership and managerial approach and was 
ambitious, aspirational and passionate.  
 

26. The DfE made some recommendations to the County Council on how it could 
improve its offer.  The Panel felt the most pertinent to its review were the 
following: 

 

 A Member Champion model, such as had been introduced at Trafford 
Council, where a member would be assigned to a particular area, such 
as housing, to try and unpick any issues together with district councils, 
providers and the County Council. 

 Linking the Corporate Parenting Board to wider organisations to help 
drive and unpick blockages faced, Members were pleased to note 
during the course of the review a representative from the Department 
for Work and Pensions had been identified to join the Board. 

 Ensuring the Care Leaver team was an integrated team made up from 
multiagency staff. 

104



 Mandatory training on care leavers for all staff within the Children and 
Families Department, 

 A rolling programme of drop in sessions in addition to SYPAC, that 
could be based in other council or locality buildings closer to the 
Children in care. 

Corporate Parenting Role of Councillors 

27. Frank Dobson MP, Secretary of State in 1998 stated, “The (looked after) child 
has a right to expect that members of the authority are looking out for him 
and will protect him from harm. Therefore, given that the central importance 
of the local authority's role in caring for looked after children and supporting 
them to reach their potential, all Councillors should take an informed interest 
in how the council supports this very vulnerable group.” 
 

28. The National Children’s Bureau, which produced the training material for 
councillors on corporate parenting, states that, “as elected members, 
councillors are responsible for the following:  

 

 Being aware of the corporate parenting role and the shared responsibility 
for ensuring that the needs of looked after children and care leavers are 
met  

 

 Having some knowledge of the profile and needs of the children their 
authority looks after and how these may be changing  

 

 Understanding the impact on looked after children of all council decisions  
 

 Receiving information about the quality of care and the quality of services 
that children are experiencing 

 

 Considering whether this would be good enough for their own child  
 

 Ensuring that action is being taken to address any shortcomings in the 
service and to constantly improve the outcomes for children in care”. 

 
29. The Panel believes that more can be done to highlight the role of Corporate 

Parenting to members.  For example, it should be included in the description 
of the key roles of all County Councillors in the Constitution and a more 
detailed role description should also be developed to form part of the 
Corporate Parenting Strategy.  This would enable members to have a clear 
understanding of the role and what it means in practice.  The following 
wording is proposed: 
 

“To fulfil your responsibilities as a “corporate parent” for children and young 
people in the care of the local authority: 

(i) by having an understanding of the profile and needs of the children in 
the care of the local authority; 

 

105



(ii) by being aware of the impact on looked-after children of all council 
decisions; 

 
(iii) by considering whether this would be good enough for your own child; 
 
(iv) by ensuring that the council has a focus on improving outcomes for 

looked-after children; 
 
(v) by acting as an advocate for looked-after children in your local 

community; 
 
(vi) by supporting the Member Champions in their role; 
 
(vii) by being aware of the work and aims of the Corporate Parenting 

Board.” 

 

30. The Panel recognised that members who were part of a relevant Committee 
or Board, or took a particular interest in the topic were likely to have a deeper 
understanding than other members. It also felt that prospective and new 
councillors appear to have limited opportunities to learn about their corporate 
parenting role. Unless highlighted in the Party selection process it is likely 
that prospective elected members who stood for election in 2017 knew very 
little about a members corporate parenting responsibilities. The Panel felt it 
would help and would bring focus if the corporate parenting role was flagged 
up to candidates, political parties could also make people aware in their 
selection processes, and that this was followed by more detail in the member 
induction. 
 

31. Induction training was provided after each election for new and existing 
members.  Training on Corporate Parenting had been provided in October 
2017.  The Panel noted that attendance tended to vary at training; however, 
all training sessions were recorded so that members who were unable to 
attend could watch them subsequently.  

Partnership Working 

32. Leicestershire County Council shares wider Corporate Parenting 
responsibilities with district councils, education services, the police and the 
NHS, these bodies sit alongside the Council on the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) and the Corporate Parenting Board, which is co-
chaired by the Lead Member for Children and Families and a child in care. 
The phrase ‘it takes a village to raise a child’ is pertinent, the council alone 
cannot provide all the support that a child in care needs, and all local services 
have a responsibility to keep children safe and well. 
 

33. Over the course of the review the Panel saw for themselves that effective 
partnership working required good communication between partners. It was 
recognised that relationships and linkages could be complicated but shared 
working was vital. An example was the development of the Housing Protocol 

106



between the County Council and district councils, where there had been a 
lack of shared understanding of particular issues, such as whether the 
County Council would act as a guarantor for Care Leavers.  Officers 
welcomed the support from Panel members to resolve these issues, 
demonstrating the impact that elected members can have in this area of 
policy. 
 

Member Champion Role 

34. The Panel recognised that there was a wide variance in members’ 
understanding of their role as corporate parents and it would not be possible 
for all members to approach the role in the same way, given their different 
levels of knowledge and responsibility and their different opportunities and 
abilities to influence both inside and outside the Council. 

 
35. The Panel was keen for members to use their unique position to promote 

opportunities for Children in Care and Care Leavers through either political 
power and influence, or through connections in the community, schools, 
health services, local businesses and employers. If these links can be built 
upon then ‘life choices’ and outcomes for children and young people can be 
greatly improved.  
 

36. To that end, it was thought that a Member Champion role could be 
introduced, similar to that in place at Trafford Council. The purpose of this 
role would be to lead on a particular area or theme, such as housing, to try 
and unpick any issues together with partners such as district councils and 
service providers, as had happened during the review panel. It was 
envisioned that one Member would be assigned to a particular area, with a 
named County Council officer to provide support.  The Member could chair a 
small working group consisting of the lead officer, Children in Care Officers, 
partners and a young person. Each working group would be able to look at in 
detail the issues that Children in Care and Care Leavers may face and 
compare offers and try to raise the issue throughout the county. It was 
important that each area was specific, manageable and had achievable 
targets as it had become clear to the Panel that Corporate Parenting was a 
broad and nuanced area that needed to be broken down and focused on in 
detail.  The Panel also felt that clarity of scope for each Member Champion 
was essential. 

 

37. The Panel recognised that the Member Champion needed to be someone 
with real passion and drive for the role.  It was also important for the role to 
be non-party political and open to all members of the Council, to be 
appointed on merit.  The Panel felt that there should be no monetary reward 
for the role. 
 

38. Each champion area should discuss the needs of Children in Care so that 
decisions about the offer reflect the Care Leavers’ journey and the 
importance of ‘starting early’ to make the most difference for children and 
young people. 

107



 
39. It was envisioned that the model be trialled in three areas, Education, 

Training and Work, Housing and Accommodation and Health. Each 
Champion area would discuss the needs of Children in Care so that 
decisions about the offer reflect their journey, right the way through to being a 
Care Leaver.  The importance of ‘starting early’ to make the most difference 
for the children and young people must also be recognised. These areas are 
set out in further detail in the sections below.  

Education, Training and Work 

40. A significant concern for young people in and leaving care is the ability to 
gain and sustain employment. The Member Champion would need to be 
aware of the following existing provisions that the County Council has put in 
place and seek to identify ways in which these can be enhanced or further 
supported: 

(a) The Leicestershire Virtual School, which is run by the County Council 
and aims to raise the aspiration of children in care and the aspirations 
that adults have for children in care ensuring there is a clear focus on 
Education, Employment and Training.  Aspirations for Children in Care 
and Care Leavers are usually heavily influenced by birth families and 
peer groups and being in care is usually an isolating factor. It is 
important that the children are not treated any differently at school, but 
also that their needs were being taken into account.  

(b) In September 2018 the Virtual School co-funded alongside the 
Corporate Parenting team a full-time participation officer to work across 
areas and give greater capacity to ensure continued collaboration across 
services to provide a balanced programme of events.  

(c) Leicestershire County Council has six ring fenced apprenticeships for 
Children in Care and Care Leavers. The apprenticeships are matched to 
young people who had expressed an interest in that area of work and 
had the relevant qualifications. The target for the first year was that six 
young people were in post by April 2019; this had been met. Procedures 
were put in place to prioritise apprenticeship opportunities to Care 
Leavers and they were integrated into the County Council’s ‘Guidance 
for Managers on the Recruitment and Employment of Apprentices’. 
Whereas there had been a concern at the start of the Panel that the 
policy was not going forward at the pace envisioned over the course of 
the review Members were pleased to note the progress of the young 
people and were pleased that the DfE had  commended the Council’s 
offer. 

(d) The Council is also working with agencies and work is underway to 
encourage the business community to engage and offer sponsorships, 
job opportunities and apprenticeships.   

41. The Panel recognised that the Council and Members should do what they 
can to facilitate for the above for Care Leavers and Children in Care. 

108



However they were not the only factors influencing Children in Care and Care 
Leavers quality of life, it was rightly noted that it could be the easily 
overlooked small changes that could make the biggest differences to them. 
For example it would be a role of a Champion to look into the current offer 
and other councils’ provision to see what could be an achievable outcome, 
such as extending the Corporate Benefits Scheme to Children in Care and 
Care Leavers or providing a free bus pass to enable them to access 
education or work.  

Housing and Accommodation (Partnership working) 

42. Leicestershire County Council has a duty (as set out in the Children Act 1989 
Section 22G) to ensure as far as reasonably possible, sufficient 
accommodation is available locally to meet the needs of looked-after children 
and Care Leavers. Leicestershire, as a two-tier area, has to work with district 
councils and partners in this area, particularly as housing is the responsibility 
of district councils.  
 

43. Schemes to support care leavers with their housing needs require effective 
partnership working.  Members were pleased that, following some input from 
themselves with district councils, all district councils in Leicestershire had 
now agreed to exempt Care Leavers up to the age of 25 from paying council 
tax from April 2019 to enable Care Leavers to develop their independence 
and aspirations without the additional worry of a council tax bill. 

 
44. During the course of the Panel the Council also signed up to the Care 

Leavers’ Housing Protocol as part of a formal agreement between 
Leicestershire County Council Children and Family Services (CFS), Blaby 
District Council, Charnwood Borough Council, Harborough District Council, 
Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council, Melton Borough Council, North 
West Leicestershire District Council, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, 
The Bridge, and partner agencies working with care leavers. This was to 
ensure the effective discharge of corporate responsibilities to try and jointly 
address the diverse accommodation needs of young people leaving care in 
Leicestershire. The Protocol enables a Care Leaver to apply for social 
housing at 17.5, which had been an issue especially for those coming out of 
prison near their 18th birthday as it left them effectively homeless. 
 

45. A key part of the protocol was the recognition that Care Leavers moving into 
accommodation may need to be treated differently and afforded some 
leniency in their tenancies in recognising that they are some of the most 
vulnerable in communities. 
 

46. The DfE review identified that the Council had had a historically good offer for 
children going to university. However it no longer paid accommodation fees 
but instead contributed £2000 toward tuition fees each year. Some 
universities did not charge accommodation fees for Care Leavers; however, 
this was not universal practice.  The Council would need to approach the 
government alongside other authorities to challenge this. The Council would 
consider funding supported accommodation during university holidays for 

109



Care Leavers who had no family to return to and were not able to stay in 
university accommodation. 

 

47.  The Panel was pleased to note that officers were giving consideration to a 
refresh of the financial package for Care Leavers in all forms of higher 
education, but requested that the focus be on accommodation fees. 

 
48. The Panel felt that the progress made to date by the Council and its partners 

was extremely positive, but that an Accommodation Champion would be able 
to focus in depth on the issue, such as how the Housing Protocol works in 
practice and reviewing what the Council currently offers in terms of higher 
education, though it is recognised this may involve wider lobbying of higher 
education institutions, to ensure none of our Care Leavers are unfairly 
disadvantaged.   

Health 

49. The Council has a duty under Section 10 of the Children Act 2004, to 
promote cooperation between local partners to improve the wellbeing of 
young people in the area. This includes physical and mental health and 
emotional wellbeing, protection from harm and neglect, education, social and 
economic wellbeing. Relevant partners include the police, probation services, 
the NHS, schools and further education providers. 

 
50. The participation of partners in work to promote the health of all children and 

young people is vital, and it is important that they understand the specific 
needs of Children in Care so that this can be taken account of in their plans. 
For example, Children in Care are more likely to need support with their 
mental health so colleagues in the NHS will need to consider this. 

 
51. Currently the Council offered Children in Care free access to swimming pools 

at leisure centres using the Activ8Card if they are under 16 years old. More 
could be done to further this programme through a Member Champion who 
would be able to look into what other councils offer and importantly also what 
the district councils offer to ensure that the offer is consistent across the 
County.  

Conclusion 

52. The Panel welcomes the work to date in developing the role of the County 
Council as a corporate parent, in particular the work by the managers of the 
Child Leavers team, the managers of the Children in Care and Care Leavers 
teams as well as the Virtual School in promoting apprenticeships, and the 
development of the Housing Protocol. However, the Panel would like to make 
the following recommendations to further the Council’s offer and strengthen 
the Role of Elected Members:- 
 

(a) That the Panel supports the refresh of the Corporate Parenting Strategy 
and requests that it includes a clear role description for elected 
members, as follows:- 

110



“To fulfil your responsibilities as a “corporate parent” for children and 
young people in the care of the local authority and care leavers up to the 
age of 25: 

(i) by having an understanding of the profile and needs of the 
children in the care  and care leavers of the local authority; 

 
(ii) by being aware of the impact on looked-after children of all 

council decisions; 
 
(iii) by considering whether this would be good enough for your own 

child; 
 
(iv) by ensuring that the council has a focus on improving outcomes 

for looked-after children and care leavers; 
 
(v) by acting as an advocate for looked-after children in your local 

community; 
 
(vi) by supporting the Member Champions in their role; 
 
(vii) by being aware of the work and aims of the Corporate Parenting 

Board.” 
 

(b) That reporting on Corporate Parenting issues be enhanced via:- 
 

(i) A six monthly update to the Children and Families Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to be circulated to all members of the 
Council via the Local Issues Alert Procedure; 
 

(ii) Regular reporting on progress against each Champion area to the 
Corporate Parenting Board. 

 
(c) That three Member Champions be appointed to work on achievable 

targets relating to Education, Training and Work, Accommodation, and 
Housing; 
 

(d) That the Member Champions be supported by a dedicated working 
group consisting of a Lead Officer from the County Council, a Children 
in Care Team Manager, partners and a young person (either a child in 
care or a care leaver); 
 

(e) That all elected members receive training on their corporate parenting 
role when first elected, followed up with refresher training when 
necessary, but at an interval of no greater than two years and that 
training be arranged following Summer 2019; 
 

 

111



(f) That guidance be issued to all elected members to support them to act 
as a corporate parent to children in care and care leavers in their local 
community; 
 

(g) That Members support the review of the financial package for those in 
higher education but recommend that officers focus on providing 
support related to accommodation rather than tuition fees.   

  

112



Glossary of useful terms and roles 

Care order A court order approving the case for a child to be taken into care.  

Care plan A care plan should be developed for every child and young person when 
they come into care. This should identify how the child will be accommodated, how 
long it is anticipated that the care order will last, and formulate planned outcomes for 
the child with associated actions. The plan should be reviewed at least every six 
months. 

Childrens Rights Officer (CRO) - supports children and young people in care, to 
make sure their rights are defended and safeguarded; to provide information and 
help young people detangle and interpret what is happening to them. 

Extended Young Peoples Support Worker Extended Young Peoples Support 
Workers are usually based in the Children in Care teams and help social workers 
with their work.  They work with older children and young people who are leaving 
care. 

Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) An IRO chairs a looked-after child’s 
review(s) and monitors the child’s case on an ongoing basis. They ensure that the 
care plan for the child fully reflects their current needs, wishes and feelings, and that 
the actions set out in the plan are consistent with the local authority’s legal 
responsibilities towards 

Participation Officers Purpose is to raise aspirations, develop, promote and deliver 
opportunities to widen experience and improve the life chances of children and 
young people in care and care leavers. 

Pathway Plan A Pathway Plan is developed by the local authority with a young 
person in care as they approach their 16th birthday to help them effectively make the 
transition from care to living independently. It includes areas such as 
accommodation, education, life skills and health.  

Personal Education Plan (PEP) The PEP is a statutory part of a child’s care plan, 
making sure that all relevant partners are engaged in a child’s education, tracking 
their progress and giving them the support they need to achieve and be aspirational 
in their education. 

Registered Social Workers Registered Social Workers are experienced in working 
with children and families and are the main people involved in making sure your 
placement meets all your needs.  They’ll organize the child’s reviews, medicals, 
education needs and any other requirements you may have. 

Support Worker Support Workers deal with a lot of the running around and manage 
tasks like taking you places as well as supporting children and young people in care, 
to make sure their rights are defended 

Senior Practitioners Senior Practitioners are registered social worker with lots of 
experience of working with children and young people. They work on their own cases 
and help workers with less experience with their cases. 

113



Virtual School Head All local authorities must have a virtual school head (VSH) in 
charge of promoting the educational achievement of the children looked-after by that 
authority. Their role is to know how the looked-after children are doing, and help 
school staff and social workers to find out about the extra needs of these children 
and any additional support available to them. VSHs also work with the children’s 
services department and all schools in the area on initiatives to promote the 
education of children in care. 

 

114



 

 

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 4 JUNE 2019 

 
QUARTER 4 2018/19 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND DIRECTOR OF 
CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES 

 
 
Purpose of the Report 
 
1. The purpose of this report is to present the Committee with an update of the 

Children and Family Services Department’s performance for the period January  
to March 2019 (Quarter 4).  

 
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions 
 
2. The Children and Family Services Department’s performance is reported to the 

Committee in accordance with the Council’s corporate performance management 
arrangements. 

 
Background 

 
3. A new Strategic Plan 2018-2022 has been agreed by the Council and a small 

number of new indicators have been added for 2018/19 to reflect the new 
Outcomes Framework, including additional Social Care indicators that are 
monitored on the recommendation of Ofsted. The current performance 
dashboard is attached as Appendix A, and this has been refreshed to 
concentrate on indicators where new data is available for Quarter 4.   

 
4. Quartile positions are added where comparative national data is available. 

Comparative data is not available for all indicators. 
 
Overview  
 
5. From 27 measures that have been reported, nine have improved, 14 show no 

significant change and five have declined. In addition to this, 2 indicators provide 
information with no polarity. 

  
6. From 19 measures that have a national benchmark, six are in the top quartile, six 

are in the second quartile, six are in the third quartile and one is in the fourth 
quartile.  

 

115 Agenda Item 16



Children at most risk are kept safe and protected from harm 

 
7. The number of ‘Child Protection cases reviewed within timescales’ was 97.3% in 

quarter 4, a 0.5% improvement on the quarter 3 figure. This equates to 251 of 
258 plans being in time. This remains good by national levels and in the second 
quartile of all local authorities.  

 
8. The percentage of ‘Children becoming subject to a child protection plan for a 

second or subsequent time’ decreased from 14.9% to 13.6%. This represents 19 
children. This is now in the first quartile of local authorities by available 
comparisons. 

 
9. The percentage of re-referrals to Social Care within 12 months was 22.3% (257 

children), a slightly higher figure than quarter 3 when the figure was  21.6% (273 
children). This places Leicestershire in the third quartile of local authorities and 
better than statistical neighbours. Monthly audits take place within the service to 
monitor this. This is linked to ongoing work regarding Children in Need which 
should see an improving picture over the year. 

 
10. The percentage of ‘single assessments completed within 45 days’ was 60.3%. 

This was lower than the quarter 3 figure of 64.4% and represented 631 
assessments. This is lower than available national and statistical neighbour 
comparisons, which are both over 80%.  

 
11. No Child Protection plans lasting two years or more  were open at the end of 

quarter 4 . The current figure places Leicestershire in the top quartile of local 
authorities using available comparators. 

 
12. There were 95 Child Sexual Exploitation referrals in Leicestershire during quarter 

4. This is higher than quarter 3 when 72 referrals were made. This figure includes 
some children who are victims of criminal exploitation rather than specifically 
sexual exploitation. The two groups will be reported separately in the future. 

 

Children are living in stable and secure environments 

 
13. The ‘percentage of children with three or more placements during the year’ was 

7.7% (45 children). This is better than quarter 3 and places Leicestershire in the 
top quartile nationally. The ‘percentage of children in the same placement for 2+ 
years or placed for adoption’ was 65.7% (139 children). This is lower than quarter 
3 and places Leicestershire in the third quartile by national levels. 

 
14. The percentage of Care Leavers in Suitable Accommodation was 89.5% at the 

end of quarter 4 (204 young people). This is slightly lower than quarter 3 (90.9%) 
and places Leicestershire in the second quartile of local authorities using 
available comparisons.  

 
15. The percentage of Care Leavers in Education, Employment or Training was 61% 

at the end of quarter 4 (139 young people). This is a higher, improved figure 

116



compared to quarter 3 and places Leicestershire in the top quartile by 
comparison with other local authorities.  

 

Child Health and Wellbeing 

 
16. The percentage of ‘Children in Care who have had an annual health assessment’ 

within the last 12 months was 85.6% (501). This is 9.9% higher than quarter 3.  
Completion of health assessments continues to be overseen by the Children in 
Care Head of Service and Service Manager, with specific actions identified to 
address delays and barriers including systems support, processes and staffing 
pressures. 

 
17. The percentage of ‘Children in Care who have had a dental check’ was 79.5% 

(465). This is higher than quarter 3 and continues the improvement seen across 
the year. 

  
18. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) is a tool which is used to 

identify Looked After Children who are at risk of developing emotional and 
behavioural difficulties. The Department for Education (DfE) classes a score of 0-
13 as ‘normal’, 14-16 as ‘borderline’ and 17-40 as ‘cause for concern’. The mean 
score for Leicestershire children was 15 in quarter 4. This figure has been 
between 14 and 16 in Leicestershire during the past year. A score of 15 for 
Leicestershire is slightly better than the statistical neighbour average of 15.58. 
The scores for Leicestershire children range from a low of one to a high of 31.  

 

Families are self-sufficient and able to cope 

 
19. The number of families receiving targeted Early Help during quarter 4 was 762, 

this was similar to quarter 3 (757). The number of individuals receiving help was 
2,058, which was also similar to quarter 3 (2095). This includes family members 
and individuals supported through Supporting Leicestershire Families and the 
Children’s Centre Programme. 

 
20. To date, the Supporting Leicestershire Families programme has claimed 

Payment By Results (PBR) for 1596 families. This represents 58% of the overall 
target for Leicestershire. Progress towards the target remains strong in 
Leicestershire compared to available regional comparisons. A new claim is due 
during quarter 1 of the 2019/20 financial year. 

 

People are safe in their daily lives 

 
21. The cumulative 2018/19 figure for ‘first time entrants to the criminal justice 

system aged 10-17’ was 76 at the end of quarter 3 (the latest figure available). 
This is very close to the 2017/18 figure at a comparative stage of the year. 

 
22. The rate of re-offending per young offender is reported a quarter in arrears and 

was 0.78 for quarter 2 2018/19. The comparative figure for 2017/18 was 0.48. 

117



 
23. No young people were sentenced to custody during quarter 3 (latest available). 

This figure is usually low, for example one or two. 
 

Every child has access to good quality education and achieves their potential 

 
24. The percentage of eligible two year olds taking up the Free Early Education 

Entitlement (FEEE) offer was 73% (1,240 children). This is similar to the previous 
reported figure of 74%. The percentage of eligible 3 year olds taking up the FEEE 
offer is 99% (7,363 children), this is similar to the previous reported figure of 
100%. 
 

25. The percentage of childcare providers in Leicestershire rated as good or 
outstanding was 95%. This is similar to statistical neighbours and places 
Leicestershire on the border of second and third quartile of all local authorities. 
The quartiles are closely bunched with the top quartile only 1.4% higher. 

 
26. The percentage of Leicestershire schools rated as Good or Outstanding and the 

percentage of pupils in Good or Outstanding schools was the same as quarter 3 
at 86% (239 schools). This is in the second quartile of local authorities and similar 
to statistical neighbours. The proportion of Leicestershire pupils in good or 
outstanding schools is 84.3%. This is higher than quarter 3 but slightly below the 
statistical neighbour average.  

 
27. The percentage of primary schools rated Good or Outstanding was 87% at the 

end of quarter 4 (194 schools). This is similar to the previous quarter and similar 
to the statistical neighbour average. The equivalent secondary school figure was 
79.2% (38 schools). This is higher than the quarter 3 figure and remains in the 
second quartile of local authorities and above statistical neighbours. 

 
28. The percentage of Good or Outstanding Special Schools remained at 100% (six 

schools). 
 

Leicestershire has a highly skilled and employable workforce 

 
29. Latest NEET data (young people Not in Education, Employment or Training), is 

for the end of March 2019 and shows a Leicestershire figure of 2.3% 
representing 302 young people. Leicestershire is in the second quartile of local 
authorities for NEET and similar to statistical neighbours.  
 

30. The NEET figure for young people with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities was 4.5% at the end of March 2019. This is a slightly lower 
percentage than quarter 3 and represents small numbers of young people – 45 in 
total.  

 
Conclusion 
 

118



31. The report provides a summary of performance at the end of Quarter 4 of 
2018/19, covering the period January to March 2019. 

 
32. Details of all metrics will continue to be monitored on a regular basis throughout 

the year and any subsequent changes will be notified in future reports. 
 
Background Papers 
 
Strategic Plan 2018-22 and Outcomes Framework 
 
Relevant Impact Assessments 
 
Equality and Human Rights Implications 
 
33. Addressing equalities issues is supported by this report, with a focus on 

vulnerable groups within Leicestershire, including children in care. Education 
data relating to different context groups including children with Special 
Educational Needs and Free School Meals is reported when data becomes 
available.  

 
Officers to Contact 
 
Stewart Smith, Business Partner – Performance and Business Intelligence 
Tel:  0116 305 5700  
Email:  Stewart.smith@leics.gov.uk 
 
Jane Moore, Director – Children and Families Service 
Tel:   0116 305 2649        
Email:  Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk 
 
Sharon Cooke, Assistant Director – Children’s Social Care 
Tel:   0116 305 5479   
Email:  Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk  
 
 
List of Appendices 
 

 Appendix A - Children and Family Services Department Performance 
Dashboard for Quarter 4, 2018/19  

 
 

 

119

https://www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sites/default/files/field/pdf/2018/2/2/LCC-Strategic-Plan-2018-22.pdf
mailto:Stewart.smith@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Jane.Moore@leics.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.Cooke@leics.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Latest update

Current 

Performance

Compared 

to previous 

data point Trend Charts

Status 

RAG

National 

benchmark 

(quartile 1 = 

top)

Most recent 

Statistical 

Neighbour 

average

Children at most risk are protected from harm and kept safe

% child protection cases which were reviewed within timescales. 
Q4 97.3% Better G 2 91.2%

% of children becoming subject to a child protection plan for second or subsequent time
Q4 13.6% (19) Better G 1 21.9%

% re-referrals to childrens Social Care within 12 months
Q4 22.3% (257) Similar A 3 24.4%

% single assessments completed within 45 days 
Q4 60.3% (631) Lower R 4 82.0%

% of Child Protection plans lasting 2 years or more open at the end of the quarter (low = good)
Q4 0.0% Lower G 1 1.8%

Placement stability - % children with 3 or more placements during a year  (low = good)
Q4 7.7% (45) Better G 1 10.7%

Placement stability - % children in same placement for 2+ years or placed for adoption
Q4 65.7% (117) Lower A 3 70.0%

% of Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (end of quarter)
Q4 89.5% (204) Lower G 2 83.8%

The % of Care leavers in education, employment and training (EET) (end of quarter)
Q4 61% (139) Similar G 1 53.2%

CSE referrals
Q4 95

Higher - no 

polarity n/a n/a n/a

Children and Families Performance FY2018/19 Q4

121



Child Health, Wellbeing and SEND 

The % of children in care who have had dental checks within last 12 months (at end of period)
Q4 79.5% (465) Better n/a n/a n/a

The % of children in care who have their annual health assessment within last 12 months (at end of 

period) Q4 85.6% (501) Better n/a n/a n/a

The average emotional health strengths/difficulties score for children in care.  (low = good)
Q4 15.0 Similar A 2 15.58

Families are self-sufficient and able to cope
No. of individuals open to Early Help services

Q2 7,245 Lower n/a n/a n/a

No. of individuals with an Early Help assessment
Q4 2,058 Similar n/a n/a n/a

No. of families with an Early Help assessment
Q4 762 Similar n/a n/a n/a

No. of SLF families claimed for as a % of overall payment by results target   
Q3 1596 (58%) n/a n/a n/a n/a

Feedback from families and evaluation provides evidence of positive impact 
See 

Appendix n/a

People are safe in their daily lives

Number of first time entrants to the criminal justice system aged 10-17  (low = good)

(year to date) Q3 76 Similar n/a n/a n/a

Rate of re-offending by young offenders  (low = good)
Q2 0.78 Worse n/a n/a n/a

Number of instances of the use of custody for young people  (low = good)
Q3 0 Better n/a n/a n/a

122



Every child has access to good quality education and achieves their potential

The % of eligible 2 year olds taking up their FEEE
Q4 73.0% Similar A 3 75.3%

The % of eligible 3 and 4 year olds taking up their FEEE
Q4 99.0% Similar G 1 98.6%

The % of all childcare providers rated good or outstanding.
Q4 95.0% Same A 3 95.2%

The % of schools rated Good or Outstanding.
Q4 86.0% Same A 2 85.9%

The % of Primary Schools rated Good or Outstanding
Q4 87.0% Similar A 3 86.8%

The % of Secondary Schools rated Good or Outstanding
Q4 79.2% Higher A 2 78.4%

The % of Special Schools rated Good or Outstanding
Q4 100% Same G 1 93.4%

The % of pupils in Good or Outstanding schools Q4 84.3% Better A 3 85.6%

Leicestershire has a highly skilled and employable workforce

% of NEET 16-17 for children with SEN and disability   (low = good)
Q4 4.5% (45) Similar n/a n/a n/a

 NEET young people aged 16-17   (low = good)
Q4 2.3% (302) Worse G 2 2.2%

RAG rating key

Second or third quartile with room for improvement

Fourth quartile or low in the third quartile with a declining trend

Top quartile of local authorities or high in second quartile with improving trend

123



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2019.
	10 Care Placement Strategy.
	Appendix A- CFS Care Placement Strategy Document 08 - FINALa
	Appendix B Children in Care The promise_

	11 Overview of Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Developments.
	12 Progress Report: Ofsted Recommendations as Part of the Ofsted Continuous Improvement Action Plan 2017-2020 - The Road to Excellence.
	13 Pupils Missing Out on Education in Leicestershire.
	14 Leicestershire Children and Families Partnership Plan Update.
	Appendix A  Children and Families Partnership Plan Annual Progress Update (2018 -2019)
	R0700 Children and Family Plan on a page_v13

	15 Scrutiny Review Panel - Corporate Parenting.
	16 Quarter 4 2018/19 Performance Report.
	CFS quarterly dataset Q4 2018-19 draft v1




